
 

 

 

 

 
 

 TOWN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO  
Monday, July 03, 2023 at 7:00 PM  

  

MISSION STATEMENT: Enhancing the quality of life of our residents, businesses, and visitors 

through community focused leadership. 

AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER 

Pledge of Allegiance 

ROLL CALL 

AGENDA APPROVAL 

SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

1. Presentation to Mark Stanley 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

Members of the audience are invited to speak at the Council meeting. Public Comment is reserved for 

citizen comments on items not contained on the Public Hearing portion of the agenda. Citizen comments 

are limited to three (3) minutes per speaker. When several people wish to speak on the same position on a 

given item, they are requested to select a spokesperson to state that position. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

The Consent Agenda is a group of routine matters to be acted on with a single motion and vote.  Council 

or staff may request an item be removed from the Consent Agenda and placed on the Regular Agenda for 

discussion. 

2. June 19, 2023 Meeting Minutes  

3. June 2023 List of Bills 

4. Factional Water Share Application Applicant: Tyson Tabler for 1120 N. 5th Street – Lot 51 

5. Resolution 2023-28 Amending the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget 

TOWN MANAGER REPORT 

6. Town Manager's Report 

TOWN ATTORNEY REPORT 

NEW BUSINESS 

7. Contract Award - Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage: Phase 1 

8. Town of Johnstown YMCA Recreation Center Update - Natatorium 

 

1



 

COUNCIL REPORTS AND COMMENTS 

MAYOR’S COMMENTS 

INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

9. Informational Items 

ADJOURN 

 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT NOTICE 

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other applicable laws, persons who need 

accommodation in order to attend or participate in this meeting should contact Town Hall at 970-587-4664 

no later than 48 hours before the meeting in order to request such assistance. 

De conformidad con la Ley de Discapacitados Estadounidenses y otras leyes vigentes, los individuos que 

necesitan adaptaciones funcionales para asistir o participar en esta reunión deberán comunicarse con la 

Municipalidad marcando el 970 587- 4664 a lo más tardar 48 horas antes de dicha reunión para solicitarla. 

 

2



 

 

 

 

 
 TOWN COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

450 S. Parish, Johnstown, CO  
Monday, June 19, 2023 at 7:00 PM  

  

MINUTES 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Mellon called the meeting to order and led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Pledge of Allegiance 

ROLL CALL 

Present:   

Councilmember Dominguez 

Councilmember Morris 

Councilmember Paranto  

Councilmember Young 

Mayor Mellon  

Absent:  

Councilmember Berg 

Councilmember Molinar  

AGENDA APPROVAL 

Councilmember Morris moved to approve the agenda.  

Councilmember Young seconded and the motion passed.  

SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

There were no special presentations.  

PUBLIC COMMENT 
Holly Sturgon spoke to flooding and drainage in Country Acres Subdivision.  

 

Lauren Rombach, Lacy Couch and Jessica Naab spoke to an ordinance to ban pet stores/puppy and kitten 

mills in Johnstown.  

 

Shawn York spoke weeds to Purvis Farms, and requested enforcement on CR 13, North of HWY 60.   

A comment from Glen Saraduke was read into the record regarding Purvis Farms.  

Jim Hatfield spoke to item #5 on the Consent agenda and requested there be a crosswalk at Silverbell. Mr. 

Hatfield noted a meeting with Town staff regarding options for speeding in the Clearview neighborhood.  

CONSENT AGENDA 

Councilmember Morris moved to approve the consent agenda.  

Councilmember Young seconded and the motion passed.  

 

3

Item #2.



 

1. June 5, 2023 Meeting Minutes  

2. Ordinance No. 2023-252 Amending Section 7-128 of the Johnstown Municipal Code 

3. Resolution 2023-25 Appointing Members to the Planning & Zoning Commission 

4. Resolution 2023-27 A Resolution Authorizing The Deposit of Town Funds At Banks 

Designated by the Banking Board As Eligible Public Depositories 

5. Subdivision Development and Improvement Agreement with Weld County School District RE-

5J, for Roosevelt High School 

6. Third Amendment To Intergovernmental Agreement Between The Town Of Johnstown and The 

Little Thompson Water District  

7. May 2023 Financial Statements 

TOWN MANAGER REPORT 

Matt LeCerf, Town Manager expressed appreciation to Council and staff in his absence.  

TOWN ATTORNEY REPORT 

There was no Town Attorney report.  

NEW BUSINESS 

There was no New Business on the agenda to be heard.  

PUBLIC HEARING 

8. Consideration and Public Hearing for Ordinance 2023-253 Amending Sections 18-41 and 18-43 

of Article V, Chapter 18, of the Johnstown Municipal Code, regarding the code version of the 

International Energy Conservation Code 

Mayor Mellon opened the public hearing.  

Kim Meyer, Planning and Building Director, spoke to the proposed code amendments, noting 

this amendment would take the Town from the 2012 edition updating us to the 2018 edition.  

Mayor Mellon opened the public hearing for comments for and opposed, to which there was 

none.  

Councilmember Young moved to approve of Ordinance 2023-253 Amending Sections 18-41 and 

18-43 of Article V, Chapter 18, of the Johnstown Municipal Code, concerning Adoption of the 

International Energy Conservation Code, 2018 Edition. 

Councilmember Morris seconded and the motion passed.  

9. Resolution 2023-26 Approving the Preliminary/Final Subdivision Plat for Encore Filing No. 1 

(SUB21-0026) 

Mayor Mellon opened the public hearing.  

Ms. Meyer noted the location and annexation background of this item. Council inquired on the 

traffic study, which staff noted is still in review.  

Russell Lee with Ripley Design presented to Council, pointing out the roundabouts and the 

changes to Colorado Blvd and High Plains. Council inquired on space and lanes on Highway 

34. Mr. Lee noted they have complied with CDOT and are still discussing.  

Council asked for clarification on use of the space. Mr. Lee noted it would be mixed, keeping in 

mind the restrictions on roadways etc for multi-family.  

4

Item #2.



 

Mayor Mellon opened the hearing for comment both for and opposed to this item, to which 

there was none.  

Councilmember Young moved that the Town Council approve Resolution 2023-26 approving 

the Preliminary/Final Subdivision Plat for Encore Filing No. 1 subject to the approval of a 

Council-approved Development Agreement. 

Councilmember Paranto seconded and the motion passed.  

COUNCIL REPORTS AND COMMENTS 

Councilmember Paranto expressed he was happy to be at the meeting.  

Councilmember Morris expressed gratitude to the Deputy Town Manager during the recreant flooding 

and expressed empathy to those in the town that have experienced flooding.   

Councilmember Young noted the Historical Society met and are still experiencing issues with the P-trap 

at the Parish House. Councilmember Young also expressed empathy towards those that experienced 

flooding.  

Councilmember Dominguez expressed thanks to the Adoptive Recreation director in Larimer County and 

expressed empathy towards those that experienced flooding.  

MAYOR’S COMMENTS 

Mayor Mellon reported on the below:    

- The transportation at I-25 is noted to have a late fall opening for the express lane, and for a duration it 

will be free, with the intent to charge tolls in spring in 2024.  

-  Attendance at the International Council of Shopping Centers (ICSC) conference and expressed many 

companies are interested in locating to Johnstown.  

- Expressed thanks to the Deputy Town Manager and staff for efforts during the recent flooding.  

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

10. An Executive Session to Receive Legal Advice from the Town Attorney Pursuant to C.R.S. 

Section 24-6-402(4)(b) Regarding the Purvis Property. 

Councilmember Young moved to adjourn into Executive Session to Receive Legal Advice from 

the Town Attorney Pursuant to C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(b) Regarding the Purvis Property. 

Councilmember Morris seconded and the motion passed.  

Council reconvened at 9:04 pm.  

Councilmember Young moved to amend the agenda to include Item 10A approving the amended 

and restate Water and Sewer Service Agreement related to Purvis Farm Subdivision   

Seconded by Councilmember Paranto and the motion passed with one abstain.   

Abstain Vote: Morris   

Item 10A.  

Mr. LeCerf noted that the amended and restated agreement meets requirements.  

Councilmember Young moved to approve the amended Water and Sewer Service Agreement for 

the Purvis Farm Subdivision.   

Councilmember Paranto seconded and the Mayor directed a roll call vote.  

Councilmember Dominguez:  Abstain  

5

Item #2.



 

Councilmember Morris – Abstain  

Councilmember Young – Yes 

Councilmember Paranto- Yes 

Mayor Mellon- Yes   

 

INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

11. Informational Items 

Informational items were included in the packet.  

ADJOURN 

Mayor Mellon adjourned the June 19, 2023 meeting at 9:10 pm 

__________________________ 

Troy D. Mellon, Mayor  

 

__________________________ 

Hannah Hill, Town Clerk 

6

Item #2.



Vendor Description Dept. Amount 
2534 Retail Phase 1, LLC Reimbursement of sales tax ADM 72,381.07         
4990 Ronald Reagan LLC Police substation lease PD 1,519.75           
Ace Hardware Supplies PW 1,741.85           
Adamson Police Products Uniforms PD 499.35               
AED Everywhere, Inc. Supplies PD 100.00               
Allsafe/High Sierra Elevator Inspections Elevator inspection PW 135.00               
Ambitec Inc Safety equipment PD 11,429.92         
American Water Works Association Dues PW 1,165.00           
Anode Systems Company Equipment maintenance PW 1,485.00           
Applied Concepts, Inc Equipment PD 266.00               
Aqua Engineering Central WWTP expansion PW 62,263.24         
Artemis Development Permit refund PW 60,792.00         
Arvada Excavating Hydrant meter deposit refund ADM 3,000.00           
Ayres Associates Inc Billback - Professional services ADM 1,687.50           
Bemus Construction Hydrant meter deposit refund ADM 3,500.00           
BHA Design Incorporated Design standards PW 660.00               
Bison Ridge Construction Hydrant meter deposit refund ADM 1,750.00           
BlueWater Engineering Ltd Water treatment plant expansion/scada PW 21,958.41         
Brenner Builders LLC Sidewalk maintenance PW 18,000.00         
Browns Hill Engineering & Controls Scada PW 3,186.38           
Burns & McDonnell Engineering Co Inc. WTP expansion PW 63,604.58         
Canyon Systems, Inc. Supplies PW 168.00               
Card Services Training/travel/supplies ALL 22,216.56         
Central Weld County Water District Interconnects PW 586.00               
Century Envrionmental Hygiene YMCA inspection PW 6,031.00           
CenturyLink Telephone PW 1,355.92           
Cintas Mat supplies/service ALL 474.56               
City County Communications & Marketing Dues/conference ADM 1,120.00           
City of Loveland Training PD 600.00               
Civil Resources Raw water transmission line PW 45,048.00         
CLR Electric Equipment repair PW 513.00               
CMC Tire Supplies PW 1,190.68           
Colorado Analytical Labs Lab testing PW 1,273.00           
Colorado Greenbelt Management Landscaping services PW 1,250.00           
Colorado Materials, Inc. Playground mulch PW 22,164.50         
Colorado Overflow Solutions Maintenance PW 150.00               
Colorado Paving Inc Charlotte Street project PW 375,712.99       
Community Center Refund Community Center deposit refunds ADM 410.00               
Connell Resources, Inc. North Interceptor PW 719,902.50       
Consolidated Hillsborough Ditch Co Sewer/water projects PW 2,000.00           
Courtesy Lawn & Tree Care Inc Landscaping services PW 3,500.00           
Crossroads Towing and Recovery Vehicle repairs PW 193.76               
Crosthwaite, Sarah Training reimbursement ADM 1,049.94           
Crotty and Associates, Inc Professional services PW 7,001.94           

Town of Johnstown 
List of Bills - May 25, 2023- June 21, 2023

7

Item #3.



Vendor Description Dept. Amount 
D2C Architects Police expansion study PD 23,157.54         
Denali Water Solutions LLC Sludge removal PW 2,485.91           
DES Pipeline Maintenance, LLC Hydrant meter deposit refund ADM 1,750.00           
DES Pipeline Maintenance, LLC Maintenance PW 50,661.15         
DetectaChem, Inc. Lab supplies PD 170.25               
Directional Services Hydrant meter deposit refund ADM 1,750.00           
DPC Industries Inc Chemicals PW 30,769.02         
E-470 Public Highway Authority Travel PD 17.90                 
Environmental Syst. Research Institute GIS PW 646.44               
Envirotech Services, Inc Chemicals PW 4,042.02           
Ergomed Employment screening ADM 785.00               
Evoqua Water Technologies LLC GAC chemicals PW 174,808.00       
EZ Excavating Hydrant meter deposit refund ADM 1,500.00           
Ferguson Waterworks Water meters PW 3,540.51           
Firestone Complete Auto Care Vehicle repairs PD 793.10               
First Class Security Systems Fire system monitoring PW 133.80               
Flowers For 3 Greenhouse Cemetery & downtown flowers PW 8,039.35           
Front Range Roofing Systems LLC Building maintenance PW 550.14               
Frontier Precision Software PW 250.00               
Frontier Self Storage Storage ADM 280.00               
Gateway Mapping Mapping services PW 2,500.00           
Gerrard Family Limited Partnership Reimbursement of sales tax ADM 4,313.96           
Glenn A. Jones Library Library support ADM 103,786.43       
Go Play Inc. Playground equipment PW 7,275.00           
Grainger, Inc. Supplies PW 398.90               
Graves Consulting Compensation study ADM 12,067.00         
Greeley Electric Repair Inc. Building maintenance ADM 998.42               
Greeley Lock and Key Building maintenance PW 2,669.58           
Ground Engineering Consultants, Inc. Materials testing PW 349.50               
Grows, LLC Facade grant ADM 11,000.00         
Hach Company Chemicals PW 1,677.21           
Hays Market Inc Supplies ADM/PW 86.58                 
Helton & Williamsen, P.C. Billback - Engineering services ADM 6,416.05           
Helton & Williamsen, P.C. Water legal ADM 11,080.42         
Herc Rentals Equipment rental ADM 1,782.27           
Hill & Robbins, PC Water legal ADM 122.50               
Hudick Excavating Hydrant meter deposit refund ADM 1,500.00           
Hydro International Wastewater Central waste water treament project PW 58,500.00         
I&C Design Equipment maintenance PW 3,170.50           
IMEG Corp Engineering services ADM 15,764.00         
IMEG Corp Billback -Engineering services ADM 45,700.00         
Indigo Water Group Training supplies PW 3,600.00           
Insight North America LLC Investment services ALL 3,052.79           
ION Developer LLC Permit refund ADM 191.30               
J&D Creations Uniforms PW 700.76               
J-2 Contracting Hydrant meter deposit refund ADM 1,500.00           

8

Item #3.



Vendor Description Dept. Amount 
John Cutler & Associates 2022 Audit ADM 7,000.00           
John Deere Financial Supplies PW 2,716.41           
Johnstown Breeze Publications ADM 1,333.16           
JWO Engineering SH 60 signal PW 38,356.19         
Kelly Supply Co Equipment maintenance PW 402.61               
Kenyon P. Jordan, Ph.D. Prehire evaluation PD 275.00               
Kinsco, LLC Uniforms PD 225.00               
Kissinger & Fellman P.C. Legal services ADM 1,128.50           
Kroger Fulfillment Network LLC Building permit refund ADM 9,421.53           
L G Everist Inc Paving materials PW 3,315.22           
L4 Construction Little Thompson Trail project PW 273,086.05       
Larimer County Sales Tax Administrator Use Tax - Reimbursement ADM 32,716.04         
Larimer County Sheriff's Office Uniforms PD 119.16               
Law Office of Avi Rocklin LLC Legal services ADM 2,671.50           
Law Office of Avi Rocklin LLC Billback - Legal services ADM 17,873.00         
Lawson Products Inc Supplies PW 3,258.60           
Lazar, Michael Municipal Court Judge ADM 3,900.00           
Lefthand Printworks Supplies ADM 5,460.00           
Loveland Barricade LLC Supplies PW 918.75               
Loveland Fire Rescue Authority Site rental PD 50.00                 
Mares Auto Inc. Vehicle repairs PW/PD 70.00                 
Mary's Mountain Cookies Reimbursement of sales tax ADM 450.48               
McCoy, Mitzi Supplies reimbursement ADM 785.18               
Millerbernd Manufacturing Co LLC Signal poles PW 48,139.50         
Milliken Johnstown Electric Equipment maintenance PW 4,615.73           
Miracle Recreation Equipment Equipment maintenance PW 11,981.95         
Mission Communications, LLC Equipment maintenance PW 371.40               
Moltz Construction Inc. Low Point expansion project PW 701,510.06       
Morgan, Branden Reimbursement - uniform PD 90.84                 
MWH Constructors Water treatment plant expansion PW 21,747.00         
Nalco Company LLC Chemicals PW 11,851.54         
Napa Auto Parts, Inc Supplies PW/PD 1,260.60           
National Pen Co. LLC Supplies ADM 1,057.85           
Northwest Parkway Travel PD 6.80                   
Nygren Family Farms LLLP Professional services reimbursement ADM 6,087.50           
Office Depot Business Credit Supplies ALL 1,015.48           
Ohlson Lavoie Corporation Pool feasibility study PW 2,550.00           
Paul's Plumbing & Heating Equipment maintenance PW 29,289.72         
Pitney Bowes Inc Supplies PD/ADM 298.95               
PK Safety Supply Supplies PW 7,058.98           
Prestige Window Tinting Vehicle upfit PD 395.00               
Quality of Life & Safety Designs LLC Fire safety ADM 25.00                 
Randy Lopez CDL Testing & Training Training PW 1,100.00           
RD3 YMCA repairs PW 6,843.75           
Real Tech Inc Equipment maintenance PW 2,190.50           
Recreational Electrical Vehicle upfit PD 14,975.00         

9

Item #3.



Vendor Description Dept. Amount 
Redi Services, LLC Port o lets PW 6,800.00           
RHS Cheer Community support ADM 50.00                 
RoadSafe Traffic Systems Supplies PW 915.75               
Sam's Club MC/SYNCB Supplies PD 535.17               
Slocum, Doug Reimbursement - uniform PD 237.91               
SMH West, LLC South Tank construction PW 92,938.82         
Survival Armor Supplies PD 957.06               
Tait & Associates, Inc. Charlotte Street project PW 17,290.00         
TANCO Engineering, Inc. North Tank repairs PW 250,800.00       
TDS Phone/internet ALL 1,987.27           
TechMedia, LLC Supplies ADM 4,822.51           
Terracon Consultants, Inc. Charlotte Street project PW 555.00               
The Greeley Tribune Newspaper ADM 161.20               
Thompson Ranch Development Reimbursement of sales tax ADM 44,601.34         
Tier One Networking, LLC Computer equipment ADM 7,553.00           
T-Mobile Cell phones PD 65.82                 
TruGreen Chemlawn Chemicals PW 2,465.44           
UC Health Medical Group Lab testing PD 799.04               
United Power, Inc Utilities ALL 750.10               
Upstate Colorado Economic Dev 2023 Contribution ADM 15,000.00         
USA Bluebook Supplies PW 4,698.54           
Utility Refunds Utility refund ADM 216.90               
Veolia WTS Analytical Instruments, Inc Equipment maintenance PW 46,065.42         
Verizon Connect Phone/internet ALL 31.90                 
Verizon Wireless Cell phones PW/PD 4,116.74           
Waste Connections of Colorado Inc. Trash services PW 85,091.33         
Water Environment Federation Dues Pw 230.00               
Weld County Dept of Public Health Lab services PW 596.50               
Weld County School Dist RE-5J Hydrant meter deposit refund ADM 1,500.00           
Weld RE-5J Education Foundation Education Foundation sponsorship ADM 800.00               
Williams, Kyle Training reimbursement PD 80.10                 
Xcel Energy Utilities ALL 61,023.60         
YMCA of Northern Colorado Monthly support ADM 41,666.67         
Yost Cleaning Monthly cleaning service PW 3,362.66           

4,130,132.02   

10

Item #3.



 

 

 

 

TOWN COUNCIL CONSENT AGENDA COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

AGENDA DATE:  July 3, 2023 

 

SUBJECT: Application for Fractional Water Share Sale   

 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Factional Water Share Application Applicant: Tyson Tabler for 

1120 N. 5th Street – Lot 51 

    

PRESENTED BY:  Matt LeCerf, Town Manager  

 

    

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

Enclosed for your review and consideration is a Fractional Water Share Application Request for 

the property located at 1120 N. 5th Street by Tyler Tabler. This property is located in the 

Redstone Hills Subdivision and is also known as parcel number 105905331051. The applicant is 

requesting for the property a factional water share for the purposes of connecting to water and 

sewer on the property. This property which has no water on/attached to it, has been vacant and a 

new single family home will be constructed on the site.  

 

Section 13-155 of the Johnstown Municipal Code provides guidance on the dedication for a 

single-family resident. The code section is as follow: 

 

Sec. 13-116. - Water dedication rate.  

(a) A single-family equivalent without a separate non-potable irrigation system shall require 

the dedication of 0.50 acre-feet of water per residence for a landscaped lot consisting of 

less than or equal to 3,000 square feet. The 0.50 acre-feet per residence consists of 0.33 

acre-feet of water for in-home consumptive use and 0.17 acre-feet of water for irrigation. 

This shall be the basis for a single-family equivalent (SFE). 

 

Town Staff is recommending 0.5 acre-feet needing to be purchased for this property based on the 

historical water demand analysis. Given the small volume of water and inability to purchase this 

volume on the market, Staff is recommending a sale of water from the Town’s water bank 

established in 2020. The market rate for an acre foot (1 AF) of water is currently set at $78,000. 

The recommended sale price for 0.5 AF of water is $39,000. This price is in addition to the $150 

water court transfer fee as required by Town Code. The total recommended final price for this 

water is $39,150.00.  

11

Item #4.



 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

 

Council approved Resolution No. 2020-42 established a water bank for the Town of Johnstown 

specifically for these purposes. Currently in the bank, prior to the sale of this 0.5 AF is 15.67 AF 

of water available for purchase for the purposes set forth in Resolution 2020-42.  

 

LEGAL ADVICE:  

 

Not Applicable 

 

FINANCIAL ADVICE:  

 

Fee paid for this water volume would be deposited in the water fund.  

 

RECCOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the Sale of Water as Presented for 1150 N. 5th Street 

– Lot 51. 

 

 

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation, 

 

 

____________________________ 

Town Manager 

 

 

12

Item #4.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


13

Item #4.



 

 

 

TOWN COUNCIL CONSENT AGENDA COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

AGENDA DATE:  July 3, 2023 

 

SUBJECT: Resolution 2023-28, Amending the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget 

 

ATTACHMENTS:  1. Resolution 2023-28 

 

PRESENTED BY:  Devon McCarty, Finance Director 

 

    

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

  

Enclosed for review and consideration is Resolution 2023-28, which will modify the 2022 

budget recognizing an increase in expenses in the General Fund and the Recreation Center Fund, 

ensuring that the Town is in compliance with C.R.S. 29-1-110. 

 

The proposed changes includes the following: 

 

General Fund 

On August 29, 2022, Town Council approved Resolution 2022-38 for the Town to purchase 

property from Anadarko E&P Onshore LLC.  The purchase price of this property was 

$1,508,875.54.  The attached resolution increases the expenses and appropriations in the General 

Fund by $1,509,000 to cover the purchase of this property.    

 

Recreation Center Fund 

In anticipation of potential audit adjustments, the expenses and appropriations in the Recreation 

Center Fund have been increased by $10,000. 

 

LEGAL ADVICE:  

The Town Attorney drafted the Resolution.  

 

FINANCIAL ADVICE:  

The recommended amendments will increase the accuracy of the financial information and 

ensure compliance with state law. 

 

 

14

Item #5.



 

The Community That Cares 
www.TownofJohnstown.com 

P: 970.5127.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.5127.0141 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve Resolution 2023-28 as presented. 

 

 

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation, 

 

 

____________________________ 

Town Manager 

 

 

15

Item #5.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

 

RESOLUTION 2023-28 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO, 

AMENDING REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2022 

BUDGET 

 

 

WHEREAS, on December 13, 2021, the Town Council adopted, by Resolution No. 

2021-46, the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget (“2022 Budget”); and  

 

WHEREAS, revenues and expenditures have been evaluated and are being adjusted for 

the 2022 operating budget to increase clarity of information and improve the quality of 

usefulness of such information in the decision-making process; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town purchased property for $1,508,875.54 from Anadarko E&P 

Onshore LLC; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council agrees to modify appropriated expenditures for the 2022 

Budget, ensuring the budget will be in balance and that authorized budgeted revenues and 

expenditures are amended, as required by law.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO: 

 

Expenditures 

 

Section 1.  General Fund: 

 Whereas, the Town Council of the Town of Johnstown determines that the Fiscal 

Year 2022 General Fund expenditure appropriations are hereby increased by $1,509,000 

to reflect an increase in expenditures for property acquisition. 

 

Section 2.  Recreation Center Fund: 

 Whereas, the Town Council of the Town of Johnstown determines that the Fiscal 

Year 2022 Recreation Center Fund expenditure appropriations are hereby increased by 

$10,000 to reflect audit adjustments. 

 

Section 3.  Effective Date.  This resolution shall become effective immediately upon 

adoption. 

 

Section 4.  Repealer.  All resolutions, or parts thereof, in conflict with this resolution are 

hereby repealed, provided that such repealer shall not repeal the repealer clauses of such 

resolution nor revive any resolution thereby. 

 

Section 5.  Certification.  The Town Clerk shall certify to the passage of this resolution and 

make not less than one copy of the adopted resolution available for inspection by the public 

during regular business hours.  

16

Item #5.



 

 

 

 

ADOPTED THIS 3rd DAY OF JULY, 2023.  

 
      TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN 
 

 

      BY:   _______________________                                                                

                     Troy D. Mellon, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Hannah Hill, Town Clerk      

17

Item #5.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and Town Council Members 

 

FROM: Matt LeCerf, Town Manager 

 

DATE:  July 3, 2023 

 

CC:  Town Staff 

  Local Media 

 

SUBJECT: Town Manager’s Report 

 

    

Upcoming Town Council Meetings & Work Sessions – If there are topics that the Council would 

like Staff to schedule for discussion, please let me know. The following topics are recommended 

for Council discussion (all meetings will be held in the Town Council Chambers unless 

otherwise indicated): 

 

• 07/03/2023 – Regular Council Meeting 

• 07/10/2023 – Council Work Session 

• 07/17/2023 – Regular Council Meeting 

• 08/07/2023 – Regular Council Meeting 

 

 

Administration, Finance, Planning, & Human Resources 

 Liquor Licensing – Cheba Hut has submitted a renewal for a Hotel & Restaurant liquor 

license; Johnstown Plaza Liquors LLC has submitted a renewal for a Liquor Store liquor 

license and a tasting permit; Red Barn Liquors LLC has submitted a renewal for a Liquor 

Store liquor license, as well as a modification of premise for storage and a tasting permit; 

Coral Bay Wine & Spirits has submitted a renewal for a Liquor Store liquor license. The 

JDDA has submitted a Special Event Liquor License Application for Fall Fest on 

September 16, 2023.  

 Municipal Court – 126 cases were processed in Municipal Court in June 2023.  

18

Item #6.



 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

 Town Clerk – Staff attended the Colorado Municipal Leagues Annual Conference, as 

well as several local Colorado Municipal Clerk’s Association trainings.  

 Special Events – A special event application has been submitted for the Milliken Middle 

School Cross Country Season Opener on August 17, 2023. The JDDA has submitted an 

application for Fall Fest on September 16, 2023. Staff is currently processing and 

reviewing both applications.  

 Hiring – The Town welcomed a new Police Officer, three Planners, three Parks seasonal 

workers, a Wastewater Operator, two Utility Operators, and a new Public Works Director 

to our team in June. We are processing a new Police Officer and a new Police Cadet 

position. A Streets Crew Lead position is currently open.  

 Pool Feasibility Study – Stakeholder meetings were held on June 27, followed up by 

Community Meetings that same evening. The public was invited to attend to learn about 

different outdoor aquatic opportunities and to provide feedback to the committee and the 

consultants. 

 Water Rate Study – The water rate study is well underway. Consultants are in the process 

of collecting and reviewing Town data. Staff is currently meeting with consultants on a 

weekly basis to review findings and provide additional information if needed. 

 Police Building RFP – The pre-bid meeting was held on June 9, 2023, and was well 

attended. An addendum to the original RFP was issued and distributed to interested 

parties and posted on our website on June 16, 2023. The closing date is July 14, 2023. 

 Highway Users Tax Fund (HUTF) – The Local Highway Finance Report was submitted 

for 2022 in compliance with State Law. 

 Audit – The 2022 audit is nearly completed with a final report expected to be presented at 

the July 17 Council meeting. 

 Planning & Zoning Commission (PZC) – PZC held one meeting on June 28 with the next 

meeting scheduled for July 26, which will be the newly appointed commissioners’ first 

meeting. We want to extend a warm thank you to Commissioner Jessica Salo who 

stepped down from PZC to assume a permanent leadership role in UNC’s GIS 

Department; and Commissioner Bruce Weber who served as Chair for the past few years 

and will be working overseas on a new project.  

 Planning & Development Staff – The department welcomed three new Planning Staff to 

the Town and have been working on training them in their new roles.   

 Acceptance Inspection – Planning Staff performed a preliminary landscape inspection on 

Phase 1 of Johnstown Village/Mallard Ridge in preparation for a pending request for 

Final Acceptance this Fall. 

 Online Business Directory – Town Staff launched in June the online business directory 

for residents and visitors. The online business directory is accessible via the Town’s 

website and allows users to search for businesses based on category, location, and 

services offered. Businesses are able to update their information including current job 

opportunities at any time and such changes are approved once reviewed by Town Staff.  

 Downtown Johnstown Branding & Wayfinding Project Update – Town Staff published 

the Downtown Wayfinding Signage Phase 1 RFP in May and closed the RFP in June 

19

Item #6.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

with a total of 3 bids submitted. Upon a contract award by Town Council, Phase 1 of the 

downtown wayfinding signage will begin to be fabricated with installation expected this 

year. Town Staff is also working on officially launching the Downtown Brand during the 

Fall Fest Event.  

 Biz Walk – Town Staff continues to schedule monthly biz walks to meet with our local 

businesses. In May, Staff met with Swire Coca-Cola. Staff did not schedule a biz walk in 

June but is set to meet with Pioneer Materials West in July.  

 Business of the Month (BOTM) – The BOTM for May was Culvers Restaurant and in 

June Red Barn Liquor. Staff plans to announce the BOTM for July during the July 3 

Town Council Meeting.  

 Community Engagement – Town Staff had 2 very successful engagements with the 

community this month (despite the weather), at Johnstown BBQ Day and at the 

Johnstown Milliken Pride Event at the YMCA. It is important, and a main priority of the 

Communications Office, to engage with community members where they are at and share 

the most up to date information and opportunities of the Town.  

 PIO Communications Trainings – Sean Kennedy, Communications Specialist, completed 

a PIO Training June 20-22 related to incident response.  

 FY 2024 – Town Staff is working on completing requests for the FY 2024 Budget. These 

requests are due by July 7 to the Town Manager. Budget work sessions are preliminarily 

scheduled for September before Council. 

 Manager’s Meeting – The Town Manager attended the quarterly Larimer/Weld County 

Manager’s meeting. The topics discussed included the LETA 911 operations and Larimer 

County Emergency Management. 

 Home Supply Share Purchase – The Town should close on a Home Supply Share on 

Friday June 30. Funds are allocated in the FY 2023 Budget for water acquisition.  

 Bus Transit – The Town will be having a conversation about a possible partnership for 

bus transit in North Johnstown later this week. Additional information will be 

forthcoming based on any identified outcomes of this meeting. 

Police Department 
Training 

 Leadership Training – Sergeant Timme attended FBI LEEDA training. This training is a 

line supervisor course that focuses on leadership techniques and how to provide 

mentorship to subordinates. 

 Officer Safety Training – The entire police department received training on how to 

conduct residential building searches properly and safely. 

 Use of Force Training – Department personnel received state mandated Use of Force 

Training. This level of training is Colorado POST required, but also helps officers 

develop skills needed to assess and utilize the proper use of force that is within state 

guidelines and departmental policy. 

 School Resource Officer (SRO) Training – Officer Kelley attended the Colorado 

Association of School Resource Officers conference in Breckenridge, this training 

20

Item #6.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

provides up to date information on new laws and procedures affecting the role of school 

resource officers statewide. 

Community Policing, Outreach & Miscellaneous Items: 

 New Police Officer – The department welcomed Officer Yudelky Perez. Officer Perez is a 

lateral transfer from the Larimer County Sheriff’s Office. She has completed the 

department run mini-academy and has been assigned to her first phase of her field 

training (FTO) program.  

 BBQ Days – Officers and supervisors provided security for the annual BBQ days event.  

No significant incidents occurred. 

 Shred Event – The department hosted it’s annual “shred event” to provide residents and 

business a safe alternative to dispose of sensitive documents. 

 

Public Works  

 Crews completed 72 work orders this review period consisting of flood cleanup, 

construction inspections, street sweeping, gravel road grading, filling potholes, road sign 

repair, funerals, and a variety of other street and grounds related work. 

 Little Thompson Trail – Contractor has encountered some areas of poor subgrade. 

Repairs are in progress. The poor subgrade may result in a change order for the project to 

help move the wet conditions to adjacent areas and onto the Little Thompson River. 

 Charlotte Street Improvements – The contractor continues to work with the full width 

street closure from Greeley and Jay. The contractor completed sanitary sewer pipe 

installation and will be installing sewer services the week of June 26. The three-week 

look ahead is located on our website.  

 Frontage Road – The contractor is 90% completed with the Frontage Road and it is 

scheduled to open hopefully not later than the first week of July. 

 
 

21

Item #6.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

 The Ridge Filing 1 – CR 3E has been completed from south of CR18 to CR16 and is 

open to traffic. 

 
 The Granary – Repairs are in progress for the damaged rollover curb and walk from the 

milling company for Filing 1 Phase A. Once it is completed, they will pave all the milled 

streets. Repairs to subgrade with cement treatment process is in progress in Filing 1 

Phase B.  
 

Utilities 

 Treatment 

o Water Treatment Plant (WTP):  

 Average Daily Flows: 2.059 MGD 

 The raw water recycle pump #3 and VFD are both up and running after a 

few start up issues. 

 Staff overcame a number of issues with power, internet, and phone at the 

treatment plant due to the storms and worked together to maintain 

operations. 

 All six GAC vessels are filled, flushed, and backwashed and online for the 

season. Granular Activate Carbon (GAC) mitigates the potential for taste 

and odor issues due to algae growth in the Town’s reservoirs. 

o Low Point Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP):  

 Average Daily Flows: 0.57 MGD 

 Staff corrected challenges with reading the flow meter coming into the 

plant and were able to replace an internal modular card that was causing 

intermittent display issues. 

 The solids handling tank is nearing completion for the new membrane 

plant. 

22

Item #6.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

 The second site generator is installed with bollards in place and is 

scheduled for a test run the first week of July. 

o Central WWTP:  

 Average Daily Flows: 0.83 MGD 

 Solids bulking in Lagoon 1 have been mitigated thanks to a combination 

of submersible, and directional aerators. 

 Very high rainfall caused huge amounts of infiltration to overwhelm the 

treatment lagoons. Lagoon levels are slowly getting back to normal. 

 The newest employee in the wastewater division has completed training at 

the Central plant and is moving to the Low Point plant for training and 

becoming an asset to the team.  

 Sewer Collection & Water Distribution 

o Locates: 487 tickets 

o Meters: 44 new installs, 5 Replacements 

o Staff successfully identified and replaced a meter that had been illegally removed 

from a residence over six years ago. 

o Staff mitigated and isolated a sanitary sewer overflow occurring in the line 

coming into the Low Point Wastewater Treatment Plant. 

o Staff was notified by a resident of a potential backup in Thompson River Ranch 

that was able to be quickly corrected, avoiding a sanitary sewer overflow. 

o The recent power outage caused the lift stations to lose power, however the 

auxiliary power came right on and kept things going smoothly. 

 Inspections 

o 1,500’ water main installed and tested 

o 2,100’ sewer main installed and tested 

o 71 water/sewer inspections 

 GIS 

o GIS is primarily focused on completing the field data collection for the Town’s 

utility network: 

 Added 14 miles of water lines.  

 Added 2.5 miles of wastewater lines. 

 988 fire hydrants have been collected for GIS as well. 

o A methodology has been developed to help assess the age of Town utility 

infrastructure which will help in replacement scheduling and in rate studies. 

 Capital Projects 

o South Water Tank – Due to some weather delays in May and June, the contractor 

should be completing the tank in early July and testing of the tank will be 

conducted. 

o South Water Tank Distribution Pipeline – The contractor is continuing to test the 

mainline. Testing consists of filling the line with high chlorinated water, flushing 

the line, pressure, and leakage testing, and finishes with bacteriological testing.  

23

Item #6.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

The contractor, in conjunction with Town Staff, has completed testing the water 

main from CR17/CR42 through the South Tank site with minimal items to 

address. The contractor will continue to test the water main from the south tank 

site to Colorado Boulevard and Hwy 60. 

o Low Point Sewer Plant Expansion – The contractor continues installing 

equipment in the Membrane Bioreactor (MBR) and Headworks building as it 

arrives on site. PVREA and the contractor switched the main power supply for the 

site from the old service to the new service in June which involved the existing 

plant running on backup power for approximately 8 hours. The switch over was 

successful with no issues. Town Staff and the contractor are working together to 

schedule trainings for Staff on the new equipment and testing. In addition, Staff is 

working with the programmer to review the proposed interface to control the 

plant. 

o Central Wastewater Treatment Plant – Site grading is underway including the 

excavation of a new lift station and some of the basins. Staff will continue to work 

with the contractor and design engineer throughout construction on permitting and 

construction progress. The abnormally wet spring caused some delays as much of 

the foundation was filled with water. As Plant Staff coordinates lowering the 

lagoon levels, the contractor will look to restart the decommissioning of Lagoon 

#3 (the southwest lagoon).   

o State Highway 60 Waterline – Through 2023 Town Staff will work with the 

design engineer on final alignment and obtaining all necessary easements, 

agreements, and permits. In June, Town Staff and the design engineer met with 

CDOT to discuss the project and give them an introduction to the project and 

discuss their requirements. In addition, we are working on getting survey and 

utility locations wrapped up to determine the best alignment for the new water 

main. As a reminder, this project consists of replacing an aging water main in 

Highway 60 from Parish Avenue to Sticker Stadium and installation of a new 

water main from Sticker Stadium to the new Central Wastewater Treatment Plant.   

24

Item #6.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

 

 

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

AGENDA DATE:  July 3, 2023 

 

SUBJECT:   Award RFP for Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage: Phase 1 

 

ACTION PROPOSED: Award project to Ad Light Group  

 

ATTACHMENTS:  1. Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Bidding Resources (RFP) 

    2. Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage Designs (all phases) 

    3. Ad Light Group Contract (with Exhibit A to be inserted prior to  

    contract execution) 

    4. RFP Submittals   

     a. Ad Light Group 

     b. Arapahoe Sign Arts 

     c. DaVince Sign Systems 

    5. Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage Designs – Phase 1 Options  

 

PRESENTED BY:  Sarah Crosthwaite, Economic Development Manager 

 

    

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

  

The Town of Johnstown published the Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage: Phase 1 Request for 

Proposal (RFP) on May 26, 2023. The RFP was available on the Town website and via the Town’s Rocky 

Mountain BidNet account. Additionally, the Town held a virtual pre-bid meeting on May 30, 2023 to 

answer questions regarding the project and RFP from interested contractors/firms.  

 

The Town closed the RFP on June 16, 2023 and received a total of 3 submissions. As a recap, the 

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage: Phase 1 Project RFP seeked proposals for the following 

contractor services: 

 

 Signage Fabrication for Phase 1 signs in the Downtown corridor 

 Signage Installation for Phase 1 signs in the Downtown corridor 

The RFP outlined Phase 1 signs to  include:  

 Columnar Gateway (1) 

 Curved Corner Gateway (1) 

 Sculptural ‘J’ Gateway (1) 

 Pedestrian Mini-Kiosk Sign (1)  

25

Item #7.



 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

 

The purpose of the project is to fabricate and install signage in the downtown corridor through a phased 

approach. The signs have designed by Michael Baker International and represent the new downtown 

brand that was adopted by Town Council in May 2023.  

The total sign family includes (all phases):  

 Gateway 

 Auto directional  

 Columnar gateway  

 Destination/directional/parking signs 

 Interpretive signs 

 Building mounted signs 

 Parking stall signs 

 Sculptural 

 Street name signs 

 Trail signs 

 Pedestrian kiosk including static and digital 

 

The signs will be installed through several phases with Phase 1 beginning this year. Enclosed is the RFP 

for the Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage: Phase 1 Project and all 3 bid proposals received. For 

reference the following entities submitted a proposal with their corresponding bid price for Phase 1:  

 

Contractor Bid Price 

Ad Light Group $459,140.29 

Arapahoe Sign Arts $461,733.38 

DaVince Sign Systems $520,046.00 

 

The Town’s budget for Phase 1 of the project is $300,000. We have been working with Ad Light to 

readjust their bid submittal to provide several options that allow Town Council to decide which sign 

package (based on the Phase 1 RFP) they would like to move forward with. The following options 

include: 

 

 Option 1 – Bid price $404,496.17.  

o Signage Includes:  

 Columnar Gateway 

 Curved Corner Gateway 

 Sculptural ‘J’ Gateway  

 Option 2 – Bid price $296,896.20. 

o Signage Includes:  

 Columnar Gateway,  

 Sculptural ‘J’ Gateway 

 Pedestrian Mini-Kiosk Sign 

 Option 3 – Bid price $283,527.02. 

o Signage Includes:  

 Curved Corner Gateway 

26

Item #7.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


 

The Community That Cares 
johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

 Sculptural ‘J’ Gateway 

 

Staff is requesting and recommending awarding the Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding: Phase 1 to Ad 

Light Group. Additionally, the recommendation includes an award of Option 1 as described above for an 

amount of $404,496.17. Ad Light Group’s proposal not only met the requirements of the RFP but 

provided a comprehensive outline of their fabrication and installation process including the hard deadlines 

to install the sculptural ‘J’ Gateway Sign by September 3, 2023, the Curved Corner Gateway by 

November 27, 2023, and the other remaining signs by February 1, 2024.  

 

Additionally, the Project Manager for Ad Light Group lives in Johnstown and will directly oversee the 

project. Our consultant Kristin Cypher also reached out to the provided references and received positive 

feedback in terms of the quality work provided by the company including being responsive and keeping 

the project on budget.  

 

LEGAL ADVICE:  

 

The Standard Contract Agreement was used, and the Town Attorney has been provided the agreement.   

 

FINANCIAL ADVICE:  

 

The Town has budgeted $300,000 for this project for FY 2023. The total cost for Option 1 is $104,496.17 

over budget. Option 2 and 3 are within or under budget. Funds are preliminarily expected to be available 

in the Capital Improvements Fund to accommodate this increase in cost. If not, a budget amendment may 

be necessary at the end of the fiscal year.  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve and award the RFP project to Ad Light Group for Option 1 at a 

cost of $404,496.17.  

 

 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

 

For Approval: I move to approve and award the RFP Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage Project 

to Ad Light Group selected Option 1 at a cost of $404,496.17 and provide the Town Manager with a 5% 

financial discretion to complete this phase.  

 

For Denial: I move to deny the Town of Johnstown to award the RFP project to Ad Light Group.   

 

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation, 

 

 

____________________________ 

Town Manager 

 

 

27

Item #7.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


1

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

05.25.2023

Downtown Johnstown 
Wayfinding
Phase 1
Bidding Resources

Auto Directional - 4”  Text  (25 MPH)

Eddie
Aragon
Park

Historic 
Downtown
District

Library &
Civic Center

28

Item #7.



2 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Invitation to Bid
2. Instructions for Bidders
3. Bidder’s Qualifications and Data Form
4. Subcontractors and Related Data Form
5. Bid Proposal Form
6. Bid Schedule Form
7. Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Signage Master Plan - Phase 1 (Project Context & Background, Signage & Wayfinding 

Design Development, Final Design Vision; includes links to a cloud-based Google Earth project file) - SEPARATE 
DOCUMENT

NOTE: The Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Signage Master Plan - Phase 1 is provided as a separate document

INVITATION TO BID

PROJECT:  Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan – Phase 1

SCOPE:   Fabricate and install wayfinding signs within the Town of Johnstown. This project is for Phase 1 only of 

the Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan (dated May, 2023), and includes four (4) signs, with the sign installations 

concentrated in the downtown area.  The Phase 1 Project entails the fabrication and installation of four (4) sign types, including: 

Columnar Gateway (G1 = 1 Sign), Curved Corner Gateway (G2 = 1 Sign), Sculptural “J” Gateway (G2 = 1 Sign), and Pedestrian 

Kiosk Sign (P2 = 1 Sign).

Phase 1 Tasks:

• Task A:  Signage Fabrication:  This project task involves developing the fabrication plans for manufacturing each of the four 

(4) Phase 1 signs, as specified per the Bid Documents, Contract provisions, and Town Code. 
Task A.1: Town and Consultant Coordination
Task A.2: Prepare Sign Manufacturing Report Specifications (Electric and Non-Electric Signs)
Task A.3: Prepare Sign Shop Drawings
Task A.4: Prepare Final Record Documents – Per Quality Control Plan
Task A.5: Prepare Sign Costs
Task A.6: Prepare Warranty Plan for Town
Task A.7: Manufacture Signs (Procure Materials and Fabricate Signs)
Task A.8: Signage Fabrication, Complete,Columnar Gateway (G1 = 1 Sign)
Task A.9: Signage Fabrication, Complete, Curved Corner Gateway (G2 = 1 Sign)
Task A.10: Signage Fabrication, Complete, Sculptural “J” Gateway (G2 = 1 Sign)
Task A.11: Signage Fabrication, Complete, Pedestrian Kiosk Sign (P2 = 1 Sign)

• Task B:   Signage Installation:   This task involves installing each of the four (4) Phase 1 signs within the Town of Johnstown, 
as specified per the Bid Documents, Contract provisions, and Town Code.

Task B.1: Town and Consultant Coordination
Task B.2: Site Visit (Confirm Sign Locations, Utilities, Other Installation Site Factors)
Task B.3: Prepare Construction Plan Documents 
Task B.4: Obtain Necessary Permits and Certifications (In Conjunction with Town Staff)    

29

Item #7.



3

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Task B.5: Prepare a “Construction Safety and Phasing Plan” (CSPP) – Including Traffic Control  
Task B.6: Coordinate with Utility, Agency and Service Providers
Task B.7: Removal/Demolition Existing Signs  
Task B.8: Survey and Stake Sign Installation Locations
Task B.9: Coordinate/Contract with Local-Area Contract Suppliers (Materials and Services)  
Task B.10: Signage Support Footings & Electrical Connections
Task B.11: Signage Installation, Complete, Columnar Gateway (G1 = 1 Sign)
Task B.12: Signage Installation, Complete, Curved Corner Gateway (G2 = 1 Sign)
Task B.13: Signage Installation, Complete, Sculptural “J” Gateway (G2 = 1 Sign)
Task B.14: Signage Installation, Complete, Pedestrian Kiosk Sign (P2 = 1 Sign)
Task B.15: Conduct Project Inspections, Punchlist Items, and Project Closeout
Task B.16: Prepare Sign Repair/Maintenance Plan for Town

The Town of Johnstown, Colorado will receive sealed Bids for “Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan - Phase 1 ” until 

2:00 P. M. MST on the 16th day of June, 2023.

Bids may be submitted via one of the following methods:

Email:  Email to the Project Manager Sarah Crosthwaite scrosthwaite@johnstownco.gov and Project Consultant Kristin  

  Cypher at kristin.cypher@mbakerintl.com

Late bids will not be accepted or considered

The Bidding Documents are available on www.rockymountainbidsystem.com and Town of Johnstown website under “Doing 

Business.” Interested bidders are responsible for verifying receipt of all applicable documentation, including any associated 

addenda. The Town of Johnstown cannot guarantee accurate information obtained from sources other than BidNet.

30

Item #7.



4 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

A PRE-BID MEETING will be held VIRTUALLY at 10:30 A. M. MST on the 30th day of May, 2023. The meeting will be held via 

Zoom:

Microsoft Teams Meeting Link: 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_

YjdkZTkzYjUtMmEwMS00ZGMxLTk5ZTEtOWU4MGRiMGM2ZjRl%40thread.v2/0?cont

ext=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%224e1ee3db-4df6-4142-b7b9-bec15f171ca4%22%2c%22Oi

d%22%3a%22b0bad6bf-a442-4cf0-bda5-6b778f72e8ef%22%7d

Meeting ID: 240 369 205 021 

Passcode: fKtXbA 

Join with a video conferencing device: 

mbakerintl@m.webex.com 

Video Conference ID: 116 787 885 4 

Alternate VTC instructions 

 

SCHEDULE OF ACTIVITIES (subject to change)

Event Date

Invitation to Bid Friday, May 26, 2023

Virtual Pre-Bid Meeting Tuesday, May 30, 2023 (10:30am Mountain Time)

Deadline for Questions Monday, June 5, 2023 (5:00pm Mountain Time)

Final Addendum Issued Wednesday, June 7, 2023

Virtual Bid Opening Friday, June 16, 2023 (2:00pm Mountain Time)

Notice of Award (pending final Council approval) Monday, June 19, 2023

Pre-Construction Meeting/Site Walk (tentative) Friday, June 30, 2023

Contract Execution Monday, July 3, 2023

Notice to Proceed Tuesday, July 5, 2023

Substantial Completion of Gateway Feature Monday, August 28, 2023

Construction Completed of Gateway Feature Monday, September 4, 2023

Substantial Completion of Phase 1 Wayfinding Monday, November 20, 2023

Construction Completed of Phase 1 Wayfinding Monday, November 27, 2023

Scan for Microsoft Teams Meeting Link: 

Or call in (audio only): 

+1 412-634-6334,,112528191#   

United States, Pittsburgh 

Phone Conference ID: 112 528 191# 

31

Item #7.



5

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Contact the Project Manager if you anticipate issues with the Microsoft Teams meeting options.

Prospective offerors may submit written inquiries concerning the requirements of this solicitation to Sarah Crosthwaite, via 

BidNet or e-mail (scrosthwaite@johnstownco.gov), before the Deadline for Questions listed above. Bids will be opened and 

publicly read aloud during a VIRTUAL Bid Opening meeting at 2:00 P.M. on the 16th day of June, 2023. The Town will use the 

Microsoft Teams conferencing platform. Bidders can join the meeting via video call or phone call:

Contact the Project Manager if you anticipate issues with the Microsoft Teams options.

The successful Bidder shall provide the Town with a Certificate of Insurance naming the Town of Johnstown as an additional 

insured for all policies required in the General and Special Conditions, and with proof of Workers’ Compensation coverage.

If awarded the Bid, a Performance Bond and a Labor and Material Payment Bond are required, each for the total amount of the 

Contract Price.

No Bidder may withdraw a Bid for a period of thirty days after the date fixed for opening the Bids.

The Town of Johnstown reserves the right to cancel this Invitation to Bid; reject any Bid, in whole or in part; to adjust the 

quantity of Work to be done as mandated by budgetary requirements; and to waive informalities or irregularities in the Bids 

received, when it is in the Town’s best interest to do so.

TOWN OF Johnstown

Sarah Crosthwaite, Project Manager

Microsoft Teams Meeting Link: 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_

ZDU1NjdlNWEtYzAxZi00MzVmLWE2N2UtNGUyNGQ0MmJmMzQ1%40thread.

v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%224e1ee3db-4df6-4142-b7b9-bec15f171ca4

%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22b0bad6bf-a442-4cf0-bda5-6b778f72e8ef%22%7d

Meeting ID: 244 074 109 759 

Passcode: DbKZsm

Join with a video conferencing device: 

mbakerintl@m.webex.com 

Video Conference ID: 112 789 975 2

Alternate VTC instructions 

Or call in (audio only): 

+1 412-634-6334,,351834731#   

United States, Pittsburgh 

Phone Conference ID: 351 834 731#

Scan for Microsoft Teams Meeting Link: 

32

Item #7.



6 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

INSTRUCTIONS FOR BIDDERS

SUBMISSION OF BIDS

Sealed Bids will be received by the means listed in the Invitation to Bid. Timely delivery of Bids is the Bidder’s responsibility and 

Bids received after the time and date indicated in the Invitation to Bid will not be accepted.

Oral, hand delivered, telephone or fax Bids are invalid and will not receive consideration. On occasion, an exception to this 

procedure may be made. The Project Manager may make an exception under extreme circumstances, in the Manager’s sole 

discretion.

No Bid alterations or interlineations will be permitted, unless made before submission and initialed and dated. If initialed, the 

Town may require the Bidder to identify the alteration so initialed.

BIDDING DOCUMENTS

The following documents constitute the Bidding Documents for this project:

1. Invitation to Bid

2. Instructions for Bidders

3. Bid Guarantee

4. Bidder’s Qualifications and Data

5. Subcontractors and Related Data

6. Bid Proposal

7. Bid Schedule

8. Drawings/Plans/Designs (the Wayfinding Plan - Phase 1, a separate document)

9. Google Earth Project File (cloud-based, included in the Wayfinding Plan - Phase 1)

10. Addenda (if any; upon issuance)

The Bidder will download the Bidding Documents as directed in the Invitation to Bid. All forms associated with, bound with, or 

attached to the Bidding Documents are a necessary part thereof and must not be detached.

The Bidding Documents will state the location and description of the proposed Work and will show the estimate of the various 

quantities of work to be performed and materials to be furnished, the time in which the work must be completed, the amount 

of the Bid Guarantee (which must accompany the Bid) and the date and time of the opening of the Bids. It will also state any 

special provisions or requirements, which vary from or are not contained in the General Conditions.

33

Item #7.



7

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

ADDITIONAL BID DETAILS

Persons Submitting Bids: Each Bid must contain the full name(s) and U.S. Postal Service mailing address of the Bidder(s), and any 

person signing any Bid as agent of another, or of a firm, must furnish legal evidence of authority to do so.

A person who submits a Bid and affixes “President,” “Secretary,” “Agent,” or other designation to his or her signature, without 

disclosing the principal, may be personally held to the Bid.

The Town will not consider more than one Bid from an individual, firm, partnership, or corporation under the same or different 

names. Evidence that any Bidder is interested in more than one Bid for the same work will be cause for rejection of all such Bids. 

Collusion between the Bidders will be considered sufficient cause for the rejection of all affected Bids. A party quoting prices 

to a Bidder is not thereby disqualified from quoting prices to other Bidders or from submitting a direct Bid on the Bidder’s own 

behalf.

Bid Pricing: All prices shall be stated in words and numbers except where the forms provide for numbers only. Use of the 

provided bid schedule in MS Excel spreadsheet format is acceptable.

Unit Price Bid Schedule: When the Town requests Unit Prices, the Bidder shall fully complete the schedule of unit prices 

included in the bid schedule.

When the Town includes an additional amount on the bid schedule for minor contract revisions and the Town has estimated bid 

quantities on the schedule, bidders shall include that additional amount in the total Bid price.

The total of all the unit prices bid multiplied by the estimated quantity of each item shall be the total Bid price. The Town will 

pay for the final measured, used, or delivered quantities at unit prices in the Bid.

Discrepancies: In the event of a difference between extended price and unit price of the bid schedule, the unit price governs.

Modifications:  Modifications to Bids already submitted will be allowed if received prior to the time specified in the Invitation 

to Bid. Modifications shall be submitted as such, and shall not reveal the total amount of either the original or revised Bids. The 

modifications shall be submitted via BidNet or in writing and shall be signed in the same manner and by the same person(s) 

who signed the Proposal.

Withdrawal of Proposal: A Bidder may withdraw a Bid at any time prior to the time Bids are to be opened, via BidNet or by 

written request of the Bidder. Any such request shall be signed in the same manner as, and by the same person(s) who signed 

the Bid Proposal.

Alternate Bids: Whenever Alternate Bids are called for specifying the use of several different classes of materials or types of 

improvements for the same work, all Bidders are requested to submit prices for use of each of the several classes of materials or 

34

Item #7.



8 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

types of improvements as specified.  The material to be used or the type of improvement to be adopted will be selected 

by the Town after the Bids have been opened and read. Unless otherwise specifically provided in the specifications for the 

improvement, Bids shall be made upon each and every item shown on the blank Bid Schedule.

Variation in Estimated Quantities: The Contractor must reasonably expect a variation in the estimated quantities from the 

actual quantities and no claims will be allowed for anticipated profits, for loss of profits or for damage of any sort because of 

a difference between the estimate of any item and the amount of the item actually required. The Town reserves the right to 

eliminate items from the Bid Schedule when the Town deems it in its best interest.

Cost of Bid Preparation: The total cost of bid preparation and submission shall be assumed by the Contractor.

Taxes: The Town of Johnstown is exempt from paying sales or use taxes. Materials and equipment purchased solely for Town 

projects, that will become a permanent part of the final project, are tax exempt. The Town will furnish its tax-exempt number, in 

lieu of requiring the Contractor and subcontractors to obtain their own certificates of exemption from the

Colorado State Department of Revenue. Contractors and all subcontractors purchasing materials tax exempt must disclose the 

nature of the Town’s project, the Town’s purchase order, and then provide the Town’s tax-exempt number to the supplier.

FAMILIARIZATION WITH THE WORK AND SITE CONDITIONS

Before submitting Bids, prospective Bidders shall familiarize themselves with the work, the site where the work is to be 

performed, local labor conditions and all laws, regulations and other factors affecting performance of the work. Bidders shall 

carefully correlate their observations with requirements of the Contract and otherwise satisfy themselves as to the expense 

and difficulties attending performance of the work. The submission of a Bid constitutes a representation of compliance by the 

Bidder. There will be no subsequent financial adjustment for lack of such familiarization.

Site Conditions: Bidders shall visit the site of the work and completely inform themselves relative to construction hazards 

and procedures, the availability of lands, the character and quantity of surface and sub-surface materials, and utilities to be 

encountered, the arrangement and condition of existing structures and facilities, the procedures necessary for maintenance of 

uninterrupted operation of existing sewers and other utilities, the character of construction equipment and facilities needed for 

performance of the work, and facilities for transportation, handling, and storage of materials and equipment. All such factors 

shall be properly investigated and considered in the preparation of Bids.

REQUESTS FOR EXPLANATION

Bidders should immediately notify the Town of any discrepancies in or omissions from the Drawings or Specifications, so 

that the Project Manager can publish an Addendum in response. Any Bidder may submit a written request for explanation 

or correction of any part of the Bidding or Contract Documents, as directed in the Invitation to Bid. Questions and points of 

clarification are requested to be submitted via BidNet or email when possible. The deadline for submitting such requests 

is detailed in the Invitation to Bid and/or Special Conditions. The Project Manager will also field phone calls, but written 

communication is preferred. Oral explanations and interpretations made prior to the Bid Opening will not be binding.

35

Item #7.



9

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

ADDENDA

Any explanations or corrections to the Bidding Documents shall be furnished to all Bidders as Addenda via BidNet and the 

Town’s website. Final Addenda issuance shall be as directed in the Invitation to Bid and/or the Special Conditions. All Bidders 

shall acknowledge receipt of Addenda in the Bid Proposal form.

If there is to be a postponed Bid Opening, this will be communicated on BidNet as an Addendum (and an automatically 

generated notification will be sent to all who downloaded the original Bidding Documents).

BID GUARANTEE

Each Bid shall be accompanied by a Bid Guarantee (typically a Bid Bond) as directed in the Invitation to Bid. No Bid will be 

considered unless accompanied by the Bid Guarantee. No personal or business checks will be accepted as Bid Guarantees.

When Alternate Bids are called for, providing for the use of several different classes of materials or types of improvements for 

the same work, one Bid Guarantee in the amount of five percent of the total amount of the highest Bid will be sufficient for all 

Bids.

The Bid Guarantee of the Bidder(s) to whom a contract award is made may be returned when the successful Bidder executes a 

contract and files a Labor and Material Payment Bond, a Performance Bond, and any other documents required by the Notice 

of Award. The Bid Guarantee of the next three ranked responsible Bidders may be retained for a period not to exceed 45 days 

and may be returned after the execution of the Construction Contract and bonds by the successful Bidder. The Bid Guarantee 

of all other Bidders may be returned after the contract is awarded. However, Bid Bond surety forms provided with the Bid 

will not be returned unless specifically requested by the Bidder. Certified Checks (or other forms of bid securities used as Bid 

Guarantees) may be returned immediately following the Bid Opening, at the discretion of the Project Manager, to those who 

are not apparent low Bidders.

If the successful Bidder fails to enter into a contract according to the Bidder’s accepted Bid or fails to furnish the required bonds 

within ten calendar days from Notice of Award, or by such time as modified by Special Conditions, the Bid Guarantee shall be 

forfeited to the Town of Johnstown as liquidated damages.

The next responsible Bid shall then be considered the successful Bid and, at the discretion of the Town, the contract may be 

awarded to the Bidder submitting that Bid.

 

BONDS

Bonds shall be executed on a form acceptable to the Town, as specified in the General Conditions, by a corporate bonding 

company licensed to do business in the State of Colorado and acceptable as Surety to the Town. The forms must be 

countersigned by the Colorado agent.

A “Power of Attorney” authorizing the attorney-in-fact to bind the Surety company and certified to include the date of the bond 

shall accompany the bond.

36

Item #7.



10 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

The Performance Bond and Labor and Material Payment Bond must remain in full force and effect during the entire period of 

the guarantee.

The successful Bidder shall give a Performance Bond equal to the amount of the Contract Price. The Performance Bond shall 

guarantee: (a) the faithful performance and completion of the work in strict accordance with the terms of the Contract, and 

each and every covenant, condition and part thereof, according to the true intent and meaning of the Contract Documents, as 

defined in the Contract and (b) the repair or replacement where required, or the cost thereof, for a period of two years after 

the issuance of the Notice of Construction Acceptance or until all warranty work is completed, whichever occurs last, of all work 

performed under the Contract.

A separate Labor and Material Payment Bond equal to the amount of the Contract Price is required to ensure the payments of 

laborers, materialmen, suppliers, and subcontractors in connection with the work performed under the Contract and to satisfy 

the requirements of §38- 26-105 and 38-26-106, C.R.S., as amended.

The Town of Johnstown reserves the right to waive bond requirements if permitted by statute. In the event the Performance 

or Labor and Material Payment Bonds are waived, cost of the bonds shall be reflected as a deduction from the total Bid Price, 

when so indicated on the Bid Form. There will be a Unit Price deduction for the waiver indicated on the Bid Schedule, when 

necessary.

OPENING OF BIDS

Bids will be opened publicly and read aloud virtually at the time, date, and place set in the Invitation to Bid. Bids received after 

the time specified in the Invitation to Bid shall be returned unopened. Bid openings will be public and all Bidders are welcome 

to attend the virtual opening. Bidders or their authorized agents are invited to examine any Bid after opening.

EXAMINATION OF BIDS

All Bids submitted shall be made available for examination by interested parties within a reasonable time following the Bid 

Opening. All information in the submitted Bid will be available for public scrutiny, unless the Bidder specifically requests 

confidential treatment of some or all of its commercial data. Requests for confidentiality shall be in writing, and the portions of 

the commercial data for which confidentiality is requested shall be clearly identified.

Procurement information shall be a public record to the extent provided by Article 24.72, C.R.S., as amended, and shall be 

available to the public as provided in the statute.

The Final Bid Price and the means by which that price was determined are not commercial data and may not be included in any 

request for confidentiality.

37

Item #7.



11

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

EVALUATION OF BIDS

Town Discretion: The Town reserves the right to cancel the Invitation to Bid; reject any Bid, in whole or in part; to adjust the 

quantity of Work to be done as mandated by budgetary requirements; and to waive informalities or irregularities in the Bids 

received; when it is in the Town’s best interest to do so.

The Town of Johnstown reserves the right to accept the Bid which in the opinion of the Town will best suit the Town’s purpose.  

This may not be the lowest bid received.

Contracts will be awarded only to responsible Bidders capable of performing the class of work contemplated. The Bidder 

shall furnish a complete statement of the Bidder’s experience and of the amount of capital and equipment available for the 

proposed work on the Bidder’s Qualification and Data form.

Irregular Bids:  Bids may be rejected if they show any omission, alteration of form, additions not called for, conditional Alternate 

Bids, or irregularities of any kind which, in the opinion of the Town, tend to make the Bid indefinite or ambiguous. The Town will 

reject bid schedules with prices which are obviously unbalanced, in the Town’s determination.

Collusion: Bids will be rejected if there is reason for believing that collusion exists among the Bidders. Participants in such 

collusion are subject to suspension and debarment.

Pre-Qualification of Bidders: For certain projects, the Town may require potential bidders to submit information regarding 

the bidders’ qualifications in addition to the Bidder’s Qualification and Data. The requirement for such information will be 

identified in the Invitation to Bid or elsewhere in the Bid Documents. Any information requested by or on file with the Town 

may be used to qualify or disqualify potential bidders.

Prior to the Award of Contract, the Town will notify the Bidder in writing if the Town, after due investigation, has reasonable 

objection to any person or organization on such list. If the Town, in its sole discretion, has a reasonable objection to any person 

or organization on such list, and refuses in writing to accept such person or organization, the Bidder shall submit an acceptable 

substitute Subcontractor, at no additional cost to the Town.

AWARD OF CONTRACT

Any or all Bids may be rejected or informalities in bids may be waived at the option of the Town.

The award of the Contract is contingent upon securing an acceptable Bid which will fall within the amount of funds available 

for construction of the project, or the acquisition of contracted services.  The final award is also contingent upon Town Council 

approval of the recommended bidder.

A Bid may be rejected if, in the judgment of the Town, the Bidder does not comply with or meet the criteria defined in one or 

more of the following factors:

38

Item #7.



12 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

1. The ability, capacity and skill of the Bidder to perform the Contract or provide the services required.

2. The ability of the Bidder to perform the Contract or provide the service promptly or within the time specified, without 

delay or interference.

3. The character, integrity, reputation, judgment, experience and efficiency of the Bidder, to be determined at the sole and 

absolute discretion of the Town.

4. The quality of performance on previous Town contracts or services. Failure on the part of any Bidder to carry out a previous 

contract satisfactorily shall be deemed sufficient cause for disqualification.  Provided references will be contacted.

5. The experience of the Bidder and the availability of equipment necessary to complete the current project. Sufficient cause 

for disqualification of the Bidder will exist if, in the Town’s opinion, the Bidder does not have adequate experience or 

equipment to properly perform the Work under the Contract.

6. The sufficiency of the financial resources and ability of the Bidder to perform the Contract or provide the service.

7. The quality, availability, and adaptability of the supplies or contractual services to the particular use required.

8. The ability of the Bidder to provide future maintenance and service for the use of the subject of the contract.

9. Debarment or suspension pursuant to a prior Town determination.

NOTE:  There will be a local preference given to firms located within the Town of Johnstown.

ACCEPTANCY OF BIDS AND ITS EFFECT

The Town will act upon the Bids with reasonable promptness after the opening of the Bids. The acceptance of a Bid will be a 

written Notice of Award signed by the duly authorized representative of the Town. No other act of the Town shall be necessary 

to constitute acceptance of a Bid. The acceptance of a Bid binds the successful Bidder to execute the required Construction 

Contract and take all action necessary to fulfill the Contract.

REQUIREMENTS FOLLOWING NOTICE OF AWARD

The successful Bidder shall, within ten calendar days of receiving the Notice of Award, or by such time as modified by the 

Special Conditions, execute the Construction Contract and furnish the Performance Bond and the Material and Labor Payment 

Bond. Acceptance of the Contract shall be subject to approval by the Town.

Unless previously requested or waived by the Project Manager, the successful Bidder shall also submit the following 

information to the Town’s Project Manager within ten calendar days of receiving the Notice of Award:

1. A designation of the work to be performed by the Bidder with the Bidder’s own forces.

2. The proprietary names and the suppliers of principal items or systems of material and equipment proposed for the work.

3. A proposed schedule of construction and estimated monthly payments.

4. The Bidder will be required to establish to the satisfaction of the Town, the reliability and responsibility of the proposed 

Subcontractors to furnish and perform the Work described in the Sections of the Specifications pertaining to such 

proposed Subcontractor’s respective trade.

5. Certificate(s) of Insurance naming the Town of Johnstown as an additional insured for all policies required in the General 

and Special Conditions, and with proof of Workers’ Compensation coverage.

39

Item #7.



13

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

DAMAGES FOR FAILURE TO EXECUTE

Any Bidder whose Bid is accepted will be required to execute the Contract and furnish the Performance Bond and Material and 

Labor Payment Bond within ten days after written notice that the Contract has been awarded to the Bidder, or by such time as 

modified by Special Conditions. Failure to do so shall constitute a breach of the Contract effected by the acceptance of the Bid.

The damages to the Town for such breach will include loss from interference with the construction program and other items, 

the monetary values of which will be difficult or impossible to quantify. Where required, the amount of the Bid Guarantee 

accompanying the Bid shall be retained by the Town as reasonable liquidated damages and not as a penalty for such breach.

The Town is authorized, the same as if the Bid Guarantee or Bid contained an expressed stipulation to that effect, to cause 

such work to be done, or complete the work in-house, or contract with some other Contractor to do so, and/or compute the 

difference between actual cost to the Town of such improvements and the sum which it would cost if the defaulting Bidder

complied with the Bid.

RIGHT TO INSPECT

The Town may, at reasonable times, inspect the part of the plant, place of business or worksite of the Bidder or the Bidder’s 

subcontractors at any tier which is pertinent to the performance of the award of the Contract.

BID PROCESS SUBJECT TO PURCHASING CODE

Bidding shall be conducted subject to state statutes and the Town of Johnstown Municipal Code and ordinances.

LAWS TO BE OBEYED

Bidders shall familiarize themselves with the provisions of the laws of the State of Colorado and the Federal Government, and 

with all local laws and all regulations made which are pertinent to the proposed work and shall comply with the same.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, age, 

sex, gender identity, sexual orientation, or national origin, or other reason prohibited by applicable federal, state or local law, 

ordinance or regulation. The Contractor shall abide by all federal laws in effect during the Contract period which govern Equal 

Opportunity Employment.

LOCAL LABOR AND MATERIALS

Preference shall be given to employment of Colorado labor pursuant to §8-17-101 and 102, C.R.S., as amended.

Pursuant to statutory authority, preference shall be given to materials, supplies, and provisions produced, manufactured, or 

grown in Colorado, quality being equal to articles offered by competitor outside the state (§8-18-101 through 103, C.R.S., as 

amended).

40

Item #7.



14 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

TIME OF COMPLETION

TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE and the Bidder agrees to complete the project within the stated time, as defined in the Construction 

Contract. The Bidder also agrees to comply with all completion dates specified in the Bidding and Contract Documents.

41

Item #7.



15

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

BIDDER’S QUALIFICATIONS AND DATA

The signatory of this Statement guarantees the truth and accuracy of all statements and of answers to all questions herein. All 

questions must be answered clearly and comprehensively. If necessary, separate sheets may be attached. The Bidder may 

submit additional information. Failure to complete and return this Statement may render a bid non-responsive.

Name of Bidding Firm:

Main Office Address:

Phone:

Fax #:

The Bidder is organized as a (corporation/partnership/other):

In the state of:

Bidder’s federal tax identification number (TIN):

General character of work performed by your organization and brief history of operations:

Does your firm have an officer, director, or agent or is also an officer or employee of the Town of Johnstown?

YES  NO 

Are there any Town of Johnstown agents of employees who own, directly or indirectly an interest in the bidder’s firm or any of 

its branches?

YES  NO 

Bonding Limit: $

Bonding Company:

Phone #:

Address:

The Town has a right to request financial statement(s) and other relevant information.  Are you willing to submit such information 

at the Town’s request?

YES  NO 

Submitted By:

Date:

42

Item #7.



16 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

(Person Submitting Bid)

QUALIFICATIONS

How many years have you been in business under your present firm or trade name?

Under other names?

Have you or your organization, or any office or partner thereof, failed to complete a contract?

YES  NO 

Within the last five years, has your organization been assessed liquidated damages for failing to complete a contract within the 

time specified?

YES  NO 

Has your organization been assessed any penalties for non-compliance violations of the Federal or State Labor laws and/or 

regulations within the last five years?

YES  NO 

Does your organization have any outstanding judgments, demands, or liens resulting from violating State Labor laws, Colorado 

Revised Statutes, Civil or Criminal decisions?

YES  NO 

Have there been any suits, liens, or surety claims against you or your organization over the past five years for non-payment of 

sums due subcontractors or suppliers for work completed?

YES  NO 

Has your organization been cited for violations of OSHA standards and requirements within the past five years?

YES  NO 

Is either the Bidder or its principals presently debarred, suspended, proposed for disbarment, declared ineligible, or 

voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any department or agency?

YES  NO 

Have you ever been debarred or suspended by a government from consideration for the award of contracts?

YES  NO 

Please explain all questions answered “yes” in the section above on a separate sheet of paper. Include where and why, if 

applicable. Note that your answers do not necessarily disqualify your bid. For example, it is not uncommon for contractors of 

large projects to be charged liquidated damages in certain cases.

43

Item #7.



17

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

FIRM BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE

Total number of employees:

Total number of licensed professionals:

Proposed Superintendent:

Title:

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

Principals

List directors, officers, owners, managerial employees, or partners, and identify the ownership interest of each:

Experience

List the experience of the principal members of your organization. If preferred, resumes may be submitted in lieu of form entry

Name:

Title:

Background/Years of Experience:

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

Name:

Title:

Background/Years of Experience:

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

Name:

Title:

Background/Years of Experience:

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

44

Item #7.



18 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Similar Projects

List three projects of similar scope and budget to this project that your organization has performed work on:

Project Name:

Cost:

Location:

Reference Name:

Phone:

Project Name:

Cost:

Location:

Reference Name:

Phone:

Project Name:

Cost:

Location:

Reference Name:

Phone:

Contract(s) on Hand

List projects your organization is undertaking that will be concurrent with the Town’s bid schedule. Include the anticipated 

completion date.

Project Name:

Schedule

Cost:

Location:

Subcontractor or Prime:

Completion Date:

Project Name:

Schedule

Cost:

Location:

Subcontractor or Prime:

Completion Date:

45

Item #7.



19

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

SUBCONTRACTORS AND RELATED DATA

For each Subcontractor to be utilized, please provide the following information (use additional sheets as necessary). Please 

indicate what percentage of the Work to be assigned.

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

46

Item #7.



20 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

BID PROPOSAL

PROJECT: Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan - Phase 1

In compliance with the Invitation to Bid, and subject to all conditions thereof, the undersigned: [Select one]

[Enter name if corporation]

a corporation incorporated in the State of

OR

a partnership or limited partnership, registered in the State of

whose general partner(s) is/are:

[Enter name(s) of partner(s) if partnership]

OR

a sole proprietor, whose trade name is

[Enter if sole proprietor]

based in the Town/City of

State of

offers this Bid Proposal for the construction of all items listed at the prices shown on the following bid schedule.

(The attached bid schedule lists the various divisions of construction contemplated in the Plans and Specifications, together 

with an estimate of the units of each. With these units as the basis, extend each item, using the cost inserted in the unit column. 

Any total cost found inconsistent with the unit cost when the Bids are examined will be deemed in error and corrected to 

agree with the unit cost. Alternate Bids are optional).

The undersigned Bidder declares and stipulates that this Bid is made in good faith, without collusion or connection with any 

other person or persons bidding for the same Work, and that it is made subject to all the terms and conditions of the Invitation 

to Bid, Instructions for Bidders, Construction Contract, General Conditions, Special Conditions, the Technical Specifications, and 

the Plans pertaining to the Work to be done, all of which have examined by the undersigned.

Accompanying this Bid is a Bid Guarantee for 5% of the total Bid amount according to the Invitation to Bid and Instructions for 

Bidders.

47

Item #7.



21

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

The undersigned Bidder agrees to execute the Construction Contract, a Performance Bond and a Labor and Material Payment 

Bond within ten calendar days from the date when the written Notice of Award is delivered at the address given on this Bid 

Proposal. The Performance Bond and Labor and Material Payment Bond shall each be for the amount of the total of this Bid.

The name and address of the corporate surety through which the Bidder proposes to furnish the specified Bonds is as follows: 

[Enter name and address of surety]

The submission of the Bid constitutes an agreement, and it shall not be withdrawn after the Bid Opening for a period of thirty 

days.

All the various phases of work enumerated in the Contract with individual jobs and overhead, whether specifically mentioned 

or not, are included by implication or appurtenance in the Contract. The Contractor shall perform all the various phases of work 

under one of the items listed in the bid schedule, irrespective of whether it is named in the schedule.

Payment for the Work performed will be according to the bid schedule, subject to changes as provided in the Contract.

The undersigned Bidder hereby acknowledges receipt of addenda numbers       through       [Enter addenda numbers]

Initials

The undersigned, being familiar with the existing conditions on the project area affecting the cost of the Work, the Bidding 

Documents and the Contract Documents, and having verified the quantities and the availability of materials and labor, 

hereby proposes to furnish all supervision, labor, materials, machinery, tools, appurtenances, equipment, supplies, and 

services, including utility and transportation service required to construct and complete the Project listed above, according 

to the Contract, within the time specified, and at the prices stated below. These prices are to cover all expenses incurred in 

performing the Work required under the Contract of which this Bid is a part.

(The approximate quantities of Work to be completed in-place under the Contract are identified in the bid schedule and are 

for the purpose of comparing Bids. These quantities have been Town of Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan - Phase 

1 estimated and the quantities used are for the general information of the Bidder, representing the major items of the Work to 

be done. Minor details are not listed but shall be part of the complete Contract).

The undersigned agrees to hold firm the Bid for thirty days for the purpose of the Town reviewing the Bids and investigating 

the qualifications of the Bidders prior to award of Contract. Extensions of time may be made if mutually agreed upon.

The undersigned hereby authorizes and requests any person, firm or corporation to furnish any information requested by the 

Town of Johnstown in verification of the recitals in this statement.

48

Item #7.



22 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

This proposal is submitted by:

[Enter Bidder name]

By:

Title:

Date:

STATE OF     )

     ) ss:

COUNTY OF     )

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this __________ day of ____________________, 2023, by 

______________________________, as _____________________________ of ______________________________. (If by 

natural person or persons, insert name or names; if by person acting in representative or official capacity or as attorney-in-fact, 

insert name of person as an executor, attorney-in-fact, or other capacity or description; if by officer of corporation, insert name 

of such officer or officers as the President or other officers of such corporation, naming it.)

Witness my hand and official seal.

My Commission

       Notary Public

49

Item #7.



23

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

BID SCHEDULE

Task # Pay Item  # Description

Town and Consultant 
Coordination

Prepare Sign Manufacturing   
Report Specifications (Electric 
and Non-Electric Signs)

Prepare Sign Shop Drawings

Prepare Final Record 
Documents – Per Quality 
Control Plan

Prepare Sign Costs

Prepare Warranty Plan for 
Town

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Columnar Gateway 
(G1)

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Curved Corner 
Gateway (G2)

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Sculptural “J” 
Gateway (G2)

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Pedestrian Kiosk 
(P2)

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

A.1

A.2

A.3

A.4

A.5

A.6

A.7

A.8

A.9

A.10

01

02

03

04

05

06

08

09

10

11

LS

LS

LS

LS

LS

LS

EA

EA

EA

EA

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Quantity Unit Unit Value in $ Total Value in $

PROJECT NUMBER TBD PROJECT NAME Johnstown Wayfinding Signage Master Plan 
- Phase 1 Installation Project

Bid Advertisement 
Date

May 26, 2023 Bid Opening Date Friday, June 16, 2023

Task A:  Signage Fabrication

50

Item #7.



24 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

BID SCHEDULE (continued)

PROJECT NUMBER TBD PROJECT NAME Johnstown Wayfinding Signage Master Plan 
- Phase 1 Installation Project

Bid Advertisement 
Date

May 26, 2023 Bid Opening Date Friday, June 16, 2023

Task # Pay Item  # Description

Town and Consultant 
Coordination

Site Visit (Confirm Sign 
Locations, Utilities, Other 
Installation Site Factors)

Prepare Construction Plan 
Documents 

Obtain Necessary Permits and 
Certifications (In Conjunction 
with Town Staff)    

Prepare a “Construction Safety 
and Phasing Plan” (CSPP) – 
Including Traffic Control  

Coordinate with Utility, Agency 
and Service Providers

Removal/Demolition Existing 
Signs  

Survey and Stake Sign 
Installation Locations

Coordinate/Contract with 
Local-Area Contract Suppliers 
(Materials and Services)  

Signage Support Footings & 
Electrical Connections

Signage Installation, Complete, 
Columnar Gateway (G1)

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

B.1

B.2

B.3

B.4

B.5

B.6

B.7

B.8

B.9

B.10

B.11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

LS

LS

LS

LS

LS

LS

LS

LS

LS

LS

EA

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Quantity Unit Unit Value in $ Total Value in $

Task B:  Signage Installation

51

Item #7.



25

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

BID SCHEDULE (continued)

TOTAL BID: $

PROJECT NUMBER TBD PROJECT NAME Johnstown Wayfinding Signage Master Plan 
- Phase 1 Installation Project

Bid Advertisement 
Date

May 26, 2023 Bid Opening Date Friday, June 16, 2023

Task # Pay Item  # Description

Signage Installation, Complete, 
Curved Corner Gateway (G2)

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Sculptural “J” 
Gateway (G2)

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Pedestrian Kiosk 
(P2)

Conduct Project Inspections, 
Punchlist Items, and Project 
Closeout

Prepare Sign Repair/
Maintenance Plan for Town 

1

1

1

1

1

B.12

B.13

B.14

B.15

B.16

23

24

25

26

27

EA

EA

EA

LS

LS

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Quantity Unit Unit Value in $ Total Value in $

Task B:  Signage Installation (continued)

52

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown 
Wayfinding Plan
Phase 1

Prepared for the Town of Johnstown, Colorado

May 2023

Auto Directional - 4”  Text  (25 MPH)

Eddie
Aragon
Park

Historic 
Downtown
District

Library &
Civic Center

53

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Purpose of the Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan

Project Context & Background

 01 Phase 1 Signage & Wayfinding Quantity/Type Overview

 02 Messaging & Location Plan

Signage Designs

 03 Phase 1 Signage Designs

 04 Construction Specifications

Exhibits

 05 Color, Typography & Artwork

 

 

 

Downtown 
Johnstown Signage 
& Wayfinding 
Master Plan
Phase 1

54

Item #7.



que qui occupta quo ellaniet omnim iliciet, suntur aliqui dolupta es 
imillac eprest que conetusam, essimus danduciatis magnam, id quis 
estis dolo torrupt ioratem porumet aut lab ium voloris aut aspit, aut 
exernam, unt il exceped magnatquam qui conectus dolesseque vi-
dunt et re pelento tendae. Aximusto mil et vidit volent ex everum re, 
omnis qui tem qui ommoles est pres sitet invendis mod ea plibeat 
perem estem facepre cupta sus et molorro eos doluptur?

Tem quam nisquatur magnimet faccum quia sunturios maiores 
nonem in essitatur aliquam aborunt.

Aturerum et lique offic to molor senducia dundiciendi bla nimpore 
excerit pa simincia qui dolorruptam, quamusc itatibus andi int ipsum 
que nus et, tem is minum alique vel modis sendae verferferum audit 
lam aut ium illicil imus el mo voluptatias deligenectum ex ea pre lat 
qui odignis dolorem facerfe rferum late plia adisto berions enimus.

Vellautae veligendi dicius el et fugit eos quam fugit, sita volorestem 
audaepudam faccus as ab ipictionet int es dus rehenim oloratemo 
illuptaerae doluptatum voluptas eumquis voluptur?

Itassed ex eum es as rersped ex et audipide sitatia quiaspe rrovit pro 
te dolupta debis et apis et elest facientibusa nonsequo comniam 
volupis trumet hilluptiati dolent dolorum quam, quis eosam facea-
quam, odist velesedis qui re offic te viditi tota dolor as demquo 
deliquam ut enem quis neste con rest, si aut aut doluptatur, ipsam 
simagnim cum sit fugiti quis ipsus re dessit eicid quis etusam et fugi-
ta pro cupis duntinvenis aute solumquae dolor minctur itaquia ece-
pele sserspelis vel maximagnam faceruptas auda voluptatur, nime 
odignih illest reptati venimin endelenis aligendit quiam sitiis ex expe 
nobis ad mi, cuptae et ligendu cipicidemque con paribus, cum 
inulparci accuscit magnam fuga. Vereri re prepre culpa aci ium qui 
dolupta spitis re quam elibus ex es molume simodicidi bea cullorate 
nimporesequi sinusda sitius eum sit, ipit adio. Et eum quo es veles 
ius iur? Obis audaerion pore voluptatus, occaestibus et laudam, 
vollorest, tempore vent officab id maioreperore nonsenientem dem 
rem fugitis sitate labor apedios volor molupidios dolupta temque 
digniaspel mo que conecto omnim inis volende bitatureium exerovi 
tiuntia volore est labo. Et quis volor sum ameture ruptaque rem 
fugiam audit voleseq uatus, ut dernam alitiur, sapidest, si dolor am 
qui dolorion consequam aut que volum a dolorat ectorepratur se 
etusciu ntibusape venis reped essitae et int, omnim sequae vel mil-
igenis inum aut estrum fuga. Tio. Nam vellorisimet arum ium, temo 
et rem eos volut ut et explit excearios et veliquo maios apis il id quid 

quias eveles qui volorrum et venisqui nus reprovid quassed quis 
quatibus, quodis abo. Nempernatat pedita pe cus, utatur, voluptat 
quo id quatem veliqui atissimi, corisitas eumet quatur auditat empo-
res ciatint quiderrum aspe eate voluptat plibusda samusae reperib 
earibus est la que nonserat.

Epere laudaepel moditio ratibus venim aute laciate peribea simet ex 
et aspidel lupitamus ut landemperia voluptat.

Ent. Ris magnatem qui tet et esciae prateca borent voluptas audam 
sim ab idelisti dolo ilitaturis cone perum quam consequate perna-
tiore culluptasped quae eturia nati to in rem dolo ex es ea ventiam, 
te soluptur?

Pernatem quiduntesti alique eum et pressi bea dolorec uptata pa 
num lam aut atiunti bearum fugitist ant volestiaerum nulparum fugia 
dus as et in porianis sequi rectem quatquodi aut mos molorio offi-
citaest explici minimus cum di occabo. Ugiam veressi moditasperro 
beris volluptat ipicias si delibeatur adigenistiis quist magnimpor 
magnita turiam, enecabo. Faccabo. Ruptam nullaccae num quatem 
et rem adi voloreicipis same dicae pel millab incid earchic ieture et 
et erum quamenim vendi omnihita doloressit quia ius apisquidenda 
quidelent.

Sed millecae cumquia idipiciae aboreic iissum sincipient mos volup-
tis nusam volut aut haris ressunt iuscia pra nihitat usanduciam estrum 
dest, ipiciae por resciet vel illature, idusam volores am volestiori adi 
aceped magnatiunt eatus.

Tur? Litate earchitios excea sandi beatemq uidipsum sima doloribeat 
modissit, nonsent, nihici blaut occus ratestota dolorit atures dolupti 
qui idit doleser spiciati berum im dolores tisinum essimilici cuptati 
isitiorem. Itatque ex elis illoreribus et poribus doluptate velectus, od 
quasim am faces simporatem res alibus inctecaest, iur, sandel in re 
optibust, non porati andam, ommo qui cori autem ut voluptae lan-
dae mo ea nimusa deleniaerit issus evelluptatus est, ut unt a sim quo 
est, sim consequam alitatur restinusapis cum rem laborior aceseque 
quas id ute voluptium non porehendae rem eosae eosa seque vo-
luptatem. Sa de est qui occatur, et exeri vel mi, alitatum etur? Tur aut 
laccus molupta sperferum intiumqui cor sunt.

ODICI UT QUIS SAPIT UTEMPOS VOLESEQUI
Imi, cus maximusapis peditib ustrum volorum ex et volorrum com-
nitatur? Tis sandiae odis inullorro ipsa delesciis mo te erio. Nempor 
ate seditius et apellori rem eumquam ium inienis rerios debisquis 
quiaturepera diti omnia niscius amenem corepero incte nonectur?

Omniendae nimolup taestor 

Eehenime prestia niet aceatia quo eiumendandam aut essundi 
atioresto velectio doluptam eum que dolum laborest, volorem en-
dandi cus. Ut int alicid elendam sit qui archiciandis est eatia am que 
nima quasped ma que acepell uptatur?

Upta de optur re, ommodion cum esto magnihicitae provitia vo-
luptat aut libus, sum eture etur arum volorrore nistempos rem 
dipsant abor modio mil maximpost in nullupt assunt prore dolup-
tis rehenet dis explacc usandae ceatur, quundae strunt dolupta 
spienestio eaturion rectem volo tempore rfernatqui nim quidit utem 
abor susdaepuda quisquatet audae non eos moluptat ommolores 
verspicto derum ex explian destia quat aut laudaersped estrum 
fugitat faccus.

Natquam qui tem entiis alitatur abo. Itat plit laciature re simet quatur 
sam am earis dolorepudae con non culparc hilique nus sunte san-
ditam quam et quiandi sequossunt officim sedistion nienis imolore, 

3Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

Help direct residents and visitors to destinations within 
Downtown Johnstown

Identify the style, quantity and type of signage needed in 
Downtown Johnstown

Outline the costs and resources needed to implement the new 
branding, signage & wayfinding designs

Purpose & Goals of the Signage & Wayfinding Plan Master Plan

55

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide4

01
Phase 1 Signage & 
Wayfinding Quantity/
Type Overview

DOWNTOWN JOHNSTOWN SIGNAGE QUANTITIES BY SIGN TYPE - PHASE 1

Signage Budget

Michael Baker International - Crested Butte Signage & Wayfinding Project
2023.03.24

TOTAL SIGNAGE PHASE 1 SIGNAGE

Sign Type  Descriptions Quantity
 Fabrication Cost 

Each 
 Fabrication Cost 

Total Install Each Install Cost Total Total Cost SIGN TYPE  SIGNAGE FUNCTION 

 INSTALLATION 
SURFACE: Soft 
Surface (grass, 
dirt)/Hard Surface 
(concrete, paver) 
Installation 

 INSTALLATION 
TYPE: 
Freestanding/ 
Mounted to 
Existing Structure 

 Electrified 
(YES/NO) Quantity

 Fabrication Cost 
Each 

 Fabrication 
Cost Total Install Each Install Cost Total Total Cost 

TOTAL Signage TOTAL PHASE 1 Signage

Auto Directionals - AD (16)

 Freestanding (largely in soft areas)  16                   

               24,500.00 392,000.00$              6,000.00$              96,000.00$                 488,000.00$              Columnar Gateway - G1

To announce arrival in the 
historic Downtown 
Johnstown district along 
Highway 60 and Parish Ave. Soft  Freestanding   YES 1                            100,000.00 100,000.00$      6,000.00$                6,000.00$                       106,000.00$         

Bus Stop - BS (13)

 Freestanding (largely in soft areas)  13                   

                 2,500.00 32,500.00$                400.00$                  5,200.00$                   37,700.00$                Cruved Corner Gateway - G2

To announce arrival in the 
historic Downtown 
Johnstown district along 
Parish Ave & improve plaza

Hard (requires 
removals)

Freestanding 
(could 
potentially use 
existing wall 
foundations)  YES 1                               90,000.00 90,000.00$         400.00$                   400.00$                          90,400.00$            

Skier Drop-Off Directional - SD (4)

 Building mounted (largely wood building facades) 4                      

                 6,500.00 26,000.00$                850.00$                  3,400.00$                   29,400.00$                Sculptural "J" Gateway - G2

To announce arrival in the 
historic Downtown 
Johnstown district along 
Parish Ave & improve plaza Hard Freestanding  YES 1                               50,000.00 50,000.00$         850.00$                   850.00$                          50,850.00$            

Transit Stop Side Panel - TS (7)
 Added as a side panel to replace one (1) plexi panel on existing bus 
stop shelters 7                                       1,000.00 7,000.00$                   300.00$                  2,100.00$                   9,100.00$                   Pedestrian Kiosk - P2

To provide pedestrian 
directional information & 
general information about 
Downtown Johnstown Hard Freestanding  YES 1                               40,000.00 40,000.00$         300.00$                   300.00$                          40,300.00$            

TOTALS for all signage 40                   457,500.00                106,700.00                 564,200.00                TOTALS for all PHASE 1 signage 4                 280,000.00        7,550.00                         287,550.00           

Sign Type  Descriptions Quantity  Fabrication Cost  Fabrication Cost Install Each Install Cost Total Total Cost Sign Type  Descriptions Quantity  Fabrication Cost  Fabrication Install Each Install Cost Total Total Cost 
TOTAL DDA Signage TOTAL DDA PHASE 1 Signage
Trail Directionals - TD (4)  Freestanding (in soft areas) 4                                       9,575.00 38,300.00$                3,200.00$              12,800.00$                 51,100.00$                Trail Directionals - TD (5)  Freestanding -                                 9,575.00 -$                     3,200.00$                -$                                 -$                        
Auto Directionals - AD (10)  Freestanding (largely in soft areas)  10                                  24,500.00 245,000.00$              6,000.00$              60,000.00$                 305,000.00$              Auto Directionals - AD (10)  Freestanding 10                                24,500.00 245,000.00$      6,000.00$                60,000.00$                    305,000.00$         
Pedestrian Direct - PD (15)  Freestanding with map (in mixture of hard and soft areas) 15                                  14,500.00 217,500.00$              3,600.00$              54,000.00$                 271,500.00$              Pedestrian Direct - PD (12)  Freestanding -                               14,500.00 -$                     3,600.00$                -$                                 -$                        
Pedestrian Direct Mounted - PDM (5)  Building mounted (largely wood building facades) 2                                       6,500.00 13,000.00$                850.00$                  1,700.00$                   14,700.00$                Pedestrian Direct Mounted - PDM (2)  Building -                                 6,500.00 -$                     850.00$                   -$                                 -$                        
Trail System Ent - TSE (1)  Freestanding (in soft areas) 1                                     14,500.00 14,500.00$                3,600.00$              3,600.00$                   18,100.00$                Trail System Ent - TSE (1)  Freestanding -                               14,500.00 -$                     3,600.00$                -$                                 -$                        
Selfie/Info Station - IS (1)  Freestanding (1 soft area location, 2 hard surface locations) 1                                     30,000.00 30,000.00$                9,000.00$              9,000.00$                   39,000.00$                Selfie/Info Station - IS (2)  Freestanding (1 -                               30,000.00 -$                     9,000.00$                -$                                 -$                        
Street Name Signs - SN (10)  Freestanding (largely in soft areas) (2 names per sign pole) 10                                    2,500.00 25,000.00$                400.00$                  4,000.00$                   29,000.00$                Street Name Signs - SN (10)  Freestanding -                                 2,500.00 -$                     400.00$                   -$                                 -$                        
Destination Signs - Building Mounted - DB (8)  Building mounted (largely wood building facades) 8                                       6,500.00 52,000.00$                850.00$                  6,800.00$                   58,800.00$                Destination Signs - Building Mounted - DB (8)  Building -                                 6,500.00 -$                     850.00$                   -$                                 -$                        
Destination Signs - D (8)  Freestanding (in a mixture of hard and soft areas) 8                                     18,500.00 148,000.00$              3,600.00$              28,800.00$                 176,800.00$              Destination Signs - D (10)  Freestanding -                               18,500.00 -$                     3,600.00$                -$                                 -$                        
Bus Stop - BS (5)  Freestanding (largely in soft areas)  5                                       2,500.00 12,500.00$                400.00$                  2,000.00$                   14,500.00$                Bus Stop - BS (5)  Freestanding 5                                     2,500.00 12,500.00$         400.00$                   2,000.00$                       14,500.00$            
Skier Drop-Off Directional - SD (4)  Building mounted (largely wood building facades) 4                                       6,500.00 26,000.00$                850.00$                  3,400.00$                   29,400.00$                Skier Drop-Off Directional - SD (4)  Building 4                                     6,500.00 26,000.00$         850.00$                   3,400.00$                       29,400.00$            
Transit Stop Side Panel - TS (0)  Added as a side panel to replace one (1) plexi panel on existing bus -                                   1,000.00 -$                             300.00$                  -$                             -$                             Transit Stop Side Panel - TS (0)  Added as a side -                                 1,000.00 -$                     300.00$                   -$                                 -$                        
Subtotals for DDA signage 68                   821,800.00                186,100.00                 1,007,900.00            Subtotals for DDA PHASE 1 signage 19                  283,500.00        65,400.00                      348,900.00           

Sign Type  Descriptions Quantity  Fabrication Cost  Fabrication Cost Install Each Install Cost Total Total Cost Sign Type  Descriptions Quantity  Fabrication Cost  Fabrication Install Each Install Cost Total Total Cost 
TOTAL Town of MTCB Signage TOTAL Town of MTCB PHASE 1 Signage
Trail Directionals - TD (4)  Freestanding (in soft areas) 4                                       9,575.00 38,300.00$                3,200.00$              12,800.00$                 51,100.00$                Trail Directionals - TD (7)  Freestanding -                                 9,575.00 -$                     3,200.00$                -$                                 -$                        
Auto Directionals - AD (6)  Freestanding (largely in soft areas)  6                                     24,500.00 147,000.00$              6,000.00$              36,000.00$                 183,000.00$              Auto Directionals - AD (6)  Freestanding 6                                   24,500.00 147,000.00$      6,000.00$                36,000.00$                    183,000.00$         
Pedestrian Direct - PD (1)  Freestanding with map (in mixture of hard and soft areas) 1                                     14,500.00 14,500.00$                3,600.00$              3,600.00$                   18,100.00$                Pedestrian Direct - PD (1)  Freestanding -                               14,500.00 -$                     3,600.00$                -$                                 -$                        
Pedestrian Direct Mounted - PDM (0)  Building mounted (largely wood building facades) -                                   6,500.00 -$                             850.00$                  -$                             -$                             Pedestrian Direct Mounted - PDM (0)  Building -                                 6,500.00 -$                     850.00$                   -$                                 -$                        
Trail System Ent - TSE (2)  Freestanding (in soft areas) 2                                     14,500.00 29,000.00$                3,600.00$              7,200.00$                   36,200.00$                Trail System Ent - TSE (2)  Freestanding -                               14,500.00 -$                     3,600.00$                -$                                 -$                        
Selfie/Info Station - IS (1)  Freestanding (1 soft area location, 2 hard surface locations) 1                                     30,000.00 30,000.00$                9,000.00$              9,000.00$                   39,000.00$                Selfie/Info Station - IS (1)  Freestanding (1 -                               30,000.00 -$                     9,000.00$                -$                                 -$                        
Street Name Signs - SN (8)  Freestanding (largely in soft areas) (2 names per sign pole) 8                                       2,500.00 20,000.00$                400.00$                  3,200.00$                   23,200.00$                Street Name Signs - SN (8)  Freestanding -                                 2,500.00 -$                     400.00$                   -$                                 -$                        
Destination Signs - Building Mounted - DB (0)  Building mounted (largely wood building facades) -                                   6,500.00 -$                             850.00$                  -$                             -$                             Destination Signs - Building Mounted - DB (0)  Building -                                 6,500.00 -$                     850.00$                   -$                                 -$                        
Destination Signs - D (3)  Freestanding (in a mixture of hard and soft areas) 3                                     18,500.00 55,500.00$                3,600.00$              10,800.00$                 66,300.00$                Destination Signs - D (2)  Freestanding -                               18,500.00 -$                     3,600.00$                -$                                 -$                        
Bus Stop - BS (8)  Freestanding (largely in soft areas)  8                                       2,500.00 20,000.00$                400.00$                  3,200.00$                   23,200.00$                Bus Stop - BS (8)  Freestanding 8                                     2,500.00 20,000.00$         400.00$                   3,200.00$                       23,200.00$            
Skier Drop-Off Directional - SD (0)  Building mounted (largely wood building facades) -                                   6,500.00 -$                             850.00$                  -$                             -$                             Skier Drop-Off Directional - SD (0)  Building -                                 6,500.00 -$                     850.00$                   -$                                 -$                        
Transit Stop Side Panel - TS (7)  Added as a side panel to replace one (1) plexi panel on existing bus 7                                       1,000.00 7,000.00$                   300.00$                  2,100.00$                   9,100.00$                   Transit Stop Side Panel - TS (7)  Added as a side 7                                     1,000.00 7,000.00$           300.00$                   2,100.00$                       9,100.00$              
Subtotals for Town of MtCB signage 40                   361,300.00                87,900.00                   449,200.00                Subtotals for Town of MtCB PHASE 1 signage 21                  174,000.00        41,300.00                      215,300.00           

Signage Totals Breakdown  Descriptions Quantity  Fabrication Cost  Fabrication Cost Install Each Install Cost Total Total Cost Signage Totals Breakdown PHASE 1  Descriptions Quantity  Fabrication Cost  Fabrication Install Each Install Cost Total Total Cost 
TOTAL FOR ALL SIGNAGE 457,500.00                106,700.00                 564,200.00                TOTAL FOR ALL PHASE 1 SIGNAGE 40                  280,000.00        7,550.00                         287,550.00           

Subtotals for DDA signage 68                   821,800.00                186,100.00                 1,007,900.00            Subtotals for DDA PHASE 1 signage 19                  283,500.00        65,400.00                      348,900.00           
Subtotals for Town of MtCB signage 40                   361,300.00                87,900.00                   449,200.00                Subtotals for Town of MtCB PHASE 1 signage 21                  174,000.00        41,300.00                      215,300.00           

PHASE 1 Fabrication & Installation Overhead Costs
Total Sign Cost 287,550.00$         
Permit / Permit Fees/ Engineering 9,500.00$              
Mobilization 9,000.00$              
Shop Drawings/PM/Install Coordination 22,000.00$            
Mt. Crested Butte (Tax Exempt) -$                        

328,050.00$      PHASE 1 TOTAL COMPLETE SIGNAGE COSTS

Page 1

56

Item #7.



5Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

MESSAGING PLAN - DOWNTOWN JOHNSTOWN DESTINATIONS & AMENITIES
Destinations form the backbone of a community signage & wayfinding system.  Creating a list of special places and amenities tells a story 
about community character and values, and helps to attract visitors to unique and memorable places.  During the signage & wayfinding 
plan outreach events, stakeholder participants were asked about the destinations within/around Downtown Johnstown that should be 
referenced with the new signage.  The maps and the listed categories on the outreach materials were used to help encourage stakeholders 
to share what they would like the new signage to highlight and direct visitors to (using sticky notes and dots to locate and name destinations 
& amenities).  The following are the top destinations residents and visitors would like the new signage & wayfinding to highlight:

Phase 1 Signage Destinations

 Î Public Parking

 Î Town Hall

 Î Public Library

 Î Parish Park

 Î Parish House & Museum

 Î YMCA

 Î Post Office

 Î Eddie Aragon Park

 Î Historic Downtown

02
Messaging & Location 
Plan

Helping point residents and visitors to  community destina-
tions like Parish Park will help highlight important community 

amenities in and around Downtown Johnstown

57

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide6

PHASE 1 SIGNAGE LOCATION & MESSAGING PLAN

Phase 1 Signage
• G1 Columnar Gateway (RED)

• G2 Curved Corner Gateway (RED)

• G2 Sculptural “J” Gateway (RED)

• P2 Pedestrian Kiosk (YELLOW)

Google Earth Messaging Plan Link:

https://earth.google.com/earth/
d/1mzU4M7ViiedjZ6MODnMMlsZH-
NxSlRuH?usp=sharing

58

Item #7.



7Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

SIGNAGE & WAYFINDING DESIGN OVERVIEW
The final signage and wayfinding designs include a total of 4 unique sign types that create a sense of arrival into Downtown Johnstown, 
and start to create a cohesive and easy-to-follow wayfinding system for the historic downtown area.

The overall design is grounded in the new Downtown Johnstown brand, which incorporates several iconic downtown elements, including a 
historic building architectural feature, a representation of the unique downtown light fixture, and a historic themed clock that marks the time 
when the notable meteor landed in the Johnstown community.

For each sign type, a variety of informational panels are designed to help direct drivers, pedestrians, and bicyclists to various downtown 
destinations and experiences.  To reduce costs and increase durability, written information is direct printed where possible, with auto 
directional information having reflective text that will be illuminated by auto headlights at night.

03
Phase 1 Signage & 
Wayfinding Designs

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

Side

Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Front

Front

Front

Side

02

080705

02

04

02

01

09

11

11

10

11

11

10

01

11

11

10

01

01

01

13

09

09

11

02

01

02

03

09

09

09

09

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

Side

Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Front

Front

Front

Side

02

080705

02

04

02

01

09

11

11

10

11

11

10

01

11

11

10

01

01

01

13

09

09

11

02

01

02

03

09

09

09

09

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

Side

Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Front

Front

Front

Side

02

080705

02

04

02

01

09

11

11

10

11

11

10

01

11

11

10

01

01

01

13

09

09

11

02

01

02

03

09

09

09

09

Phase 1 Signage & Wayfinding (4 sign types):

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

Public Parking (25 MPH)Pedestrian KioskPedestrian Directional

Street Name Sign (new sign blade cu�s added to existing signs)

Destination SignageBuilding-Mounted Interpretive SignsInterpretive Info/Photo Station

Front BackSideFront Side

Front Side
Front Side

Welcome to
Downtown

JOHNSTOWN i n f o r m a t i o n

DOWNTOWN
JOHNSTOWN

Digital
Message

Board

Back
(directional option)

i n f o r m a t i o n

DOWNTOWN
JOHNSTOWN

Static
Downtown

Map

Public Parking
2 minute walk

Parish Park
3 minute walk

Post Office
7 minute walk

Parish House
5 minute walk

Public Parking
2 minute walk

Parish Park
3 minute walk

Post Office
7 minute walk

Parish House
5 minute walk

Eddie
Aragon

Park

332 Castle Pines Avenue
Johnstown, CO 80534

Ed
d

ie A
rag

o
n Park

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, consec-
tetuer adipiscing 

elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh eu-
ismod tincidunt ut 

laoreet dolore 
magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut 

wisi enim ad minim 
veniam, quis nos-
trud exerci tation 
ullamcorper sus-

cipit lobortis nisl ut 
aliquip ex ea com-
modo consequat. 

Duis autem vel 
eum iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in vulpu-
tate velit esse mo-
lestie consequat, 

vel illum dolore eu 

M
ETEO

R
ITE

The Jo
hnsto

w
n

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, 

consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed 

diam nonummy 
nibh euismod 

tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna 
aliquam erat 

volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim 

veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci 

tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis 

nisl ut aliquip ex ea 
commodo 

consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 

vulputate velit esse 

M
ETEO

R
ITE

The Jo
hnsto

w
n

Lorem ipsum 
dolor sit amet, 
consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, 
sed diam 
nonummy nibh 
euismod 
tincidunt ut 
laoreet dolore 
magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut 
wisi enim ad 
minim veniam, 
quis nostrud 
exerci tation 
ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex 
ea commodo 
consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 
vulputate velit 
esse molestie 
consequat, vel 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, 
consectetuer adipiscing elit, 
sed diam nonummy nibh 
euismod tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad 
minim veniam, quis nostrud 
exerci tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl ut aliquip 
ex ea commodo consequat. 
Duis autem vel eum iriure 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim veniam, 
quis nostrud exerci 
tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl ut 
aliquip ex ea commodo 
consequat. Duis autem 
vel eum iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in vulputate 
velit esse molestie 
consequat, vel illum 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim veniam, 

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, 
consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed 
diam nonummy 
nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna 
aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim 
veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci 
tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl 
ut aliquip ex ea 
commodo 
consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse 
molestie 
consequat, vel 
illum dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum iriure dolor in hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse molestie consequat, vel illum 
dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum iriure dolor in hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse molestie consequat, vel illum 
dolore eu 

11

10

01

11

02

03

05

02

02

02

04

09

09
11

02

10

01

01

11

05

02

05

02

05

02

01

05

02

01

05

01

03

09

080705080705080705

0208

0508

59

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide8

COMPLETE SIGNAGE FAMILY - DAY

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

Side

Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Front

Front

Front

Side

02

080705

02

04

02

01

09

11

11

10

11

11

10

01

11

11

10

01

01

01

13

09

09

11

02

01

02

03

09

09

09

09

60

Item #7.



9Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

COMPLETE SIGNAGE FAMILY - DAY

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

Side

Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Front

Front

Front

Side

02

080705

02

04

02

01

09

11

11

10

11

11

10

01

11

11

10

01

01

01

13

09

09

11

02

01

02

03

09

09

09

09

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

Side

Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Front

Front

Front

Side

02

080705

02

04

02

01

09

11

11

10

11

11

10

01

11

11

10

01

01

01

13

09

09

11

02

01

02

03

09

09

09

09

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

Side

Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Front

Front

Front

Side

02

080705

02

04

02

01

09

11

11

10

11

11

10

01

11

11

10

01

01

01

13

09

09

11

02

01

02

03

09

09

09

09

61

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide10

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

26’

27’

28’

29’

30’

31’

32’

33’

34’

35’

36’

37’

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

26’

27’

28’

29’

30’

31’

32’

33’

34’

35’

36’

37’

Auto Directional - 4”  Text  (25 MPH)

5” Concrete Cap

14’-2”

3” Concrete Cap
1.5” Band (two)

Auto Directional Downtown - 4”  Text  (25 MPH) Auto Directional - 6”  Text  (>35 MPH)

Eddie
Aragon
Park

Eddie
Aragon
Park

Library 
& Civic 
Center

Parish
Park

Public 
Parking

Historic 
Downtown
District

Library &
Civic Center

Post Office

Historic 
Downtown
District

Library &
Civic Center

Post Office

Front Side

Front Side

Front Side

13” (5 bricks)

3’-7”

30” (4 standing bricks)

7” (3 bricks)

6” Concrete Cap

15” (7 bricks)

3’-1” (5 standing bricks)

4” Concrete Cap

11” (5 bricks)

25’-5” 

3’-6” 

22”

22” 20” 17”

1’-6”

17”22”

1’-6.5”26”30”

20”

11”

1’-10”

3’-1”

2’-5”

2’-10”

3’-5”

10”

4’

2’-2”

1” Gap
(three)

2’-8”

4’

1.5” Band (two)

1” Cut-Out (two)

1” Cut-Out
(two)

2” Cut-Out
(two)

2” Cut-Out
(two)

1” Cut-Out
(two)

1” Gap

1” Gap

1” Gap

1” Gap
(three)

1’-6”4’-1”

11

10

01

11

10

01

11

02 02

080705

09

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

26’

27’

28’

29’

30’

31’

32’

33’

34’

35’

36’

37’

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

26’

27’

28’

29’

30’

31’

32’

33’

34’

35’

36’

37’

Auto Directional - 4”  Text  (25 MPH)

5” Concrete Cap

14’-2”

3” Concrete Cap
1.5” Band (two)

Auto Directional Downtown - 4”  Text  (25 MPH) Auto Directional - 6”  Text  (>35 MPH)

Eddie
Aragon
Park

Eddie
Aragon
Park

Library 
& Civic 
Center

Parish
Park

Public 
Parking

Historic 
Downtown
District

Library &
Civic Center

Post Office

Historic 
Downtown
District

Library &
Civic Center

Post Office

Front Side

Front Side

Front Side

13” (5 bricks)

3’-7”

30” (4 standing bricks)

7” (3 bricks)

6” Concrete Cap

15” (7 bricks)

3’-1” (5 standing bricks)

4” Concrete Cap

11” (5 bricks)

25’-5” 

3’-6” 

22”

22” 20” 17”

1’-6”

17”22”

1’-6.5”26”30”

20”

11”

1’-10”

3’-1”

2’-5”

2’-10”

3’-5”

10”

4’

2’-2”

1” Gap
(three)

2’-8”

4’

1.5” Band (two)

1” Cut-Out (two)

1” Cut-Out
(two)

2” Cut-Out
(two)

2” Cut-Out
(two)

1” Cut-Out
(two)

1” Gap

1” Gap

1” Gap

1” Gap
(three)

1’-6”4’-1”

11

10

01

11

10

01

11

02 02

080705

09

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

26’

27’

28’

29’

30’

31’

32’

33’

34’

35’

36’

37’

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

26’

27’

28’

29’

30’

31’

32’

33’

34’

35’

36’

37’

Auto Directional - 4”  Text  (25 MPH)

5” Concrete Cap

14’-2”

3” Concrete Cap
1.5” Band (two)

Auto Directional Downtown - 4”  Text  (25 MPH) Auto Directional - 6”  Text  (>35 MPH)

Eddie
Aragon
Park

Eddie
Aragon
Park

Library 
& Civic 
Center

Parish
Park

Public 
Parking

Historic 
Downtown
District

Library &
Civic Center

Post Office

Historic 
Downtown
District

Library &
Civic Center

Post Office

Front Side

Front Side

Front Side

13” (5 bricks)

3’-7”

30” (4 standing bricks)

7” (3 bricks)

6” Concrete Cap

15” (7 bricks)

3’-1” (5 standing bricks)

4” Concrete Cap

11” (5 bricks)

25’-5” 

3’-6” 

22”

22” 20” 17”

1’-6”

17”22”

1’-6.5”26”30”

20”

11”

1’-10”

3’-1”

2’-5”

2’-10”

3’-5”

10”

4’

2’-2”

1” Gap
(three)

2’-8”

4’

1.5” Band (two)

1” Cut-Out (two)

1” Cut-Out
(two)

2” Cut-Out
(two)

2” Cut-Out
(two)

1” Cut-Out
(two)

1” Gap

1” Gap

1” Gap

1” Gap
(three)

1’-6”4’-1”

11

10

01

11

10

01

11

02 02

080705

09

COMPLETE SIGNAGE FAMILY - DAY

62

Item #7.



11Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

COMPLETE SIGNAGE FAMILY - DAY

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

Public Parking (25 MPH)Pedestrian KioskPedestrian Directional

Street Name Sign (new sign blade cu�s added to existing signs)

Destination SignageBuilding-Mounted Interpretive SignsInterpretive Info/Photo Station

Front BackSideFront Side

Front Side
Front Side

Welcome to
Downtown

JOHNSTOWN i n f o r m a t i o n

DOWNTOWN
JOHNSTOWN

Digital
Message

Board

Back
(directional option)

i n f o r m a t i o n

DOWNTOWN
JOHNSTOWN

Static
Downtown

Map

Public Parking
2 minute walk

Parish Park
3 minute walk

Post Office
7 minute walk

Parish House
5 minute walk

Public Parking
2 minute walk

Parish Park
3 minute walk

Post Office
7 minute walk

Parish House
5 minute walk

Eddie
Aragon

Park

332 Castle Pines Avenue
Johnstown, CO 80534

Ed
d

ie A
rag

o
n Park

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, consec-
tetuer adipiscing 

elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh eu-
ismod tincidunt ut 

laoreet dolore 
magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut 

wisi enim ad minim 
veniam, quis nos-
trud exerci tation 
ullamcorper sus-

cipit lobortis nisl ut 
aliquip ex ea com-
modo consequat. 

Duis autem vel 
eum iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in vulpu-
tate velit esse mo-
lestie consequat, 

vel illum dolore eu 

M
ETEO

R
ITE

The Jo
hnsto

w
n

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, 

consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed 

diam nonummy 
nibh euismod 

tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna 
aliquam erat 

volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim 

veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci 

tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis 

nisl ut aliquip ex ea 
commodo 

consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 

vulputate velit esse 

M
ETEO

R
ITE

The Jo
hnsto

w
n

Lorem ipsum 
dolor sit amet, 
consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, 
sed diam 
nonummy nibh 
euismod 
tincidunt ut 
laoreet dolore 
magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut 
wisi enim ad 
minim veniam, 
quis nostrud 
exerci tation 
ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex 
ea commodo 
consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 
vulputate velit 
esse molestie 
consequat, vel 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, 
consectetuer adipiscing elit, 
sed diam nonummy nibh 
euismod tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad 
minim veniam, quis nostrud 
exerci tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl ut aliquip 
ex ea commodo consequat. 
Duis autem vel eum iriure 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim veniam, 
quis nostrud exerci 
tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl ut 
aliquip ex ea commodo 
consequat. Duis autem 
vel eum iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in vulputate 
velit esse molestie 
consequat, vel illum 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim veniam, 

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, 
consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed 
diam nonummy 
nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna 
aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim 
veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci 
tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl 
ut aliquip ex ea 
commodo 
consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse 
molestie 
consequat, vel 
illum dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum iriure dolor in hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse molestie consequat, vel illum 
dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum iriure dolor in hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse molestie consequat, vel illum 
dolore eu 

11

10

01

11

02

03

05

02

02

02

04

09

09
11

02

10

01

01

11

05

02

05

02

05

02

01

05

02

01

05

01

03

09

080705080705080705

0208

0508

63

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide12

COMPLETE SIGNAGE FAMILY - DAY

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

Public Parking (25 MPH)Pedestrian KioskPedestrian Directional

Street Name Sign (new sign blade cu�s added to existing signs)

Destination SignageBuilding-Mounted Interpretive SignsInterpretive Info/Photo Station

Front BackSideFront Side

Front Side
Front Side

Welcome to
Downtown

JOHNSTOWN i n f o r m a t i o n

DOWNTOWN
JOHNSTOWN

Digital
Message

Board

Back
(directional option)

i n f o r m a t i o n

DOWNTOWN
JOHNSTOWN

Static
Downtown

Map

Public Parking
2 minute walk

Parish Park
3 minute walk

Post Office
7 minute walk

Parish House
5 minute walk

Public Parking
2 minute walk

Parish Park
3 minute walk

Post Office
7 minute walk

Parish House
5 minute walk

Eddie
Aragon

Park

332 Castle Pines Avenue
Johnstown, CO 80534

Ed
d

ie A
rag

o
n Park

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, consec-
tetuer adipiscing 

elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh eu-
ismod tincidunt ut 

laoreet dolore 
magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut 

wisi enim ad minim 
veniam, quis nos-
trud exerci tation 
ullamcorper sus-

cipit lobortis nisl ut 
aliquip ex ea com-
modo consequat. 

Duis autem vel 
eum iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in vulpu-
tate velit esse mo-
lestie consequat, 

vel illum dolore eu 

M
ETEO

R
ITE

The Jo
hnsto

w
n

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, 

consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed 

diam nonummy 
nibh euismod 

tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna 
aliquam erat 

volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim 

veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci 

tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis 

nisl ut aliquip ex ea 
commodo 

consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 

vulputate velit esse 

M
ETEO

R
ITE

The Jo
hnsto

w
n

Lorem ipsum 
dolor sit amet, 
consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, 
sed diam 
nonummy nibh 
euismod 
tincidunt ut 
laoreet dolore 
magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut 
wisi enim ad 
minim veniam, 
quis nostrud 
exerci tation 
ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex 
ea commodo 
consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 
vulputate velit 
esse molestie 
consequat, vel 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, 
consectetuer adipiscing elit, 
sed diam nonummy nibh 
euismod tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad 
minim veniam, quis nostrud 
exerci tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl ut aliquip 
ex ea commodo consequat. 
Duis autem vel eum iriure 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim veniam, 
quis nostrud exerci 
tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl ut 
aliquip ex ea commodo 
consequat. Duis autem 
vel eum iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in vulputate 
velit esse molestie 
consequat, vel illum 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim veniam, 

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, 
consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed 
diam nonummy 
nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna 
aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim 
veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci 
tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl 
ut aliquip ex ea 
commodo 
consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse 
molestie 
consequat, vel 
illum dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum iriure dolor in hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse molestie consequat, vel illum 
dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum iriure dolor in hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse molestie consequat, vel illum 
dolore eu 

11

10

01

11

02

03

05

02

02

02

04

09

09
11

02

10

01

01

11

05

02

05

02

05

02

01

05

02

01

05

01

03

09

080705080705080705

0208

0508

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

Side

Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Front

Front

Front

Side

02

080705

02

04

02

01

09

11

11

10

11

11

10

01

11

11

10

01

01

01

13

09

09

11

02

01

02

03

09

09

09

09

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

Johnstown Park Johnstown Park
0.4 miles 0.1 miles2 minutes 1 minutes

Johnstown Park
0.4 miles2 minute

Johnstown Park
1.0 miles5 minutes

Trail Decision Point Sign Along-the-Trail Marker Sign (with linear map) Trail Mile Marker Sign

Front

Front

Front

Pets on 
Leash

Clean Up 
Pet Waste

C
o

m
m

unity/Reg
io

nal
TR

A
IL

Trail Map

Pets on 
Leash

Clean Up 
Pet Waste

C
o

m
m

unity/Reg
io

nal
TR

A
IL

Trail Map

Mile 1.0

Pets on 
Leash

Clean Up 
Pet Waste

C
o

m
m

unity/Reg
io

nal
TR

A
IL

Mile 1.0

02

02

02

08

01

05

05

0208

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

Johnstown Park Johnstown Park
0.4 miles 0.1 miles2 minutes 1 minutes

Johnstown Park
0.4 miles2 minute

Johnstown Park
1.0 miles5 minutes

Trail Decision Point Sign Along-the-Trail Marker Sign (with linear map) Trail Mile Marker Sign

Front

Front

Front

Pets on 
Leash

Clean Up 
Pet Waste

C
o

m
m

unity/Reg
io

nal
TR

A
IL

Trail Map

Pets on 
Leash

Clean Up 
Pet Waste

C
o

m
m

unity/Reg
io

nal
TR

A
IL

Trail Map

Mile 1.0

Pets on 
Leash

Clean Up 
Pet Waste

C
o

m
m

unity/Reg
io

nal
TR

A
IL

Mile 1.0

02

02

02

08

01

05

05

0208

64

Item #7.



13Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

COMPLETE SIGNAGE FAMILY -NIGHT

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

SideFront

Front

Front

Side Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)

Mast Head Signs

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Mast Head Signage - Retroreflective coating onlyColumnar Gateway - 
LED illumination

Curved Corner Gateway - 
LED illumination

Sculptural “J” Gateway - 
LED illumination

Linear Gateway - 
LED illumination

65

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide14

COMPLETE SIGNAGE FAMILY -NIGHT

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

SideFront

Front

Front

Side Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)

Mast Head Signs

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Mast Head Signage - Retroreflective coating onlyColumnar Gateway - 
LED illumination

Curved Corner Gateway - 
LED illumination

Sculptural “J” Gateway - 
LED illumination

Linear Gateway - 
LED illumination

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

SideFront

Front

Front

Side Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)

Mast Head Signs

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Mast Head Signage - Retroreflective coating onlyColumnar Gateway - 
LED illumination

Curved Corner Gateway - 
LED illumination

Sculptural “J” Gateway - 
LED illumination

Linear Gateway - 
LED illumination

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

SideFront

Front

Front

Side Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)

Mast Head Signs

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Mast Head Signage - Retroreflective coating onlyColumnar Gateway - 
LED illumination

Curved Corner Gateway - 
LED illumination

Sculptural “J” Gateway - 
LED illumination

Linear Gateway - 
LED illumination

66

Item #7.



15Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

Front Side

Front Side

Front Side

Auto Directional Signs - LED
illumination & retroreflective

lettering & messaging

Auto Directional - 4”  Text  (25 MPH)Auto Directional Downtown - 4”  Text  (25 MPH) Auto Directional - 6”  Text  (>35 MPH)

Library 
& Civic 
Center

Parish
Park

Public 
Parking

Historic 
Downtown
District

Post Office

Library &
Civic Center

Eddie
Aragon
Park

Eddie
Aragon
Park

Historic 
Downtown
District

Post Office

Library &
Civic Center

COMPLETE SIGNAGE FAMILY -NIGHT

67

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide16

COMPLETE SIGNAGE FAMILY -NIGHT

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

Front BackSideFront Side

Front Side
Front Side

Back
(directional option)

Static
Downtown

Map

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, consec-
tetuer adipiscing 

elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh eu-
ismod tincidunt ut 

laoreet dolore 
magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut 

wisi enim ad minim 
veniam, quis nos-
trud exerci tation 
ullamcorper sus-

cipit lobortis nisl ut 
aliquip ex ea com-
modo consequat. 

Duis autem vel 
eum iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in vulpu-
tate velit esse mo-
lestie consequat, 

vel illum dolore eu 

M
ETEO

R
ITE

The Jo
hnsto

w
n

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, 

consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed 

diam nonummy 
nibh euismod 

tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna 
aliquam erat 

volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim 

veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci 

tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis 

nisl ut aliquip ex ea 
commodo 

consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 

vulputate velit esse 
molestie 

consequat, vel 
illum dolore eu 

M
ETEO

R
ITE

The Jo
hnsto

w
n

Interpretive Signage - LED illumination
for multi-image panels, no internal

illumination for building-mounted signs
(ambient light only)

Street Name Signs - Retroreflective only

Destination Signs - LED
illumination & retroreflective

lettering & messaging

Pedestrian Directional - LED
illumination & retroreflective

lettering & messaging

Pedestrian Kiosk - LED
illumination & retroreflective

lettering & messaging

Parking Signs - LED
illumination & retroreflective

lettering & messaging

Building-Mounted Interpretive SignsInterpretive Info/Photo Station

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, 
consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed 
diam nonummy 
nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna 
aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim 
veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci 
tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl 
ut aliquip ex ea 
commodo 
consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse 
molestie 
consequat, vel 
illum dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum iriure dolor in hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse molestie consequat, vel illum 
dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum iriure dolor in hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse molestie consequat, vel illum 
dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim veniam, 
quis nostrud exerci 
tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl ut 
aliquip ex ea commodo 
consequat. Duis autem 
vel eum iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in vulputate 
velit esse molestie 
consequat, vel illum 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim veniam, 

Lorem ipsum 
dolor sit amet, 
consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, 
sed diam 
nonummy nibh 
euismod 
tincidunt ut 
laoreet dolore 
magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut 
wisi enim ad 
minim veniam, 
quis nostrud 
exerci tation 
ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex 
ea commodo 
consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 
vulputate velit 
esse molestie 
consequat, vel 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, 
consectetuer adipiscing elit, 
sed diam nonummy nibh 
euismod tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad 
minim veniam, quis nostrud 
exerci tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl ut aliquip 
ex ea commodo consequat. 
Duis autem vel eum iriure 

Destination Signage Pedestrian Directional

Street Name Sign (new sign blade cu�s added to existing signs)

Parish Park
3 minute walk

Public Parking
2 minute walk

Post Office
7 minute walk

Parish House
5 minute walk

Pedestrian Kiosk

Welcome to
Downtown

JOHNSTOWN i n f o r m a t i o n

DOWNTOWN
JOHNSTOWN

Digital
Message

Board

i n f o r m a t i o n

DOWNTOWN
JOHNSTOWN

Public Parking
2 minute walk

Parish Park
3 minute walk

Post Office
7 minute walk

Parish House
5 minute walk

Public Parking (25 MPH)

Eddie
Aragon

Park

332 Castle Pines Avenue
Johnstown, CO 80534

Ed
d

ie A
rag

o
n Park

68

Item #7.



17Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

COMPLETE SIGNAGE FAMILY -NIGHT

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

Front BackSideFront Side

Front Side
Front Side

Back
(directional option)

Static
Downtown

Map

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, consec-
tetuer adipiscing 

elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh eu-
ismod tincidunt ut 

laoreet dolore 
magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut 

wisi enim ad minim 
veniam, quis nos-
trud exerci tation 
ullamcorper sus-

cipit lobortis nisl ut 
aliquip ex ea com-
modo consequat. 

Duis autem vel 
eum iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in vulpu-
tate velit esse mo-
lestie consequat, 

vel illum dolore eu 

M
ETEO

R
ITE

The Jo
hnsto

w
n

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, 

consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed 

diam nonummy 
nibh euismod 

tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna 
aliquam erat 

volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim 

veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci 

tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis 

nisl ut aliquip ex ea 
commodo 

consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 

vulputate velit esse 
molestie 

consequat, vel 
illum dolore eu 

M
ETEO

R
ITE

The Jo
hnsto

w
n

Interpretive Signage - LED illumination
for multi-image panels, no internal

illumination for building-mounted signs
(ambient light only)

Street Name Signs - Retroreflective only

Destination Signs - LED
illumination & retroreflective

lettering & messaging

Pedestrian Directional - LED
illumination & retroreflective

lettering & messaging

Pedestrian Kiosk - LED
illumination & retroreflective

lettering & messaging

Parking Signs - LED
illumination & retroreflective

lettering & messaging

Building-Mounted Interpretive SignsInterpretive Info/Photo Station

Lorem ipsum dolor 
sit amet, 
consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed 
diam nonummy 
nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna 
aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim 
veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci 
tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl 
ut aliquip ex ea 
commodo 
consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse 
molestie 
consequat, vel 
illum dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum iriure dolor in hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse molestie consequat, vel illum 
dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad minim veniam, quis 
nostrud exerci tation ullamcorper suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex ea commodo consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum iriure dolor in hendrerit in 
vulputate velit esse molestie consequat, vel illum 
dolore eu 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim veniam, 
quis nostrud exerci 
tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl ut 
aliquip ex ea commodo 
consequat. Duis autem 
vel eum iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in vulputate 
velit esse molestie 
consequat, vel illum 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, sed diam 
nonummy nibh euismod 
tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut wisi 
enim ad minim veniam, 

Lorem ipsum 
dolor sit amet, 
consectetuer 
adipiscing elit, 
sed diam 
nonummy nibh 
euismod 
tincidunt ut 
laoreet dolore 
magna aliquam 
erat volutpat. Ut 
wisi enim ad 
minim veniam, 
quis nostrud 
exerci tation 
ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis 
nisl ut aliquip ex 
ea commodo 
consequat. Duis 
autem vel eum 
iriure dolor in 
hendrerit in 
vulputate velit 
esse molestie 
consequat, vel 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, 
consectetuer adipiscing elit, 
sed diam nonummy nibh 
euismod tincidunt ut laoreet 
dolore magna aliquam erat 
volutpat. Ut wisi enim ad 
minim veniam, quis nostrud 
exerci tation ullamcorper 
suscipit lobortis nisl ut aliquip 
ex ea commodo consequat. 
Duis autem vel eum iriure 

Destination Signage Pedestrian Directional

Street Name Sign (new sign blade cu�s added to existing signs)

Parish Park
3 minute walk

Public Parking
2 minute walk

Post Office
7 minute walk

Parish House
5 minute walk

Pedestrian Kiosk

Welcome to
Downtown

JOHNSTOWN i n f o r m a t i o n

DOWNTOWN
JOHNSTOWN

Digital
Message

Board

i n f o r m a t i o n

DOWNTOWN
JOHNSTOWN

Public Parking
2 minute walk

Parish Park
3 minute walk

Post Office
7 minute walk

Parish House
5 minute walk

Public Parking (25 MPH)

Eddie
Aragon

Park

332 Castle Pines Avenue
Johnstown, CO 80534

Ed
d

ie A
rag

o
n Park

1’

2’

3’

4’

5’

6’

7’

8’

9’

10’

11’

12’

13’

14’

15’

16’

17’

18’

19’

20’

21’

22’

23’

24’

25’

Front

Front

Front

Trail Signage - Retroreflective coating only

Pets on 
Leash

Clean Up 
Pet Waste

C
o

m
m

unity/Reg
io

nal
TR

A
IL

Trail Map

Johnstown Park
0.4 miles 2 minutes

Johnstown Park
0.1 miles1 minutes

Johnstown Park
0.4 miles2 minute

Johnstown Park
1.0 miles5 minutes

Pets on 
Leash

Clean Up 
Pet Waste

C
o

m
m

unity/Reg
io

nal
TR

A
IL

Trail Map

Mile 1.0

Pets on 
Leash

Clean Up 
Pet Waste

C
o

m
m

unity/Reg
io

nal
TR

A
IL

Mile 1.0

Trail Decision Point Sign Along-the-Trail Marker Sign (with linear map) Trail Mile Marker Sign

Oblique View SouthwestOblique View SoutheastFront

SideFront

Front

Front

Side Parish Avenue

South First St

Hwy 60

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southwest)

Mast Head Signs

Sculptural “J” Gateway (3D southeast)Sculptural “J” GatewayColumnar Gateway Curved Corner GatewayLinear Gateway

Mast Head Signage - Retroreflective coating onlyColumnar Gateway - 
LED illumination

Curved Corner Gateway - 
LED illumination

Sculptural “J” Gateway - 
LED illumination

Linear Gateway - 
LED illumination

69

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide18

04
Construction 
Specifications

FABRICATION SPECIFICATIONS

A. Quality Standards

The materials, products, equipment and performance specifications 
described within, establish a standard of required function, dimen-
sion, appearance, performance and quality to be met by the Fabri-
cator.

B. Structural Design

Details on design intent drawings indicate a design approach for 
sign structure but do not necessarily include all fabrication details 
required for the complete structural integrity of the signs, including 
consideration for static, dynamic and erection loads during 
handling, erecting, and service at the installed locations, nor do they 
necessarily consider the preferred shop practices of the individual 
Fabricators. Therefore, it shall be the responsibility of the Fabricator 
to perform the complete structural design and engineering of 
the signs and to incorporate all the safety features necessary to 
adequately support the sign for its intended use and purpose 
and to protect the Owner. Fabricator shall also be responsible for 
ensuring that all signs meet local, state and federal codes. The 
fabricator shall check with the Town of Johnstown regarding the 
final needed code standards.  Any deviations from the from the 
specifications in this chapter or the design drawings must be agreed 
upon by the Town prior to finalization.

C. Vandalism Design

Fabrication and installation design is to withstand severe abuse and 
souvenir theft vandalism, but not less than the equivalent of resisting 
simple hand implements and tools (screwdrivers, knives, coins, 
keys, and similar items), and adult physical force. All hardware and 
fasteners within reach shall be vandal resistant.

D. Substitution

No substitution will be considered unless the Owner has received 
written request for approval. 

E. Pre-Fabrication Submittals

The awarded fabricator must submit a copy of the following items 
to the Owner and Designer for their review prior to fabrication 
proceeding:

1. Detailed engineered shop drawings for each sign type 
are to be submitted as electronic PDF to scale on a sheet size not 
smaller than 11” x 17” (draft) and ARCH D 24” x 36” (final).   Final Shop 
Drawings are to be stamped by an Engineer licensed in the state of 
the project. The shop drawings for each sign type shall illustrate/
describe the following:

• Elevations and cross sections – front, sides, top and back (if 
necessary); side sections; internal structure section/details; 
enlarged details such as of extrusions, dimensional letter 
mounting, mounting plate, etc.; with all final dimensions and call-
outs for:

• Components – construction details/information related to 
individual elements

• Materials – color, type, gauge, and thickness (including substrates 
and overlays)

• Finishes – color, type of product, manufacturer, and sheen

• Fonts, graphics specifications and message fields

• Exploded view (optional) – isometric view with components, 
materials, and finishes.

• Cross-section of corners – one illustration for each corner 
condition. Items to be illustrated: seams, joints, layers, internal 
support and fasteners.

• Fabricator will subcontract with glass artist or glass manufacturer 
to cut and illuminate all illuminated glass signage elements 
(pedestrian, kiosk, and primary gateway sign types all include 
glass elements).

• Mounting/installation details – provide foundation cross-sections 
(including hardware), bracket/post details, elevations, materials, 
finishes and fasteners.

• Electrical details are to be provided for all elements that require 
electricity.  All lighting shall be LEDs.  Specific lighting/electrical/

70

Item #7.



19Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

construction items to be included in fabricator engineered 
drawings:

 Î Light source and/or fixture type and manufacturer

 Î Power supply (transformer)

 Î Amperage and voltage per sign

 Î Electrical service required (source)

 Î Lighting detail – provide an internal view of light 
fixtures, LED layout, transformers, internal cut-off 
switch

 Î Engineering for wind load per Town code, which is 
a wind speed of 90 MPH (3 seconds), and 75 MPH 
(fastest mile), and Exposure C classification, “open 
terrain with scattered obstructions, with heights less 
than 30 feet”. 

 Î Removable panels (where applicable)

 Î Solar lighting electrical panels (where possible, solar 
electrical power is preferred for signs without easy 
electrical access).

 Î Identify any dimensional or other changes in the 
overall sign required by virtue of the fabrication 
materials, techniques and/or engineering.

2. ADA recommendations suggest that signs faces be uniformly 
illuminated with between 100 to 300 lux (10 to 30 foot candles) 
of light and that the illumination level on the sign face is “not 
significantly exceeded by the ambient light or visible bright lighting 
source behind or in front of the sign.” This is useful in that it provides 
a range of footcandles required to be visible by folks with visual 
limitations, however it is a TOTAL value, taking into consideration 
both the ambient lighting (streetlights, nearby bright signs, etc) and 
any light produced by the sign itself.

3. Ultimately, the amount of light emitted by the sign must 
overcome the ambient light in the surrounding without appearing 
overly bright or becoming a distraction/hazard to pedestrians or 
motorists and (based on location). Signs should have the ability to 
be adjusted by the fabricator to compensate for ambient conditions.  

4. Three (3) samples of each material to be used on the sign 
using actual substrate materials should be supplied. One sample will 
be returned, one sent to the Owner and one kept in the Designer’s 
records.

5. A proofing document of final production keystroking for all 
sign messages to verify line breaks, character and word spacing, and 
interline spacing should be submitted. The proofs are to be scaled 
production art files, not full sized. Each layout is to be identified with 
the sign number.

6. The fabricator must prepare and submit a full-scale structural 
sample of the structure of auto directional signs.  Sample must use 
final materials and include a complete horizontal cross section of 
the sign and at least 1’ of height to show how the internal system 
works. Applicable material samples (#4 above) may be included in 
this structural sample if the fabricator desires, or the sample may be 
unfinished. This sample will be retained by the Designer.

7. The fabricator must submit a scaled 12” x 12” draft sample 
segment of the map insert product to the Designer for approval 
before producing the final map inserts.  This includes samples for 
the linear map(s), the trail map, and the base area map.  Samples 
will be for all map printing types, including direct printed maps and 
high pressure laminate maps.

8. Fabricator must submit a schedule detailing how far in 
advance artwork will be required for printed maps and directories.

9. Fabricator must provide weekly status reports to the Owner 
and Designer detailing fabrication and installation progress and the 
expected completion schedule. Fabricator/installer shall coordinate 
with Owner in advance of each construction work day.

F. Material Handling

The Fabricator is to pack, wrap, crate, bundle, box, bag, or otherwise 
package, handle, transport, and store all fabricated work as necessary 
to provide protection from damage by every cause. Fabricator shall 
provide clear and legible identifying information on all product 
packaging to ensure proper on-site identification, delivery and 
installation.

G. Construction Methodology

The drawings call for a variety of fabrication techniques. The 
fabricator is provided leeway to fabricate the signs to meet the intent 
of the designs depicted by the drawings.

1. Sign faces are to be fabricated using steel/aluminum plate of 
varying thicknesses, as specified on design intent drawings, with a 
minimum thickness of .125 inches unless otherwise noted.

2. Sign cabinet seams shall be sealed to ensure they are watertight.

3. All finishes are to be satin/matte (as indicated) finish, free from 
fading, peeling or cracking. Paint preparation of all exterior 
metal surfaces of the sign to include removal of all scratches 
and imperfections, sanding and chemical etching. Substrate 
cleaning, preparation, paint application and paint thickness to be 
in strict compliance with Matthews Paint or AkzoNobel published 
recommendations. Acceleration of the drying process is not 
allowed.

4. Except where approved otherwise by Owner, conceal fasteners.

5. Any sign faces smaller than 8’ by 4’ are to be fabricated from 1 
piece of seamless material.  Where materials need to be seamed, 
there shall be no visible joints or weld marks.

6. On welded joints, dimensional and structural welding defects will 
not be accepted, including but not limited to: poor weld contours, 
including excessive bead convexity and reinforcement, and 
considerable concavity or undersized welds; cracks; undercutting; 
porosity; incomplete fusion; inadequate penetration; spatter; 
and non-metallic inclusions. Welding is to be performed by AWS 
(or similar) certified personnel, following AWS Standard Welding 
Procedure Specifications (SWPSs) for steel, aluminum, and 
stainless steel as appropriate.

7. Non-welded joints between various portions of signs must have 
a tight, hairline-type appearance, without gaps. Provide sufficient 
fastenings to preclude looseness, racking, or similar movement.

8. Provide drain holes to prevent accumulation of water within signs. 
Holes must be inconspicuous and be in inconspicuous locations; 
holes must be located such that drainage does not occur onto 
signs, or other surfaces subject to staining. Provide internal 
system of baffles to prevent “light leaks” through drain holes of 

71

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide20

illuminated signs. Provide permanent color-coordinated insect 
screening over drain holes.

9. Non-illuminated sign faces are to have lettering and graphics 
direct printed, minimum 5-year warranty, unless otherwise noted 
in the design intent drawings (such as dimensional lettering 
specified for the gateways and other sign types).

10. High pressure laminate panels with embedded artwork are to 
be printed at a minimum of 1200 DPI using exterior inks. The 
panel must be a solid, one-piece panel with all graphic elements 
inseparable from the substrate in which they are embedded 
(izone, 888.464.9663).

11. Digitally printed graphics are to be printed at a minimum of 1200 
DPI using exterior inks and covered with exterior grade, graffiti 
resistant clear lamination.

12. Visible metal joints must adhere to a fit tolerance of .01”.

13. Aluminum and steel components are to be isolated to prevent 
galvanic corrosion.

14. Steel components are to be powder coated per the coating 
manufacturers specifications to prevent corrosion.

15. Construction materials (i.e. metal) shall not be reflective.

H. Fonts/Typefaces

The fonts used for this project were selected specifically for this 
project by the Designer and Owner, and include those listed in the 
graphic standards. 

It is the responsibility of the fabricator to purchase the fonts.

No substitution of any other typefaces may be made. Under no 
circumstances are typefaces to be electronically distorted (“squeezed” 
or “extended”) for purposes of fitting to the specified sign or general 
alteration of the sign face composition unless noted in the drawings. 
This includes (but is not limited to) stretching, squeezing, tilting, 
outlining or shadowing.

1. All letterforms, symbols or graphics shall be reproduced either by 
photographic or computer-generated means. Hand-cut characters 
are not acceptable. Cutting shall be done in such manner that 
edges and corners of finished

2. letterforms will be sharp and true. Letterforms with nicked, cut, 
ragged, rounded corners, and similar disfigurements will not be 
acceptable.

3. All letterforms shall be made from material and gauge as 
indicated on design intent drawings. Typefaces shall be replicated 
as indicated on the drawing.

4. Ligatures are to be turned off.

5. Apostrophes are to be used, not footmarks. Note that there is a 
difference in most fonts.

6. Silk-screened and vinyl copy is to match the sheen of the copy 
panel background (satin or matte). Edges of letters shall be 
straight and corners sharp. Surface of letters shall be uniform in 
color finish, and free from pinholes and other imperfections.

7. Silk-screened images shall be executed with photo screens 
prepared from original art. No hand-cut screens will be accepted. 
Original art shall be defined as artwork that is a first generation 
reproduction of the specified art.

8. Silk-screening shall be highest quality, with sharp lines and 
no sawtooths or uneven ink coverage. Screens shall be 
photographically produced. Application of inks through screens 
shall consist of one flood pass and one print pass. Images shall 
be uniform in color and ink thickness. Images shall be free from 
squeegee marks and lines resulting from improper print stroke 
or screen off contact height. Signs shall be placed in adequate 
drying racks with minimum of 2 inches between racks for ample 
airflow. Sign racks shall have system of forced airflow between 
layers to provide proper drying and curing of inks. After signs 
have dried completely according to the ink manufacturer’s time 
allowance, signs may be packaged.

9. The edges and corners of routed dimensional and vinyl 
letterforms shall be sharp and true. Letterforms with nicked, 
cut, ragged, rounded (positive or negative) corners, and similar 
disfigurements will not be acceptable.

10. Letterforms shall be aligned so as to maintain a base line parallel 
to the sign format, with margins and layout as indicated on design 
intent drawings and approved shop drawings. Vertical strokes 
shall be plumb.

11. Mechanically fasten center of letters to surface materials as 
described in the design intent.

I. Town Codes, Permits and Variances

Fabricator shall be knowledgeable of relevant local code 
requirements and honor same in fabrication and installation. Where 
applicable, it is the responsibility of the Fabricator to secure any and 
all necessary permits for signage installation. It is the responsibility 
of the Owner to secure variances, should any be required. It is the 
Owner’s responsibility to call the appropriate agency to have all 
underground utilities properly located and marked. Any damage to 
below-grade utilities or structures for which the Owner has provided 
adequate location information is the responsibility of the Fabricator.

J. Site Visit

Prior to installation of the signs, the Fabricator is to visit the proposed 
site to observe existing conditions and verify all signage required 
and its location with Owner. At this time the locations shall be staked 
using a non-permanent visible device such as spray chalk or non-
permanent paint. Certain signs may be located on sloped grades and 
may require uneven footings for each post. Site-verify all locations to 
determine special requirements for footing templates, if required. 

The final Sign Message Schedule and Sign Location Plan shall be 
consulted together and shall be approved by the Owner to determine 
the precise location and compatibility for each sign. Any necessary 
adjustments will be made with the approval of the Owner.

K. Masonry/Footings

Any concrete bases for signage are to be poured in place and footings 
are to extend beneath the frost line (Owner frost depth code requires 
36-inch depth), or deeper to meet local requirements. All footings 
or bases shall be poured within a form and level with grade unless 
otherwise specified in the final design drawings. In locations where 
sloped surfaces require exposure of the concrete footing/base, the 
exposed concrete shall have a light broom finish and be colored in 
242 Sandstone (https://www.denverconcretecompany.net/concrete-
services/stamped-concrete/concrete-colors.html). Foundation/ 
footings should be level with grade unless otherwise noted or as 
specified by state or local code. Foundation/footings shall not extend 
above and exposed edges shall be finished with a bevel to prevent 

72

Item #7.



21Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

chipping. To meet industry best practices, the concrete shall be 
floated by machine or hand before finishing in order to embed larger 
aggregates especially when part of the footing or base extends above 
ground. Concrete surface shall have a light broomed finish grade 
appearance. All concrete bases and footings should be edged to 
break any bond with the form and create a neat appearance. All forms 
shall be removed once the concrete has properly cured. Concrete 
and reinforcement specifications shall be shown on shop drawing 
submittals. The fabricator is responsible for the necessary templates, 
mounting plates and hardware for concrete and masonry bases. 

All masonry (concrete block, poured concrete, river rock, slab, veneer, 
mortar, etc.) is to be properly treated and protected to maintain 
the structural integrity of the masonry work with exposure to all 
environmental conditions found at the site. For exposed or visible 
masonry, this shall include the application of protective sealers or 
similar finishes to diminish the effects of close-proximity sprinkling or 
irrigation systems.

Signs are to be mounted on J-bolt/breakaway footings, centered 
on the concrete base or footing, and engineered per code, unless 
otherwise specified in the design intent drawings.

L. Wind Load

Signs, banners and mounting devices shall be engineered to meet 
Town of Johnstown’s requirements regarding wind loads for signage 
design and installation. The Fabricator shall determine appropriate 
method of anchoring signs to the locations specified to meet these 
requirements as well as all local code requirements.

M. Mounting

All signs to be mounted level and true. All exposed hardware is to 
be touch-up painted on site as required. It is preferred that all bolts, 
nuts, washers, or other fasteners shall be stainless steel. However 
galvanized steel is acceptable, so long as all exposed surfaces are 
sealed.

While sign type drawings may specify or indicate possible mounting 
and/or mounting hardware details, the fabricator will be able to 
substitute equal or better hardware and techniques, based upon their 
experience with similar mounting situations and as long as the visual 
and structural appearance of the sign is not compromised from that 
shown in the design intent drawings.

All signage products must be installed such that there are no 
misalignments between visible components. Sign elements 
intended to be removable or changeable after installation must 
function as intended without binding, sticking or blocking. It will 
be the responsibility of the Fabricator to correct any installation 
misalignments at no charge.

Fabricator and their installers are expected to have knowledge of ADA 
mounting guidelines and Town zoning codes, general sign locating 
practices, and any particular unique installations defined by Designer. 
It is the desire of the Owner that the fabricator follow these guidelines 
as well as architectural cues in installing for the best visual placement, 
keeping a reasonable distance from protruding objects. Any signage 
that is improperly located is to be moved to the proper location by 
the fabricator, and repairs to wall surfaces and signage are to be at the 
fabricator’s expense.

Specific locations provided within this document are the preferred 
locations of the Designer, but those locations may be adjusted by 
the fabricator and Owner per written agreement with the Fabricator 
as necessary (for example, to avoid underground utilities or meet 
standard roadway offset requirements).  If the Installers are unable 
to make a decision about any sign location(s), they shall notify the 
Owner and contact the Designer to provide a graphic representation 
of the questionable location(s), for the purpose of getting Owner and 
Designer site approval.

N. Town Design Standards & Coordination

The Town regulations and standards for signage and lighting systems 
can be found in the Town code, and should be used to determine light 
levels and standards.

O. Demolition

The fabricator is responsible for the removal and disposal of certain 
site features if identified in the sign message schedule. In addition to 
the above grade removals any foundations, anchors and posts must 
also be removed. If there are electrical connections, they must be 
properly terminated.

P. Site Safety and Restoration 

During the installation period, the fabricator is responsible for their 
own safety, and shall maintain a safe environment for pedestrians. The 

fabricator is to keep the Owner’s premises and the adjoining premises, 
driveways and streets clean and clear. The job site shall be left safe, neat 
and clean at the completion of each day’s operation. The fabricator is 
also expected to temporarily maintain old signs in order to continue 
their directional and identification functions, as well as to maintain 
signage that meets MUTCD standards during the installation period. At 
the completion of work, the fabricator shall remove all rubbish, tools, 
equipment, and surplus materials, from and about the premises, and 
shall leave the site as originally found. The fabricator shall be responsible 
for repairing or correcting damage resulting from Installer’s work.

Q. Punchlist

It is required that the fabricator complete a walk through with the 
Owner immediately following installation to identify any errors, such 
as construction or installation issues. Such errors are to be corrected 
in a timely manner, and to the satisfaction of the Owner.  The Owner 
and Fabricator/Installer shall jointly prepare a ‘punchlist’ of project 
installation deficiencies to be corrected by the Fabricator/Installer 
within a period of time specified in agreement by the Owner and 
Designer.

S. Signage Warranty Plan

Fabricator is solely responsible for applying products (paints, finishes, 
components, etc.) according to manufacturers’ specifications and 
validating the warranty. The fabricator is to provide a written five (5) 
year full replacement warranty to the Owner that all signs will be free 
of defects due to craft work and materials including, but not limited 
to:

• bubbling, chalking, rusting or other disintegration of the sign 
panel, graphics or of the edges;

• corrosion appearing beneath paint surfaces of panels, brackets, 
posts or other support assemblies (except as an obvious result of 
vandalism or other external damage);

• corrosion of fasteners;

• assemblies not remaining true and plumb on their supports;

• fading, chalking and discoloration of the colors and finishes within 
the vinyl and paint manufacturer’s stated warranty period;

• peeling, delamination or warping (“oil canning”); and 

73

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide22

• repair and reinstallation of signage due to failed mountings.

Fabricator shall provide and extend in writing to the Owner all 
manufacturers’ warranties for materials and components used within 
the signs. It is the fabricator’s responsibility to obtain extended 5-year 
manufacturer warranties on all powder coat applications.  Warranty 
issues will be addressed by the fabricator within a 2-day time period 
(either through email communication or a phone call).  All warranty 
agreements shall be summarized into a warranty plan and delivered 
to the Town for review and comment.

T. Repair or Replacement

Without additional cost to the Owner, the fabricator shall repair or 
replace, including installation, any defective signs or hardware that 
develop during the warranty period and repair any damage to other 
work due to such imperfections. The fabricator will be required 
to fully replace any and all signs that are in error relative to the 
working documents (sign message schedule and sign type drawings) 
that were submitted to the fabricator upon award of contract.  
Replacement of any warranty items shall occur within a 60-day 
timeframe.

U. Construction Safety & Traffic Control Plan

The Contractor shall arrange Work to disrupt traffic as little as 
possible. All traffic Control Devices used shall conform to the latest 
edition of the Manual of Uniform Traffic Control Devices, (MUTCD).  
Except as otherwise permitted, two-way traffic shall be maintained 
at all times in public roadways (see the Bidding Resources document, 
Attachment B for expanded Traffic Control information).  

V. Maintenance Plan

Fabricator is responsible for providing maintenance and inspection 
of the signage for a 1-year time period, extendable for up to a 5-year 
period.  Maintenance responsibilities will include cleaning and 
inspection of the signage, creation of a punchlist for any needed repairs 
and/or replacements, and estimated costs and timeframes for the 
repairs/replacements.  Inspection and punchlists will be performed 
every 6 months for the first year period.  Owner representatives shall 
accompany the Fabricator during the first year signage maintenance 
and inspections to provide guidance and direction regarding the 
inspection and maintenance of the installed signage.  The Fabricator 

will provide the Owner with an inspection and maintenance punchlist 
after the first year, along with projected costs to continue yearly 
inspection and maintenance of each sign type as agreed upon.  

W. Additional Signage Costs & Phases

The selected fabricator will be provided a complete copy of all the 
proposed signage phases, locations, and designs, and asked to create 
a full cost estimate for subsequent signage phases by the end of July 
2023.  Proposed costs will need to be guaranteed for a 9-month time 
period (with a to be determined contingency), beginning in July 2023 
and ending in March 2024.  Should the Town move forward with 
future phases using the guaranteed price, the selected bidder may 
be awarded Phase 2 signage fabrication.  A final decision regarding 
the opportunity for using the Phase 1 bidder to fabricate the Phase 2 
signage will be made by March 2024.

74

Item #7.



23Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

05
Color, Typography & 
Artwork

Sign Color/Materials Palette
Fabricator is responsible for supplying samples for all colors/materials in the palette.  These are the colors specific to the Phase 1 signs.  Colors are referenced on the signage design elevations.

Reflective White
ORALITE 5800 White 
(Sign Text)

LED Tape to Illuminate Electrified 
Signage
(Static warm white light with maximum 
96 watts for soft glow lighting)

Colored Concrete, Light Broom Finish
Denver Concrete - Sandstone (242)
(Any exposed signage footers)

Pantone 454143
Satin Finish Powdercoat (non reflective)
RGB: R69/G65/B67
CMYK: C65/M62/Y58/K45

Pantone 2B4D59
Satin Finish Powdercoat (non reflective)
RGB: R43/G77/B90
CMYK: C85/M58/Y49/K32

Pantone 39998E
Satin Finish Powdercoat (non reflective)
RGB: R57/G153/B142
CMYK: C76/M20/Y49/K2

Pantone FFDC7C
Satin Finish Powdercoat (non reflective)
RGB: R254/G221/B125
CMYK: C1/M11/Y61/K0

PMS White
Satin Finish Powdercoat (non reflective)

Clear Coat
Anti-Graffiti Clear Coat (non reflective)
(On All Powdercoated Sign Faces/
Surfaces/Lettering)

General Shale ‘Sonoma’ Clay Brick 
https://generalshale.com/products/
sonoma/

White Frosted Acrylic  
LuciteLux White Frosted Acrylic or Similar

Yellow Frosted Acrylic  
LuciteLux White Frosted Acrylic or Similar

08

1211

01 02 03 04

05

10

09

13

07

COLOR, TYPOGRAPHY & ARTWORK

Niveau Grotesk - JOHNSTOWN & “Local Grows Here”
ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQRSTUVWXYZ

abcdefghijklmnopqrstuvwxyz

MODESTO OPEN - DOWNTOWN

ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQRSTUVWXYZ

abcdefghijklmnopqrstuvwxyz

75

Item #7.



Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide24

COLOR, TYPOGRAPHY & ARTWORK

Typical auto directional signage panel - all needed directional 
and informational artwork will be provided to the selected 

fabricator prior to fabrication

76

Item #7.



25Downtown Johnstown Branding Guide

EXERUM ANIS ILIQUE RERRUPTA
Mod quo mincte parcim ullibus dolore, quis et et que sus earumqui 
blam quiam, est, sequi voluptatur, niendit atatur accum velibus sim 
rerrovit apid ex eiur sequis ut aperro ipsuntiscias vendusdamus es-
trum quat rem eos elibus am nonsers perferum repedipsa con netur 
autatem lique doloribus rerspidicimo essi aut faccum am esequi 
ommolor rumendisciet ut aut a volupta que od molorro voluptate-
mo berum endis simaion sequia con nihit earisquatur molore, veles 
mint la que volut ut magnimi, ut latem. Ximpostrum explabor sit, 
eum inctur? Militat emporentis pa volessim quam et, volut pa nate 
occaborrum isimus et inihilique re dolorit, cullo voluptur, totatias 
voluptur sint est aped que volendi catiunt a illa commodia sinusci 
temque volut pores qui sint ma cus as magnis am untiorum imusciae 
dellabor aceperios repelis essincto culparum con corum cum sunt.

Ad earia cus, sunte et eatemqui conem aditae consero omnisti 
issiminis que enistio maionsenim fugia nusda deroratur ateseca 
boreium rerit rerumet ipsum ea ide voluptatibus et as aspid ut quo 
con exerepudis volumquame doloreriam ipsam landaepelit quibust 
eicium simo esti optate labo. Nam que nos arum num ut ut autem-
pel ex eveleniene sunt que qui re eosse mos vel ist, voluptasped 
mi, imoluptatus rem re es sus volum re, que lignimil modit, quibus 
et doluptatur, sed ererume pellestium sam fuga. Itat moluptas sam 
acerae cus si digenti non eossimet etur, ape dolorehenes ab ius do-
lendit quundi nonsed endestrum audigenimus aut evenis int autat-
ur, ut la net quiatus et aut oditas aut fugia que officim incipit apedit 
que corehen delluptate expeditem recullabo. Unt ea quatem quis 
aut modi blacero beriam eliquissus es consed quiderum senditiis 
eum as di omnis pa consequam, optaquaes nitiae voloratis et que 
solesti is voluptatur aligent qui sedit, que sitiis nobisitatur simpor a 
pre pos arunt offic tem consequam ilique et qui arum harum sunte 
que imus, sendita num quis veleseque sumquia voloris si dolo con-
sequos deni tent, quiberum aute inisquaero tesequis et, nis exped 
quunt.

Sam aborit, quis et apis eum arum rempore riatat atem num derum 
simi, optae vendamet quis et est lanture ribusaeste nihillest ut el 
maios etur, quis et aut licium volore ditiur, officip isimin repel ide 
volorrovit aute volest, sam nobitat quis alic tem quia corio idi unt 
doluptatqui blacestio ex esequi quo blaborrum eici quodit duntium 
qui cum solor sit vellori aerrovid quo earia nit abor aut dolo blam 
explatur, in consendus acea simaionsed qui dolorio. Ovid eiusam, 
quatque netur, quate pedis doloresciur?

Harchictia doluptat. Veliquiae nus, aut et explatatur mo quunt.

Cus exceaquossin etur rectus essi dia nonet quam estiis eos nullor-
rum nobis re repre, atqui ut ad et dolupid magnisque cuscit, opta 
sundit, utaesti asitis et, omnihilibus, nulleste voloreperum fuga. 
Nem doluptate laut harum dolor sit, tem fugit asinctatem que pe-
rum faci consent eumet quia pore voles ellab illa et eos estrum qui 
qui omnis dit, sent aut laborem rem repudantibus voluptatur aut ea 
doluptatem evel molorecto tes sitionseque nitate cum inum illecum 
labo. Nem aperspi cienimus.

Anis velia inctiore natias sincid et aut et laut abor aut aspe nieturi 
aut litat rem que endelent odit as aut invelitatium sunt, sum volor 
aut eum ipisit, endae voloritiae nes ante sitatem que sunt rest odic-
torendit ad utatur?

Xerum que dendit qui intia sedignis qui volo officia dolorios molen-
dit quaesto taquatios dolum exerio tem aut lictes platur, cusae nis 
nones aliquae vendita tiuntiis niaturest, volupti iligendam a siteserro 
et quae pratur?

Consedi ossincia assit 

Consecto dolupti bustenim dia suscipsam nita eost il inverferia num 
et alit asperum harchiliti dolupit dit am am, tem videbis cienducime 
nonsenis sapella ccuscius custemo lorum, velluptatem alitatem aut 
aut aut a quam apid quas nissunt laccaerum evenia quam et dolup-
tam sinctat emporio est, vidio optiae. Os eturi alic te conse rerum 
aperat modit am, cor alit la vellabo. Uga. Aximi, nobitiiscit eatiis re 
dolore estruntur, etur alit rest aut aut faccustiis sam ium quam, illam 
sa nulparis suntissi aut aborerspe volum rem quam et moluptatur 
suntiam, corescient.

Ende velibusci sedi dolorro tem int landam sit vit quiberum aut at 
quundig enimi, officit atquat poriore mperchicime con rehenda 
nducia vel eumet aut arum rectoreium fugit qui berum qui beaquo 
cum quidebit, nonseri vita sam ium quiae disquodici ratur, si nis 
eturitius doluptatur?

Da quamusci ut ut quiae eatium in nobist, od entorib erfernam 
verrum sequae vel iuntione vitaquos estiati ssitae nonsequam qui 
nihillam is disi cum, ipsandia volore dollabor as sus am fugiatem 
quas dolorro debitio nectore, aliquundit odit, cus ut offic to ide mo 
te volorpo reprovidusa doluptiisqui culland ipsusci mpelenisque 
pro de nonsequam res idestrum re, to magnitature dolo invel magni 

01
Title of Section Here

DOCUMENT PREPARED BY:

77

Item #7.



 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN  

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and 

entered into this ____ day of July 2023 (the “Effective Date”) by and between the Town of 

Johnstown, Colorado, a Colorado home-rule municipal corporation (the “Town”) and Apex Sign 

Co., a limited liability company, d/b/a Ad Light Group (“Contractor”) (collectively, the “Parties”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Town desires to engage the services of Contractor and Contractor desires 

to provide those services more fully described on Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference (“Services”), to the Town; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to memorialize their contractual relationship. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, incorporating the foregoing Recitals herein and in consideration of 

the mutual promises, agreements, undertakings and covenants set forth herein and for other good 

and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties 

hereby mutually agree as follows: 

SECTION 1:  PARTIES 

1.01 Town.  The Town is a home-rule municipal corporation located in Johnstown, 

Colorado. 

 

1.02 Contractor.  Contractor is a private, independent business entity who will exercise 

discretion and judgment of an independent contractor in the performance and exercise of its rights 

and obligations under this Agreement.   

SECTION 2: SERVICES, COMPENSATION AND TERM 

2.01 Services.  Contractor agrees to perform the Services for the Town.    

 

2.02 Compensation.  In consideration of Contractor’s performance of the Services 

contemplated herein, the Town agrees to pay Contractor the compensation set forth on Exhibit A.   

Contractor shall submit detailed invoices reflecting the portion of the Services completed to the 

date of the invoice.  The Town shall provide payment for Services to Contractor within thirty (30) 

days of receipt of the invoice.  In its discretion, the Town may withhold payment for disputed 

portions of invoices on the condition that the Town provides written notice to Contractor of the 

dispute.  Upon delivery of notice, the Town and Contractor shall promptly endeavor to resolve 

such dispute. 

 

2.03 Expenses:  Contractor shall not incur any expense or debt on behalf of the Town 

78

Item #7.



 
 

without the Town’s prior written authorization. 

 

2.04 Term.  Unless otherwise terminated in accordance with Section 5, the term of this 

Agreement shall be from the Effective Date through February 29, 2024, and shall not extend 

beyond that date absent the written approval of the Town. 

 

SECTION 3: OPERATIONS 

3.01 Contractor Status.  Contractor avers that it has the background, expertise and 

education to provide the Services.  Contractor shall be responsible for the proper performance of 

the Services in accordance with the terms hereof.  Contractor shall obtain the necessary permits, if 

any, and maintain all required licenses, including but not limited to a Town business license. 

3.02 Schedule.  Unless otherwise set forth in Exhibit A, Contractor shall provide the 

Services in accordance with the timeline requested by the Town 

SECTION 4:  INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY PROVISIONS 

4.01 Insurance. 

 

A. Contractor understands and agrees that Contractor shall have no right of 

coverage under any existing or future Town comprehensive or personal injury liability 

insurance policies.  As a material term of this Agreement, Contractor agrees to maintain 

and keep in force during the term of this Agreement one or more policies of insurance 

written by one or more responsible insurance carrier(s) authorized to do business in the 

State of Colorado in the following amounts: 

 

1. Workers’ compensation insurance as required by law; 

 

2. Commercial general or business liability insurance with minimum 

combined single limits of ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) each 

occurrence and TWO MILLION DOLLARS ($2,000,000.00) general aggregate; 

 

3. Automobile liability insurance with minimum combined single 

limits for bodily injury and property damage of not less than ONE MILLION 

DOLLARS ($1,000,000) for any one occurrence, with respect to each of 

Contractor’s owned, hired or non-owned vehicles assigned to or used in 

performance of the Services.  In the event that Contractor’s insurance does not 

cover non-owned automobiles, the requirements of this paragraph shall be met by 

each employee of Contractor who utilizes an automobile in providing services to 

Town under this Agreement; and 

 

4. Professional liability insurance with minimum limits of ONE 

MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) each claim and TWO MILLION 

DOLLARS ($2,000,000.00) general aggregate. 

 

B. Contractor shall procure and maintain the minimum insurance coverages 

79

Item #7.



 
 

listed herein.  All coverages shall be continuously maintained to cover all liability, claims, 

demands and other obligations assumed by Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  In the 

case of any claims-made policy, the necessary retroactive dates and extended reporting 

periods shall be procured to maintain such continuous coverage. The Town shall have the 

right to request and receive a certified copy of any policy and any endorsement thereto.  

Except for workers compensation insurance, the Town shall be listed as an additional 

insured party on Contractor’s insurance policies. 

 

C. A certificate of insurance shall be completed by Contractor’s insurance 

agent(s) as evidence that policies providing the required coverages, conditions and 

minimum limits are in full force and effect, and, upon request by the Town, shall be subject 

to review and approval by the Town.  The certificate shall identify this Agreement and 

shall provide that the coverages afforded under the policies shall not be canceled, 

terminated or materially changed until at least thirty (30) days prior written notice has been 

given to Town.  If the words “endeavor to” appear in the portion of the certificate 

addressing cancellation, those words shall be stricken from the certificate by the agent(s) 

completing the certificate.  The completed certificate of insurance shall be provided to the 

Town.     

4.02 Damage and Indemnity. Contractor assumes full responsibility for any and all 

damages caused by Contractor’s exercise of its activities, or failures to act, under this Agreement. 

Contractor agrees that it will at all times protect, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Town, 

its elected officials, employees, agents, and their successors and assigns, from and against all 

liabilities, losses, claims, demands, actions and costs (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), arising 

from or related to loss or damage to property or injury to or death to any persons arising from or 

resulting in any manner from the actions or failures to act of Contractor or any invitees, guests, 

agents, employees or subcontractors of Contractor, whether brought by any of such persons or any 

other person. 

SECTION 5:  TERMINATION 

5.01 Termination.  The Town may terminate this Agreement, with or without cause, by 

providing thirty (30) days prior written notice to Contractor.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the 

Town terminates this Agreement for cause and determines that a notice period is not in the best 

interests of the Town, the Town may terminate this Agreement by providing written notice to 

Contractor effective immediately.   

SECTION 6: INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

6.01 Independent Contractor.  Contractor understands and agrees that Contractor is an 

independent contractor and not an employee of the Town.  The Town shall not provide benefits of 

any kind to Contractor.  The Town shall not be responsible for withholding any portion of 

Contractor’s compensation for the payment of Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) tax, 

workers’ compensation, or other taxes or benefits.  CONTRACTOR IS NOT ENTITLED TO 

UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION COVERAGE FROM THE TOWN.  CONTRACTOR IS 

OBLIGATED TO PAY FEDERAL AND STATE INCOME TAX ON MONEYS PAID 

PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT.  As long as there is not a conflict of interest with the 

80

Item #7.



 
 

Town, Contractor may engage in any other lawful business activities during the term of this 

Agreement. 

SECTION 7: NOTICE  

7.01 Notices.  All notices required under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be: 

1) hand-delivered; 2) sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, 

to the addresses of the Parties herein set forth; or 3) sent by electronic mail (“email”) return receipt 

or written acknowledgment requested and received.  All notices by hand-delivery shall be effective 

upon receipt.  All notices by mail shall be considered effective seventy-two (72) hours after deposit 

in the United States mail with the proper address as set forth below.  All notices by email shall be 

effective upon acknowledgment of receipt by the intended recipient.  Either party, by notice to be 

given, may change the address to which future notices shall be sent. 

 

 TO THE TOWN: 

 Town of Johnstown 

 Attn: Town Clerk 

 450 S. Parish Avenue 

 P.O. Box 609 

 Johnstown, CO 80534 

 Email: HHill@JohnstownCo.Gov  

 

TO CONTRACTOR:    

Apex Sign Co. dba Ad Light Group 

Attn: Crystal Hodges 

4150 Elati Street 

Denver, CO 80216 

Email: chodges@adlightgroup.com  

  

SECTION 8:  MISCELLANEOUS 

8.01 Time.  Time is of the essence of this Agreement and of each covenant hereof. 

8.02 Non-Appropriation of Funds. Pursuant to Section 29-1-110, C.R.S., as amended, 

financial obligations of the Town payable as set forth herein, after the current fiscal year, are 

contingent upon funds for that purpose being budgeted, appropriated and otherwise made 

available.  This Agreement shall be terminated effective January 1 of the first fiscal year for which 

funds are not budgeted and appropriated. 

8.03 Laws and Regulations.  In the conduct of the Services, Contractor shall comply 

with all applicable laws, rules and regulations, and the directives or instructions issued by the 

Town or its designated representatives. 

8.04 Assignment; Third Party Rights.  Contractor may not assign, delegate or 

subcontract any part of its rights, duties or obligations under this Agreement.  The Parties do not 

intend to confer any benefit hereunder on any person or entity other than the Parties hereto. 

81

Item #7.

mailto:HHill@JohnstownCo.Gov
mailto:chodges@adlightgroup.com


 
 

8.05 Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by a 

subsequent written instrument signed by the Parties.  Course of performance, no matter how long, 

shall not constitute an amendment to this Agreement.   

8.06 Severability.  If any part, term or provision of this Agreement is declared unlawful 

or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, except 

that, in the event any state or federal governmental agency or court determines that the relationship 

between the Town and Contractor is one of employment rather than independent contractor, this 

Agreement shall become null and void in its entirety. 

8.07 Waiver.  No consent or waiver, express or implied, by the Town to or of any breach 

or default by Contractor in the performance by Contractor of its obligations hereunder shall be 

deemed or construed to be a consent or waiver to or of any other breach or default by the Town.  

Failure on the part of the Town to complain of any act or failure to act or to declare Contractor in 

default, irrespective of how long such failure continues, shall not constitute a waiver by the Town 

of its rights hereunder. 

8.08 Governmental Immunity.  The Parties agree that the Town is relying on, and does 

not waive or intend to waive by any provision of the Agreement, the monetary limitations or any 

other rights, immunities, and protections provided by the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, 

§§ 24-10-101 et seq., C.R.S., as amended from time, or otherwise available to the Town, its elected 

officials, employees or agents. 

8.09 Applicable Law and Venue.  This Agreement shall be construed according to the 

laws of the State of Colorado.  Venue for any claim, proceeding or action arising out of this 

Agreement shall be in Weld County, State of Colorado. 

8.10 Mediation.  In the event of any dispute arising under this Agreement, except in the 

case of an action for injunctive relief, the Parties shall submit the matter to mediation prior to 

commencing legal action and shall share equally in the cost of the mediation. 

8.11 Costs and Attorney’s Fees.  If any judicial proceedings may hereafter be brought to 

enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement, the Town, if the prevailing party, shall be entitled 

to recover the costs of such proceedings, including reasonable attorney’s fees and reasonable 

expert witness fees. 

8.12 Entire Agreement.  The provisions of this Agreement represent the entire and 

integrated agreement between the Town and Contractor and supersede all prior negotiations, 

representations and agreements, whether written or oral.  

8.13 Public Official Personal Liability.  Nothing herein shall be construed as creating 

any personal liability on the part of any elected official, employee or agent of the Town. 

8.14 No Presumption.  Each Party acknowledges that it has carefully read and reviewed 

the terms of this Agreement.  Each Party acknowledges that the entry into and execution of this 

Agreement is of its own free and voluntary act and deed, without compulsion.  Each Party 

acknowledges that it has obtained, or has had the opportunity to obtain, the advice of legal counsel 

82

Item #7.



 
 

of its own choosing in connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and with 

respect to all matters set forth herein.  The Parties agree that this Agreement reflects the joint 

drafting efforts of all Parties and in the event of any dispute, disagreement or controversy arising 

from this agreement, the Parties shall be considered joint authors and no provision shall be 

interpreted against any Party because of authorship. 

8.15 Controlling Document. In the event of a conflict between the provisions in this 

Agreement and Exhibit A, the provisions in this Agreement shall control. 

8.16 Headings.  The headings in this Agreement are inserted only for the purpose of 

convenient reference and in no way define, limit or prescribe the scope or intent of this Agreement 

or any part thereof. 

8.17 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall 

be an original, but all of which, together, shall constitute one and the same instrument.  

8.18 Data Security.  If Contractor has access to personal identifying information during 

the term of this Agreement, Contractor shall, pursuant to Section 24-73-101, et seq., C.R.S., 

destroy all paper and electronic documents containing such personal identifying information 

within six months of termination of this Agreement, unless otherwise required by law.  During the 

term of this Agreement, Contractor shall implement and maintain reasonable security procedures 

that are appropriate to the nature of the personal identifying information disclosed or maintained 

and that are reasonably designed to help protect the information from unauthorized access, use, 

modification, disclosure or destruction. If Contractor discovers or is informed of a security breach, 

Contractor shall give the Town notice in the most expedient time and without unreasonable delay, 

no later than ten (10) calendar days after it is determined a security breach occurred. Contractor 

shall cooperate with the Town in the event of a security breach that compromises computerized 

data, if misuse of personal information about a Colorado resident occurred or is likely to occur.  

Cooperation includes sharing with the Town information relevant to the security breach. 

8.19  Right to Injunction.  The Parties hereto acknowledge that the Services to be 

rendered by Contractor and the rights and privileges granted to the Town under the Agreement are 

of a special, unique, unusual and extraordinary character which gives them a peculiar value, the 

loss of which may not be reasonably or adequately compensated by damages in any action at law, 

and the breach by Contractor of any of the provisions of this Agreement may cause the Town 

irreparable injury and damage.  Contractor agrees that the Town, in addition to other relief at law, 

shall be entitled to injunctive and other equitable relief in the event of, or to prevent, a breach of 

any provision of this Agreement by Contractor. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.] 

 

83

Item #7.



 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 

written above.  

 

TOWN OF JOHNSTOWN, COLORADO 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By:__________________________         By:_______________________________ 

     Hannah Hill, Town Clerk                           Troy Mellon, Mayor 

 

 

APEX SIGN CO., LLC:  

       

       

 

By:_______________________________ 

Name: 

Title: 

 

STATE OF COLORADO) 

                                         ) ss 

COUNTY OF _________) 

 

 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this _________day of __________, 20_____, by 

_______________________ as the ______________ of _______________________. 

 

 

 WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

 

 My commission expires:__________________________ 

 

                                                                          ______________________________ 

                                                                          Notary Public 

        

84

Item #7.



 
 

EXHIBIT A 

SERVICES 

 

[RFP, FINAL BID TAB, AND SIGNAGE DESIGNS TO BE INSERTED] 

 

 

 

 

85

Item #7.



 

 

 
 

Sarah Croshwaite 

Downtown Johnstown Branding and Wayfinding Project

 

970.578.9612 / scrosthwaite@johnstownco.gov

Kris�n Cypher
kris�n.cypher@mbakerintl.com
  

A�ernoon Sarah & Kris�n,

 Ad Light Group is pleased to submit our response to The Town of Johnstown for the Branding and Wayfinding Signage 
Project.  We have provided ROM (budgetary) costs in the spreadsheet based on fabrica�on recommenda�ons and our current 
understanding of the signage. If we are awarded this project, we will work with Kris�n to create shop drawings and firm pricing 
based on the actual materials used.

 Our team at Ad Light Group brings extensive experience in the signage industry along the Front Range. If you decide to 
partner with us, we will assign a dedicated team with a sales execu�ve, project manager, designer, custom fabrica�on specialist 
and installa�on crew to design and build signage that suit your needs.

 I, Crystal Hodges, will be personally overseeing this project with 16+ years of experience in the sign industry. This 
project has personal significance to me, as I live on Charlo�e Street in Downtown Johnstown.  Furthermore, the close proximity 
of my home office to the project’s loca�on would make a great asset for the town, available for on-site mee�ngs and in-person 
discussions of any concerns that may arise.  I am confident that Ad Light Group will meet and exceed your expecta�ons.

 Thank you for considering our proposal and I look forward to further discussing our offer.

Crystal Hodges
Sales Execu�ve
720.838.8652 / chodges@adlightgroup.com

86

Item #7.



15

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

BIDDER’S QUALIFICATIONS AND DATA

The signatory of this Statement guarantees the truth and accuracy of all statements and of answers to all questions herein. All 

questions must be answered clearly and comprehensively. If necessary, separate sheets may be attached. The Bidder may 

submit additional information. Failure to complete and return this Statement may render a bid non-responsive.

Name of Bidding Firm:

Main Office Address:

Phone:

Fax #:

The Bidder is organized as a (corporation/partnership/other):

In the state of:

Bidder’s federal tax identification number (TIN):

General character of work performed by your organization and brief history of operations:

Does your firm have an officer, director, or agent or is also an officer or employee of the Town of Johnstown?

YES  NO 

Are there any Town of Johnstown agents of employees who own, directly or indirectly an interest in the bidder’s firm or any of 

its branches?

YES  NO 

Bonding Limit: $

Bonding Company:

Phone #:

Address:

The Town has a right to request financial statement(s) and other relevant information.  Are you willing to submit such information 

at the Town’s request?

YES  NO 

Submitted By:

Date:

NA

Light Group is inventive, strategic and flexible in providing turn-key solutions that deliver on its promises.

$2,000,000.00
Surescape Insurance Services
303.225.8030
7800 S, Elati St., Suite 100 Littleton, CO 80120

Office: 308 Charlotte St Johnstown, CO 80534 / Fabrication: 4150 Elati St Denver, CO 80216
Apex Sign Co dba Ad Light Group

720.838.8652

Corporation
Colorado

84-1345476

Crystal Hodges
6.15.2023

Ad Light Group is your specialty lighting and custom signage partner, handling every step of the manufacturing process in house
and under one roof. With advanced technology and skills for unlimited options in material, substrate, size and detail, Ad

87

Item #7.



88

Item #7.



89

Item #7.



16 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

(Person Submitting Bid)

QUALIFICATIONS

How many years have you been in business under your present firm or trade name?

Under other names?

Have you or your organization, or any office or partner thereof, failed to complete a contract?

YES  NO 

Within the last five years, has your organization been assessed liquidated damages for failing to complete a contract within the 

time specified?

YES  NO 

Has your organization been assessed any penalties for non-compliance violations of the Federal or State Labor laws and/or 

regulations within the last five years?

YES  NO 

Does your organization have any outstanding judgments, demands, or liens resulting from violating State Labor laws, Colorado 

Revised Statutes, Civil or Criminal decisions?

YES  NO 

Have there been any suits, liens, or surety claims against you or your organization over the past five years for non-payment of 

sums due subcontractors or suppliers for work completed?

YES  NO 

Has your organization been cited for violations of OSHA standards and requirements within the past five years?

YES  NO 

Is either the Bidder or its principals presently debarred, suspended, proposed for disbarment, declared ineligible, or 

voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any department or agency?

YES  NO 

Have you ever been debarred or suspended by a government from consideration for the award of contracts?

YES  NO 

Please explain all questions answered “yes” in the section above on a separate sheet of paper. Include where and why, if 

applicable. Note that your answers do not necessarily disqualify your bid. For example, it is not uncommon for contractors of 

large projects to be charged liquidated damages in certain cases.

Since 5/16/1996
Ad-Lite Signs, Ad Lite Sign, ad light + sign (1951-1996)

90

Item #7.



17

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

FIRM BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE

Total number of employees:

Total number of licensed professionals:

Proposed Superintendent:

Title:

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

Principals

List directors, officers, owners, managerial employees, or partners, and identify the ownership interest of each:

Experience

List the experience of the principal members of your organization. If preferred, resumes may be submitted in lieu of form entry

Name:

Title:

Background/Years of Experience:

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

Name:

Title:

Background/Years of Experience:

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

Name:

Title:

Background/Years of Experience:

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

Keith Hurley (Owner/Advisor)

Amanda Hurley (Owner/CEO)

Keith Hurley

Owner/Advisor

Amanda Hurley
Owner/CEO

Todd Bridgewater
Install Manager

26

10

Tory Humphrey
VP Sales

17

International Sign Association, Apartment Association of Metro Denver, SEGD Denver

35
3

CDL, Safety Training

91

Item #7.



18 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Similar Projects

List three projects of similar scope and budget to this project that your organization has performed work on:

Project Name:

Cost:

Location:

Reference Name:

Phone:

Project Name:

Cost:

Location:

Reference Name:

Phone:

Project Name:

Cost:

Location:

Reference Name:

Phone:

Contract(s) on Hand

List projects your organization is undertaking that will be concurrent with the Town’s bid schedule. Include the anticipated 

completion date.

Project Name:

Schedule

Cost:

Location:

Subcontractor or Prime:

Completion Date:

Project Name:

Schedule

Cost:

Location:

Subcontractor or Prime:

Completion Date:

Empower Field Branding Signage and Pedestrian Signage
$954,000.00
1701 Bryant St. Denver, CO 80204
Zach Myhra
720.258.3054

Highlands Ranch Metro District
$202,700.00
3280 Redstone Park Circle Highlands Ranch, CO 80129
Brittany White
303.791.0430

Market Station
$398,796.00
1881 16th St. Mall #500 Denver, CO 80202
Doug Alexander
303.573.0050

911 Gothic Road, POB 1500 Mt. Crested Butte, CO 81225
$991,812.00

Mt. Crested Butte (Signage & Wayfinding)

16th Street Mall (Shade Structures)

$611,264.00
16th Street Mall Denver, CO 80202

October 2023

Q4 2023

Fabrication from July - Sept, Installing October

Fabrication from July - October, Installer by end of Year

Prime

Prime

92

Item #7.



19

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

SUBCONTRACTORS AND RELATED DATA

For each Subcontractor to be utilized, please provide the following information (use additional sheets as necessary). Please 

indicate what percentage of the Work to be assigned.

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Diversified Underground

Paul Clark Masonry

Denver, CO
To be provided if needed post award

To be provided if needed post award

To be provided if needed post award

5555 Locust St Commerce City, CO 80022
Masonry - about 15%

Utility Locates, HydroVac, Concrete - about 20%

Electric Company (((                   )))

93

Item #7.



20 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

BID PROPOSAL

PROJECT: Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan - Phase 1

In compliance with the Invitation to Bid, and subject to all conditions thereof, the undersigned: [Select one]

[Enter name if corporation]

a corporation incorporated in the State of

OR

a partnership or limited partnership, registered in the State of

whose general partner(s) is/are:

[Enter name(s) of partner(s) if partnership]

OR

a sole proprietor, whose trade name is

[Enter if sole proprietor]

based in the Town/City of

State of

offers this Bid Proposal for the construction of all items listed at the prices shown on the following bid schedule.

(The attached bid schedule lists the various divisions of construction contemplated in the Plans and Specifications, together 

with an estimate of the units of each. With these units as the basis, extend each item, using the cost inserted in the unit column. 

Any total cost found inconsistent with the unit cost when the Bids are examined will be deemed in error and corrected to 

agree with the unit cost. Alternate Bids are optional).

The undersigned Bidder declares and stipulates that this Bid is made in good faith, without collusion or connection with any 

other person or persons bidding for the same Work, and that it is made subject to all the terms and conditions of the Invitation 

to Bid, Instructions for Bidders, Construction Contract, General Conditions, Special Conditions, the Technical Specifications, and 

the Plans pertaining to the Work to be done, all of which have examined by the undersigned.

Accompanying this Bid is a Bid Guarantee for 5% of the total Bid amount according to the Invitation to Bid and Instructions for 

Bidders.

Apex Sign Co. LLC dba Ad Light Group
Colorado

94

Item #7.



21

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

The undersigned Bidder agrees to execute the Construction Contract, a Performance Bond and a Labor and Material Payment 

Bond within ten calendar days from the date when the written Notice of Award is delivered at the address given on this Bid 

Proposal. The Performance Bond and Labor and Material Payment Bond shall each be for the amount of the total of this Bid.

The name and address of the corporate surety through which the Bidder proposes to furnish the specified Bonds is as follows: 

[Enter name and address of surety]

The submission of the Bid constitutes an agreement, and it shall not be withdrawn after the Bid Opening for a period of thirty 

days.

All the various phases of work enumerated in the Contract with individual jobs and overhead, whether specifically mentioned 

or not, are included by implication or appurtenance in the Contract. The Contractor shall perform all the various phases of work 

under one of the items listed in the bid schedule, irrespective of whether it is named in the schedule.

Payment for the Work performed will be according to the bid schedule, subject to changes as provided in the Contract.

The undersigned Bidder hereby acknowledges receipt of addenda numbers       through       [Enter addenda numbers]

Initials

The undersigned, being familiar with the existing conditions on the project area affecting the cost of the Work, the Bidding 

Documents and the Contract Documents, and having verified the quantities and the availability of materials and labor, 

hereby proposes to furnish all supervision, labor, materials, machinery, tools, appurtenances, equipment, supplies, and 

services, including utility and transportation service required to construct and complete the Project listed above, according 

to the Contract, within the time specified, and at the prices stated below. These prices are to cover all expenses incurred in 

performing the Work required under the Contract of which this Bid is a part.

(The approximate quantities of Work to be completed in-place under the Contract are identified in the bid schedule and are 

for the purpose of comparing Bids. These quantities have been Town of Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan - Phase 

1 estimated and the quantities used are for the general information of the Bidder, representing the major items of the Work to 

be done. Minor details are not listed but shall be part of the complete Contract).

The undersigned agrees to hold firm the Bid for thirty days for the purpose of the Town reviewing the Bids and investigating 

the qualifications of the Bidders prior to award of Contract. Extensions of time may be made if mutually agreed upon.

The undersigned hereby authorizes and requests any person, firm or corporation to furnish any information requested by the 

Town of Johnstown in verification of the recitals in this statement.

Surescape Insurance Services / 7800 S Elati St, Suite 100 Littleton, CO 80120

1 2
AH

95

Item #7.



96

Item #7.



Ad Light Group
Task # Pay Item # Description Quantity Unit Unit Value in $ Total Value in $ Fabrication Assumptions for Pricing
Task A:  Signage Fabrication

A.1 1
Town and Consultant 
Coordination 1 LS 6,750.00$                6,750.00$               

Project Management

A.2 2

Prepare Sign Manufacturing 
Report Specifications 
(Electric and Non-Electric 
Signs) 1 LS 550.00$                    550.00$                   

Project Management

Design / Shop Drawings 7,600.00$                7,600.00$               Submitted as Electronic PDF to scale on 11" x 17" (Draft) and 24" x 36" (Final)

Stamped Engineered 
Drawings 5,100.00$                5,100.00$               

Stamped Engineered Drawings; Must be Executed by Colorado Licensed Company - "J" will be a RUSH

A.4 4

Prepare Final Record
Documents – Per Quality
Control Plan 1 LS 1,150.00$                1,150.00$               

Project Management

A.5 5 Prepare Sign Costs 1 LS 1,750.00$                1,750.00$               Project Management

A.6 6
Prepare Warranty Plan for
Town 1 LS 875.00$                    875.00$                   

Project Management

A.7 8
Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Columnar 
Gateway (G1)

1 EA 89,300.77$             89,300.77$            

1/4" Aluminum Reverse Lit Logo
4x4x1/4" Aluminum SQ Tube Vertical Posts, Tied Together w/ Alum Filler Pieces
2x2x1/8" Aluminum SQ Tube Divider Sections for Faces
1/2" Acrylic Push Thru Graphic Panels; Digitally Printed Vinyl for Push Thru Faces
Aluminum Channel for Wrap Around Illuminated Bars
Face Lit Trimless Channel Letters; 1/2" White Acrylic Faces
Fabricated Cabinet for Top Section; White Acrylic Push Thrus
Clock is Not Functional; Stagnent to Represent Aesteroid Hitting Johnstown
All Painted w/ Automotive Grade Exterior Paint & Prints to Match Color Keys 
***Some Structural Details of this Sign May Need Modifications During Shop Designs to Work as Intended

A.8 9
Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Curved Corner 
Gateway (G2)

1 EA 85,390.72$             85,390.72$            

4x4x1/4" Aluminum SQ Tube Vertical Posts, Tied Together w/ Alum Filler Pieces
Filler Pieces; Mesh Faces w/ One Side Removable, White LED Illumination Shoebox Style Build
Illuminated Caps; Aluminum Mesh Backed w/ Poly, White LED Illumination
All Posts Direct Buried
Trimcapless Channel Letters, 1 Sided, Attached to Fabricated Wire Ways & Tubes 
Aluminum Channel Reverse Lit Light Bars
Trimcapless Face Lit Channel Letters Attached to Brick Base
Fabricated Shoebox Cabinets w/ White Acrylic Push Thru & Vinyl Detail
All Painted w/ Automotive Grade Exterior Paint & Prints to Match Color Keys 
***Some Structural Details of this Sign May Need Modifications During Shop Designs to Work as Intended

A.9 10
Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Sculptural “J” 
Gateway (G2)

1 EA 45,361.68$             45,361.68$            

Aluminum Angle Frame w/ 1/8" Routed Faces and Butt Stratted Panels
.090 Aluminum Returns, Interior Returns to be Skinned  As Well
Routed Solid / Mesh Screens, Backed w/ Polycarbonate
Trimless Channel Letters, Mounted to Return; White LED Illumination
LED Illuminated From Interior "void" 
Mounting; TBD either Bolted or Core Drilled  -  Final Design, Placement and Stamped Drawings will Confirm
***Some Structural Details of this Sign May Need Modifications During Shop Designs to Work as Intended

A.10 11
Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Pedestrian Kiosk 
(P2)

1 EA 26,487.94$             26,487.94$            

1/4" Rear Lit Aluminum Logos
Fabricated Vertical Outside Support; Approx. 4" x 10"
Aluminum Channel Reverse Lit Light Bars
Fabricated Cabinet w/ Push Thru Welcome/Info Copy
Digitally Printed Map and Directional Panels; Backed w/ White Reflective Vinyl  
Face Lit Trimless "J" Logos; Attached to Mesh Skinned Cabinet
Small "Downtown Johnstown" to be Shallow Shoeboxes w/ Acrylic Push Thru Copy
***Some Structural Details of this Sign May Need Modifications During Shop Designs to Work as Intended

270,316.11$           270,316.11$         

Task B:  Signage Installation

B.1 12 Town and Consultant 
Coordination

1 LS 3,250.00$                3,250.00$               Install Coordination

B.2 13

Site Visit (Confirm Sign
Locations, Utilities, Other
Installation Site Factors) 1 LS 1,330.56$                1,330.56$               

Technical Site Survey /Mark Sign Locations

B.3 14
Prepare Construction Plan
Documents 1 LS -$                            -$                           

Included in Other Sections Pricing (Project Management/Design)

B.4 15
Obtain Necessary Permits 
and Certifications (In 
Conjunction with Town Staff)

1 LS 1,200.00$                1,200.00$               Permit Acquisition (No Town Fees) / Includes Johnstown Contractor License Application Fees

B.5 16

Prepare a “Construction 
Safety and Phasing Plan” 
(CSPP) – Including Traffic 
Control 1 LS 8,250.00$                8,250.00$               

B.6 17

Coordinate with Utility, 
Agency and Service 
Providers 1 LS 450.00$                    450.00$                   

B.7 18 Removal/Demolition Existing 
Focal Wall (G2)

1 LS 9,424.80$                9,424.80$               If We Are Able to Only Demo A Section of This Wall and Reskin - A Lot of Money Could Be Saved Here

B.8 19
Survey and Stake Sign
Installation Locations 1 LS -$                            -$                           

Incluced in Other Sections Pricing (Site Visit / Technical Survey)

B.9 20

Coordinate/Contract with
Local-Area Contract 
Suppliers (Materials and 
Services) 1 LS 78,457.14$             78,457.14$            

 Masonry Work / Base Structures
If We Are Able to Only Demo A Section of This Wall and Reskin - A Lot of Money Could Be Saved Here 

B.10 21 Signage Support Footings & 
Electrical Connections

1 LS 41,403.62$             41,403.62$            

Hydro Digging / Foundations / Setting Poles / Electrical Connections:
(Foundation Work is Priced Based on the Following Assumptions)
          - Full Access w/ Ad Light Group Crane or Vehicle
          - Normal Soil Conditions (No Rock, Sand, Water, etc.)
          - Sign Location is Level and To Grade
          - Outside Temp is Over 40 Degrees and There is no Severe Weather
          - Does Not Include Landscaping

B.11 22

Signage Installation, 
Complete, Columnar 
Gateway (G1) 1 EA 4,692.60$                4,692.60$               

Mobilization and Installation on Site

B.12 23

Signage Installation, 
Complete, Curved Corner 
Gateway (G2) 1 EA 10,107.90$             10,107.90$            

Mobilization and Installation on Site

B.13 24

Signage Installation, 
Complete, Sculptural “J” 
Gateway (G2) 1 EA 2,803.68$                2,803.68$               

Mobilization and Installation on Site

B.14 25

Signage Installation, 
Complete, Pedestrian Kiosk 
(P2) 1 EA 2,336.40$                2,336.40$               

Mobilization and Installation on Site

B.15 26

Conduct Project Inspections, 
Punchlist Items, and Project 
Closeout 1 LS 1,150.00$                1,150.00$               

B.16 27
Prepare Sign Repair/
Maintenance Plan for Town 1 LS 750.00$                    750.00$                   

Project Management

TBD 28 Produce Sign Samples of 
Substrates / Colors

1 LS 1,353.66$                1,353.66$               
 (3) of each Substrate; Prepped / Painted - Provided in 12" x 12" Pieces
.080" Aluminum, Perforated Aluminum, 1/8" Aluminum; Final Materials TBD
Draft Sample of Segment of Map Insert Scaled to Size 

TBD 29 Performance Bond Fees 1 LS
21,863.82$             21,863.82$            

 5% of Total Contracted Amount 

188,824.18$           188,824.18$         

459,140.29$           459,140.29$         

A.3 1 LS

TASK A + TASK B TOTALS

TASK A TOTALS

TASK B TOTALS

3

Fabricator Name

Bid Tab/Bid Analysis Spreadsheet

Downtown Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan - Phase 1

97

Item #7.



PROPOSAL
220345-01

Date:
Expires:

Drawing Numbers:

06/15/2023
07/15/2023

Project: Town of Johnstown - Wayfinding
Project (Phase 1)
450 S. Parish Ave.
Johnstown, CO 80534

Client: Town of Johnstown
450 S. Parish Ave.
Johnstown, CO 80534

Contact: Kristen Cypher 720-962-3214 kristin.cypher@mbakerintl.com

Salesperson: Crystal Hodges Buyer____________Seller____________

Page 1 of 3
www.squarecoil.com

We are pleased to offer this proposal for the following services at the above location.

Project Description: Item Total:
1.     Manufacture the Following: ROM until Shop Drawings are Executed

     A.     One (1) SF Columnar Gateway - G1
 

$89,300.77

     B.     One (1) SF Curved Corner Gateway - G2
 

$85,390.72

     C.     One (1) 3D Sculptural "J" Gateway - G2
 

$45,361.68

     D.     One (1) DF Pedestrian Kiosk - P2
 

$26,487.94

2.     Technical Site Survey / Mark Sign Locations
 

$1,330.56

3.     Utility Locates / Coordination
 

$450.00

4.     Design / Shop Drawings / Project Management / Install Coordination
          - Prepare Manufacturing Report Specs 
          - Prepare Final Record Documents / Quality Control Plan
          - Prepare Warranty Plan
 

$22,675.00

5.     Stamped Engineered Drawings (All 4 Signs)
 

$5,100.00

6.     Permit Acquisition (Town Project; No Fees)
          - Requires Town Contractors License $100 Fee (Included)
 

$1,200.00

7.     Demolition / Disposal of Existing Focal Wall - G2
 

$9,424.80

8.     Hydro Digging / Foundations / Setting Poles of the Above $25,878.62

98

Item #7.



PROPOSAL
220345-01

Date:
Expires:

Drawing Numbers:

06/15/2023
07/15/2023

Project: Town of Johnstown - Wayfinding
Project (Phase 1)
450 S. Parish Ave.
Johnstown, CO 80534

Client: Town of Johnstown
450 S. Parish Ave.
Johnstown, CO 80534

Contact: Kristen Cypher 720-962-3214 kristin.cypher@mbakerintl.com

Salesperson: Crystal Hodges Buyer____________Seller____________

Page 2 of 3
www.squarecoil.com

 
9.     Masonry / Base Structures for the Above
 

$78,457.14

10.     Traffic Control / Electrical Allowance
 

$23,775.00

11.     Installation / Mobilization of the Above
 

$19,940.58

12.     Final Inspection / Punchlist Walk
          - Include Future Sign Repair and Maintenance Plan
 

$1,150.00

13.     Sign Samples
          - (3) of Each Substrate Required; Prepped / Painted
          - Provide 12" x 12" Draft Sample of Segment of Map Insert
 

$1,353.66

14.     Bid Bond Fees
          - 5% of the Total Contracted Value $437,276.47
 

$21,863.82

Deposit Rate: 50%
Deposit: $229,570.15

Subtotal: $459,140.29

 Total: $459,140.29

Notes: Prices are based on available information given at the time and are subject to change.
- This budgetary proposal is NOT intended for final pricing.  It is meant to generate a rough budget based on
assumptions of build types from client provided designs.
- All signage will require final estimates after design approval & stamped engineering to generate firm costs.
- Pricing will change based on quantities, design, dimensions, and materials used.
- Pricing is subject to 7.5% escalation fee if signage is not built within 12 months of the contract agreement.
Escalation fee assessed to both fabrication and installation.

99

Item #7.



PROPOSAL
220345-01

Date:
Expires:

Drawing Numbers:

06/15/2023
07/15/2023

Project: Town of Johnstown - Wayfinding
Project (Phase 1)
450 S. Parish Ave.
Johnstown, CO 80534

Client: Town of Johnstown
450 S. Parish Ave.
Johnstown, CO 80534

Contact: Kristen Cypher 720-962-3214 kristin.cypher@mbakerintl.com

 
Salesperson: Crystal Hodges
 
Buyer's Acceptance Title Date
 
Seller's Acceptance Title Date

Page 3 of 3
www.squarecoil.com

Warranty: The product furnished is warranted to be free from defects in material and workmanship for a
period of 12 months from the date of substantial completion

Terms: Progress Billing TBD

Credit Card Payments: All credit card payments are subject to a 3% fee
 

100

Item #7.



101

Item #7.



102

Item #7.



103

Item #7.



104

Item #7.



105

Item #7.



106

Item #7.



107

Item #7.



108

Item #7.



109

Item #7.



110

Item #7.



111

Item #7.



112

Item #7.



113

Item #7.



114

Item #7.



115

Item #7.



116

Item #7.



117

Item #7.



118

Item #7.



119

Item #7.



120

Item #7.



121

Item #7.



122

Item #7.



123

Item #7.



15

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

BIDDER’S QUALIFICATIONS AND DATA

The signatory of this Statement guarantees the truth and accuracy of all statements and of answers to all questions herein. All 

questions must be answered clearly and comprehensively. If necessary, separate sheets may be attached. The Bidder may 

submit additional information. Failure to complete and return this Statement may render a bid non-responsive.

Name of Bidding Firm:

Main Office Address:

Phone:

Fax #:

The Bidder is organized as a (corporation/partnership/other):

In the state of:

Bidder’s federal tax identification number (TIN):

General character of work performed by your organization and brief history of operations:

Does your firm have an officer, director, or agent or is also an officer or employee of the Town of Johnstown?

YES  NO 

Are there any Town of Johnstown agents of employees who own, directly or indirectly an interest in the bidder’s firm or any of 

its branches?

YES  NO 

Bonding Limit: $

Bonding Company:

Phone #:

Address:

The Town has a right to request financial statement(s) and other relevant information.  Are you willing to submit such information 

at the Town’s request?

YES  NO 

Submitted By:

Date:

K Team Capital LLC DBA Arapahoe Sign Arts
1135 W Mississippi Ave, Denver, CO, 80223 
303-937-1915
N/A

Other (LLC)
Colorado

47-2510479

Arapahoe Sign Arts is an Architectural sign company that specializes in Turn-key Exterior Wayfinding Signage Packages.
ASA has been in business since 1995 and has a "Is it Safe" model that allows us to prioritize safety, quality, schedule, and/or cost.
Our primary focus is public safety, protection of client assets and image, outstanding customer service and
fulfillment of our design build services

For more information, reference Section a.i.) in ASA Proposal-01

$3,000,000
Liberty Mutual Surety
206-473-6210
PO Box 34526 Seattle, WA 98124

Kevin Franke
05/01/2023

124

Item #7.



16 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

(Person Submitting Bid)

QUALIFICATIONS

How many years have you been in business under your present firm or trade name?

Under other names?

Have you or your organization, or any office or partner thereof, failed to complete a contract?

YES  NO 

Within the last five years, has your organization been assessed liquidated damages for failing to complete a contract within the 

time specified?

YES  NO 

Has your organization been assessed any penalties for non-compliance violations of the Federal or State Labor laws and/or 

regulations within the last five years?

YES  NO 

Does your organization have any outstanding judgments, demands, or liens resulting from violating State Labor laws, Colorado 

Revised Statutes, Civil or Criminal decisions?

YES  NO 

Have there been any suits, liens, or surety claims against you or your organization over the past five years for non-payment of 

sums due subcontractors or suppliers for work completed?

YES  NO 

Has your organization been cited for violations of OSHA standards and requirements within the past five years?

YES  NO 

Is either the Bidder or its principals presently debarred, suspended, proposed for disbarment, declared ineligible, or 

voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any department or agency?

YES  NO 

Have you ever been debarred or suspended by a government from consideration for the award of contracts?

YES  NO 

Please explain all questions answered “yes” in the section above on a separate sheet of paper. Include where and why, if 

applicable. Note that your answers do not necessarily disqualify your bid. For example, it is not uncommon for contractors of 

large projects to be charged liquidated damages in certain cases.

28 Years

125

Item #7.



17

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

FIRM BACKGROUND AND EXPERIENCE

Total number of employees:

Total number of licensed professionals:

Proposed Superintendent:

Title:

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

Principals

List directors, officers, owners, managerial employees, or partners, and identify the ownership interest of each:

Experience

List the experience of the principal members of your organization. If preferred, resumes may be submitted in lieu of form entry

Name:

Title:

Background/Years of Experience: Spent 14 years working for large corporations around the world before getting into
the sign industry with the acquisition of Arapahoe Sign Arts (ASA). Starting with Ford Motor Company in supply chain
and operations management, his last assignment was Program Manager responsible for Sales & Marketing,
Engineering and Operations Planning for a new product design. Surrounded by a team of talented professionals,
Jimmy is free to focus on strategic direction of the company. Since the acquisition of ASA,
we acquired Altitude Custom Signs and have nearly doubled revenue by successfully completing larger
and more complex projects across a broader geography.

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

Name:    Paul Vanderspek
Title:        Operations General Manager
Background/Years of Experience:

Relevant degrees and/or certifications:

32

0

Kevin Franke

Art Director & Project Specialist
Bachelor of Science in Sustainable Product Design & Innovation

James Kunsman - 30.2 % Paul Vanderspek - 25.6%
No other members active in management and none share greater than 20%

James Kunsman
President

MBA from Purdue University in 1997

Paul has five years of General Management in the sign industry and during that time has
run the fabrication facility for Arapahoe Sign Arts and DH Wholesale Signs. In addition to running the operations for
ASA and DHW Paul teaches supply chain management at Colorado State University, which he has done for 16 years. 
Prior to entering the sign industry Paul worked in purchasing and distribution for Intel, HP, Agilent and TTI. 
Paul has substantial experience running large projects and brings that project management experience to Arapahoe Sign Arts  to 
efficiently manage large scale production efforts for Arapahoe’s clients.

MBA from Purdue University and an MS in Economics from the University
Iowa Two APICS certifications in Production and Inventory Management and Certified Supply Chain Professional

126

Item #7.



18 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Similar Projects

List three projects of similar scope and budget to this project that your organization has performed work on:

Project Name:

Cost:

Location:

Reference Name:

Phone:

Project Name:

Cost:

Location:

Reference Name:

Phone:

Project Name:

Cost:

Location:

Reference Name:

Phone:

Contract(s) on Hand

List projects your organization is undertaking that will be concurrent with the Town’s bid schedule. Include the anticipated 

completion date.

Project Name:

Schedule

Cost:

Location:

Subcontractor or Prime:

Completion Date:

Project Name:

Schedule

Cost:

Location:

Subcontractor or Prime:

Completion Date:

WSB > First National Bank of Omaha  Turn Over (10 Locations) Electrical, Concrete, Removal, Fab & Installation
$700,000

Norther Colorao, Souther WY, Western NE
Jim McDaniel

402-602-3209

UCH East View Medical Center

Wrapping up in Production, Mobilizing for install for a 6/30/23 completion
$403,722
Colorado Springs

Subcontractor

9/30/23

Riverdale Animal Shelter - Interior & Exterior Wayfinding & On-Building Signage
$211,000

Brighton, CO
Cat Townsend, Adams County
720-523-6304

ECI - Adams County Veterans Memorial
$70,000
Brighton, CO
Scott Hill

970.685.0945

Catamount - Prime West -- Claro Apartments
Phased out, Phase 1 installing 1st week of July, signs are all fabricated and ready for install

$111,000
Aurora, CO
Subcontractor
Early 2024

127

Item #7.



19

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

SUBCONTRACTORS AND RELATED DATA

For each Subcontractor to be utilized, please provide the following information (use additional sheets as necessary). Please 

indicate what percentage of the Work to be assigned.

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

Firm Name:

Town Business License #:

Address:

Proposed work and percentage of total work to be assigned:

Percentage (%):

JVA Engineering
TBD

213 Linden Street, Suite 200, Fort Collins, CO
Below Grade Stamped Engineering & "J" Internal Structure

1.6%

Scott's Masonry, Inc.
TBD

264 Hunters Cove Drive Mead, CO 80542
Brick / Masonry Work

11.1%

Total Concrete Services
TBD

4462 Hilltop Rd., Longmont, CO 80504

3%

Colorado Barricade

TBD
2295 S Lipan St, Denver, CO

4%

Conduct All Electric OR  MC Electrical
TBD

7352 Greenridge Road #A4       //         1833 S Owens St Lakewood, CO 80232
Electrical Services

Concrete & Excavation Services

Traffic Control

7.7%

128

Item #7.



20 Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

BID PROPOSAL

PROJECT: Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan - Phase 1

In compliance with the Invitation to Bid, and subject to all conditions thereof, the undersigned: [Select one]

[Enter name if corporation]

a corporation incorporated in the State of

OR

a partnership or limited partnership, registered in the State of

whose general partner(s) is/are:

[Enter name(s) of partner(s) if partnership]

OR

a sole proprietor, whose trade name is

[Enter if sole proprietor]

based in the Town/City of

State of

offers this Bid Proposal for the construction of all items listed at the prices shown on the following bid schedule.

(The attached bid schedule lists the various divisions of construction contemplated in the Plans and Specifications, together 

with an estimate of the units of each. With these units as the basis, extend each item, using the cost inserted in the unit column. 

Any total cost found inconsistent with the unit cost when the Bids are examined will be deemed in error and corrected to 

agree with the unit cost. Alternate Bids are optional).

The undersigned Bidder declares and stipulates that this Bid is made in good faith, without collusion or connection with any 

other person or persons bidding for the same Work, and that it is made subject to all the terms and conditions of the Invitation 

to Bid, Instructions for Bidders, Construction Contract, General Conditions, Special Conditions, the Technical Specifications, and 

the Plans pertaining to the Work to be done, all of which have examined by the undersigned.

Accompanying this Bid is a Bid Guarantee for 5% of the total Bid amount according to the Invitation to Bid and Instructions for 

Bidders.

(LLC) K Team Capital LLC, DBA Arapahoe Sign Arts
Colorado

129

Item #7.



21

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding
Phase 1 Bidding Resources

Advertisement Date:  05.26.2023
Bid Opening Date:  06.16.2023

Phase 1 Bidding Resources

The undersigned Bidder agrees to execute the Construction Contract, a Performance Bond and a Labor and Material Payment 

Bond within ten calendar days from the date when the written Notice of Award is delivered at the address given on this Bid 

Proposal. The Performance Bond and Labor and Material Payment Bond shall each be for the amount of the total of this Bid.

The name and address of the corporate surety through which the Bidder proposes to furnish the specified Bonds is as follows: 

[Enter name and address of surety]

The submission of the Bid constitutes an agreement, and it shall not be withdrawn after the Bid Opening for a period of thirty 

days.

All the various phases of work enumerated in the Contract with individual jobs and overhead, whether specifically mentioned 

or not, are included by implication or appurtenance in the Contract. The Contractor shall perform all the various phases of work 

under one of the items listed in the bid schedule, irrespective of whether it is named in the schedule.

Payment for the Work performed will be according to the bid schedule, subject to changes as provided in the Contract.

The undersigned Bidder hereby acknowledges receipt of addenda numbers       through       [Enter addenda numbers]

Initials

The undersigned, being familiar with the existing conditions on the project area affecting the cost of the Work, the Bidding 

Documents and the Contract Documents, and having verified the quantities and the availability of materials and labor, 

hereby proposes to furnish all supervision, labor, materials, machinery, tools, appurtenances, equipment, supplies, and 

services, including utility and transportation service required to construct and complete the Project listed above, according 

to the Contract, within the time specified, and at the prices stated below. These prices are to cover all expenses incurred in 

performing the Work required under the Contract of which this Bid is a part.

(The approximate quantities of Work to be completed in-place under the Contract are identified in the bid schedule and are 

for the purpose of comparing Bids. These quantities have been Town of Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan - Phase 

1 estimated and the quantities used are for the general information of the Bidder, representing the major items of the Work to 

be done. Minor details are not listed but shall be part of the complete Contract).

The undersigned agrees to hold firm the Bid for thirty days for the purpose of the Town reviewing the Bids and investigating 

the qualifications of the Bidders prior to award of Contract. Extensions of time may be made if mutually agreed upon.

The undersigned hereby authorizes and requests any person, firm or corporation to furnish any information requested by the 

Town of Johnstown in verification of the recitals in this statement.

Liberty Mutal Surety

PO Box 34526 Seattle, WA 98124

1 2

KF

130

Item #7.



131

Item #7.



Task # Pay Item # Description Quantity Unit Unit Value in $ Total Value in $

A.1 1
Town and Consultant 
Coordination 1 LS 1,500.00$            1,500.00$           

A.2 2

Prepare Sign 
Manufacturing Report 
Specifications (Electric 
and Non-Electric Signs) 1 LS 1,000.00$            1,000.00$           

A.3 3
Prepare Sign Shop 
Drawings 1 LS 4,800.00$            4,800.00$           

A.4 4

Prepare Final Record
Documents – Per Quality
Control Plan 1 LS 1,000.00$            1,000.00$           

A.5 5 Prepare Sign Costs 1 LS 2,000.00$            2,000.00$           

A.6 6
Prepare Warranty Plan for
Town 1 LS 1,500.00$            1,500.00$           

A.7 8

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Columnar 
Gateway (G1) 1 EA 89,628.00$          89,628.00$        

A.8 9

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Curved Corner 
Gateway (G2) 1 EA 156,755.00$        156,755.00$      

A.9 10

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Sculptural “J” 
Gateway (G2) 1 EA 81,096.00$          81,096.00$        

A.10 11

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Pedestrian 
Kiosk (P2) 1 EA 49,887.00$          49,887.00$        

389,166.00$        389,166.00$      

B.1 12
Town and Consultant 
Coordination 1 LS 1,500.00$            1,500.00$           

B.2 13

Site Visit (Confirm Sign
Locations, Utilities, Other
Installation Site Factors) 1 LS 4,000.00$            4,000.00$           

B.3 14
Prepare Construction Plan
Documents 1 LS 1,500.00$            1,500.00$           

B.4 15

Obtain Necessary Permits 
and Certifications (In 
Conjunction with Town 
Staff) 1 LS 500.00$               500.00$              

B.5 16

Prepare a “Construction 
Safety and Phasing Plan” 
(CSPP) – Including Traffic 
Control 1 LS 21,180.00$          21,180.00$        

B.6 17

Coordinate with Utility, 
Agency and Service 
Providers 1 LS 1,500.00$            1,500.00$           

B.7 18
Removal/Demolition 
Existing Signs 1 LS -$                     -$                    Factored into the Fab Cost

B.8 19
Survey and Stake Sign
Installation Locations 1 LS 3,000.00$            3,000.00$           

B.9 20

Coordinate/Contract with
Local-Area Contract 
Suppliers (Materials and 
Services) 1 LS 5,000.00$            5,000.00$           

B.10 21
Signage Support Footings 
& Electrical Connections 1 LS 63,590.00$          63,590.00$        Support Footers excavation, structure, etc. factored in the Fab Cost. This pricing reflects Electrical and Engineering

B.11 22

Signage Installation, 
Complete, Columnar 
Gateway (G1) 1 EA 6,840.00$            6,840.00$           

B.12 23

Signage Installation, 
Complete, Curved Corner 
Gateway (G2) 1 EA 9,440.00$            9,440.00$           

B.13 24

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Sculptural “J” 
Gateway (G2) 1 EA 5,310.00$            5,310.00$           

B.14 25

Signage Fabrication, 
Complete, Pedestrian 
Kiosk (P2) 1 EA 4,720.00$            4,720.00$           

B.15 26

Conduct Project 
Inspections, Punchlist 
Items, and Project 
Closeout 1 LS 1,300.00$            1,300.00$           

B.16 27

Prepare Sign Repair/
Maintenance Plan for 
Town 1 LS 1,500.00$            1,500.00$           

130,880.00$        130,880.00$      

520,046.00$        520,046.00$      

Downtown Johnstown Signage & Wayfinding Master Plan - Phase 1
Bid Tab/Bid Analysis Spreadsheet

Fabricator Name

TASK A + TASK B TOTALS

Task A:  Signage Fabrication

Task B:  Signage Installation

TASK A TOTALS

TASK B TOTALS

132

Item #7.



 
1135 West Mississippi Avenue, Denver. CO 80223.    Tel: 303 937 1915 

 
June 16, 2023 
 
Attn: Sarah Crosthwaite    Attn: Kristin Cypher  
Project Manager    Project Consultant 
 
 
Arapahoe Sign Arts (ASA) is pleased to provide this proposal for the Downtown Johnstown 
Wayfinding Signage - Phase 1  
 
Proposal Discussion 
 
This proposal is being presented in the following format: 
 

a. General Information about the Firm, company information & firm profile: 
i. History and Business Profile 

b. Firm’s Qualifications 
i. Relevant Projects of Similar Scope 
ii. Prime Proposal Contact  
iii.         Key Personnel Team Members  

c. Scope of Services 
       i.         Staffing Plan 
       ii.         Timeline & GANTT Chart 

      iii.          Budgets & Allowances 
       iv.          Construction Necessitated Changes 
       v.         Maintenance, QC, Service Plan, Value Engineering 
       vi.        Local Community Sourcing 
       vii.        Addendums 
 

d. Pricing 
 
 e. General Items 
      i.       Quality Assurance and Initiatives 
      ii.       Scheduling and Project Management 

133

Item #7.



      iii.       Cost Management 
      iv.       ASA General Warranty 
      v.        Other Discussions and Considerations 
      vi.       ASA Commitment 
 
a.) General Information about the Firm, Company Information & Firm Profile 
 
 

i.) History and Business Profile 
 
Arapahoe Sign Arts is a leading privately held, Denver based Architectural sign company that 
has been in business since 1995. The philosophy of ASA is clear and straightforward. Our 
primary focus for any project is public safety, protection of client assets and image, outstanding 
customer service, creativity, resourcefulness, and fulfillment of our design build services. We do 
this by translating technical specifications to fabricated products, but also by examining the 
concepts themselves on a deeper level to understand the true needs and desires of the client 
behind the requirements. ASA proudly staffs a deep network of craftsmen, signage designers, 
and construction professionals to execute work of broad and often dramatic scope.  
 
We are uniquely positioned to be a large enough fabricator to command priority with our 
suppliers and vendors and to marshal sufficient resources for all scopes of work. We continue 
to develop and improve corresponding project management systems to support this 
multidisciplinary model. 
 
In addition to these critical elements of our philosophy, we model our working methods on an 
“Is it Safe” concept. This allows us to continuously assess how our decisions impact Quality, 
Schedule, and/or Cost. All of these issues relate directly to a Customer Service-centered 
environment and successful, sustainable business relationships. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

134

Item #7.



B.) Firm’s Qualifications  
 i.) Relevant Projects of Similar Scope 
 
Riverdale Animal Shelter – Adams County 
Interior & Exterior Wayfinding, On-building signage & ADA Signage 
Turn-Key Design & Development, Fabrication, & Installation  
Completed: Spring 2022, Cost: ~$211k,  
Contact: Cat Townsend, ADCO, 720-523-6304, CTownsend@adcogov.org 

 
Western States Bank > First National Bank Change Over – FNBO 
(7) Loc. Change overs from WSB>FNBO and (3) WSB Removals, all to be installed in (1) weekend 
Technical Shop Drawings, Fabrication, & Installation 
Completed: November 2022, Cost ~696k 
Contact: Jim McDaniel, FNBO, 402-602-3209, jmcdaniel@fnni.com 

 

135

Item #7.

mailto:jmcdaniel@fnni.com


ECI – Adams County Verterans Memorial 
Monument ID & Decorative Ship Cabinets 
Technical Shop Drawings, Fabrication, Installation 
Completed: May, 2023, Cost ~70k 
Scott Hill, ECI Superintendent, 970.685.0945, Scott.hill@ecisite.net 

    

            
 
Colorado Air and Space Port 
Directional Wayfinding, Monument, On-Building ID SIgnage 
Technical Shop Drawings, Fabrication, & Below & Above Grade Concrete Installation 
Completed: 2019, Cost ~282K 

 

136

Item #7.

mailto:Scott.hill@ecisite.net


 ii.) Prime Proposal Contact 
 
Name: Kevin Franke 
Work Address: 1135 W Mississippi Ave, Denver, CO 
Cell Phone: 720-582-1157 
Office Phone: 303-937-1915 
Email: Kfranke@arapahoesignarts.com 
 
 iii.) Key Personnel Team Members 
 

Key Roles Name 
Executive Sponsor James Kunsman 

Project Director Kevin Franke 

Project Administration Melanie Rowen  

Operations General Manager  Paul Vanderspek 

Operation & CAD Manager Vincent Stensrud 

  

  

 
Kevin Franke – Art Director & Project Specialist  
Kevin has 5 years of experience with Arapahoe Sign Arts and is our primary account manager 
for turn-key fabrication & installation projects like the Mt. Crested Butte Signage & Wayfinding 
project. With a background in woodworking and industrial design, he has a deep understanding 
of how signs get built and is able to manage resource to get projects completed in a timely 
manner.  
 
Dave Richardson  – Production Project Manager  
Dave brings 15 years of sign fabrication experience to Arapahoe Sign Arts, serving as the 
production manager for cabinet fabrication.  Dave works closely with customers to understand 
design intent and creates fabrication plans to bring those projects to fruition.  Dave works 
closely with Arapahoe’s art team, the computer aided design and manufacturing teams, and the 
fabricators to efficiently move projects through production, with a focus on quality, safety, 
timeline, serviceability, and ease of installation.  Dave currently manages a team of six 
experienced fabricators in the cabinet shop to ensure successful completion of projects to the 
customer’s timelines.  
 
Vincent Stensrud – CAD & Letter Production Manager 
Vincent is in charge of Arapahoe’s computer aided design department (CAD) and manages four 
letter shop fabricators.  Vincent is skilled at customer relationship management, working 
closely with customers to bring even the most elaborate designs to life.  Vincent determines the 
build plan for each project and then designs the parts required to complete 
fabrication.  Vincent has twelve years of sign design and fabrication experience. 
 
 

137

Item #7.



Paul Vanderspek – Operations General Manager  
Paul has five years of General Management in the sign industry and during that time has run 
the fabrication facility for Arapahoe Sign Arts and DH Wholesale Signs.  Paul earned an MBA 
from Purdue University and an MS in Economics from the University of Iowa, and has two APICS 
certifications in Production and Inventory Management and Certified Supply Chain 
Professional.  In addition to running the operations for ASA and DHW Paul teaches supply chain 
management at Colorado State University, which he has done for 16 years.  Prior to entering 
the sign industry Paul worked in purchasing and distribution for Intel, HP, Agilent and TTI.  Paul 
has substantial experience running large projects and brings that project management 
experience to Arapahoe Sign Arts to efficiently manage large scale production efforts for 
Arapahoe’s clients. 
 
Jimmy Kunsman – President 
Jimmy earned an MBA from Purdue University in 1997 and spent 14 years working for large 
corporations around the world before getting into the sign industry with the acquisition of 
Arapahoe Sign Arts (ASA).  Starting with Ford Motor Company in supply chain and operations 
management, his last assignment was Program Manager responsible for Sales & Marketing, 
Engineering and Operations Planning for a new product design.  Surrounded by a team of 
talented professionals, Jimmy is free to focus on strategic direction of the company.  Since the 
acquisition of ASA, we acquired Altitude Custom Signs and have nearly doubled revenue by 
successfully completing larger and more complex projects across a broader geography. 
 
Melanie Rowen – Office Manager 
 
Melanie has 7 years of experience with Arapahoe Sign Arts.  Originally hired to manage the day 
to day functions of the front office including bookkeeping, accounts payable and accounts 
receivable management.  With a background in commercial lending Melanie became the 
contract administrator for ASA to include completion of AIA documents, and O&M documents 
for close-out.  During her time with ASA she has also worked as the safety coordinator. 
 
 
c.) Scope of Services  

 
i. Staffing Plan 

 
ASA will have a dedicated Project Manager to see this job from beginning to completion. They 
will also be the main point of contact for initial engagement and project kick offs. Kevin Franke 
will be the dedicated point of contact.  
 
ASA has a team of professionals with combined decades of signage experience and they all 
collaborate and work as a team and consult with each other along the way.  Jimmy Kunsman: 
President, Paul Vanderspek: Operations Manager, and Vincent Stenstrud: CAD & Letter 
Production manager, all highlighted above, are also key primary roles that support our staff 
throughout each jobs lifecycle.   

138

Item #7.



ii. Timeline & GANTT Chart 
 
ASA has prepared a GANTT chart outlining the work to be taken place over the next 5 

months to successfully execute this project in accordance with the requested Town of 
Johnstown schedule with the importance of getting the “J” sign installed first. Upon award, 
further breakdown of Gantt chart to be explored with the Town of Johnstown input. 

 
Please reference note above about “J”. It is imperative to the fabrication schedule that we get 
this drawn, engineered, and submitted to permits ASAP upon award announcement to stay on 
track. Fabrication will not be started until permits are approved unless the town is willing to 
take the risk that if the sign is not approved then costs will need to be recuperated. This 
schedule assumes the “J” permit approval on or before 7/10/23 in order to start fabrication.  
 

iii. Timeline and Budgets 
 
With the use of a detailed Gantt Chart, this project will stay on track and show all phases of 
deliverables and client review periods. Timelines can be adjusted based on client urgency and 
needs. ASA will provide weekly status reports to the Owner detailing progress. ASA understands 
the urgency of having the “J” sign installed first for the requested 9/4/23 date.   
 

139

Item #7.



iv. Construction Necessitated Changes 
 
There are times where the engineer will require a larger footer, more rebar and support. If 
engineer requires larger footer, pricing may be re-evaluated. Occasionally there may be 
restrictions with utility lines in the way and ASA will work with the Town of Johnstown for 
correct sign placement.  
 
Electrical pricing is an allowance and upon award, pricing will need to be re-evaluated based on 
existing power specifications provided by the city.  
 

- Pricing assumes 65’ linear foot distance to the nearest power source and 10’ within 
the structure that houses the power source. Additional length can be estimated at 
$50/LF. 

- Pricing includes Boring, Trenching, Excavation to get the power to the sign location. 
- Pricing includes (1) 120v, 20a connection and panel circuit breaker with PVC conduit 

stubbed at ea. location and primary power final hookups. Pricing also includes (1) 
weatherproof junction box, and a flexible 4’ conduit whip, and a switch for 
connection to each sign.  

- Pricing assumes we are able to utilize gear in the existing structure and that no new 
panel boards are needed at the power source.  

 
Pricing for concrete slab re-work is an allowance and depending on how much electrical 
trenching is needed, pricing will be evaluated.  
 
Currently the curved gateway is priced as removing the existing brick structure. After consulting 
with the Mason in the field, we have determined that even if the brick that is currently layed is 
still available for purchase, the weathered color of the existing bricks and grout lines will not 
look good with the additional brick work, simply put, it will look like a patch job. We have priced 
this with the assumption of building an entirely new brick wall. 
 
If large boulders are in the way and explosives, jackhammers, drill rig etc. are needed, there 
may be a price increase.  
 
During the shop drawing process, we will determine side, plan, and more detailed views of our 
fabrication approach based on this design intent. We will need to re-evaluate pricing should 
there be manufacturability or tolerance issues.  

For example, the engineer may need us to add additional internal structure than 
originally estimated and the “J” stroke would need to be increased in order to allow 
plenty of room for framework structure, access, LEDs, steel support, etc.  

 
Should these signs be over budget, ASA is happy to work with Michael Baker and the Town of 
Johnstown to Value Engineer different aspects of these signs to make them more affordable 
while keeping true to the original design intent.  
 

140

Item #7.



v.) Maintenance, QC, Service Plan 
 
Arapahoe Sign Arts has established relationships with multiple government municipalities when 
it comes to sign maintenance and service. Examples: 
 

- City of Aspen – Bus Transit 
o On-going & On-Call Maintenance when signs are damaged. Breakaway poles 

utilized and signs designed for ease of panel replacement 
- City of Thornton – Project ID Boards 

o 5 Year Contract, Refurbish existing signs, fabricate and install new signs 
- Town of Mountain Village 

o Reoccurring orders to update sign panels with new branding or verbiage. 
- Adams County 

o ASA is the go-to sign fabricator and installation company for all ADCO repairs, 
maintenance, and updates around their various jobsites in Adams County 

 
ASA has very good file management and captures accurate “as-built” documents in their art 
department. CAD is programmed that faces can be replaced and updated with ease. We plan on 
fabricating the signs with C/S screws to remove face panels when need to be updated or 
refurbished. 
 
ASA is familiar with working with towns/cities around Colorado and is actively managing on-call 
maintenance with the projects mentioned above. Most of these projects there is no contract. 
The project contacts, like City of Aspen, have been very pleased with ASA’s services and 
continue to call on ASA year over year to keep the signs refreshed, updated, accurate, and 
looking pristine.  
 
With utilizing local subcontractors, on-call electrical services will be quick and easy. In addition, 
supporting local business is beneficial to the Town of Johnstown community.  
 

vi.) Local Community Sourcing 
 
ASA plans on utilizing local subcontractors to complete this work. Although Arapahoe Sign Arts 
headquarter branch is located in Denver, CO, our wholesale manufacturing branch is located in 
Fort Collins. We have a fabricator that lives in the Town of Johnstown, named Gerry.  
 
Scotts Masonry is located in Weld County, Conduct All Electric is located 10 miles north in 
Windsor, and Total Concrete Services owner, Robin, lives in Johnstown.  
 
 

vii.) Addendums 
 

ASA Acknowledges Addendum 1, & 2 
 

141

Item #7.



d.i.) Pricing 
 
Please reference “20220616 231152 - ASA Bid Tab” for cost breakdown.  
 
e.) General Items 
 

i. Quality Assurance and Initiatives  

Beginning with site surveys and scope definition, programming and message schedule 
development, through submittals, installation and closeout, ASA performs comprehensive 
quality checks throughout the process to ensure our clients receive products of quality above 
industry standards. Our rigid quality control processes allow ASA to warrant their products 
longer than the majority of sign companies. 

ii. Scheduling and Project Management 

Honoring time commitments is as important to ASA as it is to our clients.  Utilization of formal 
project management tools allows us to recognize task start dates and proactively identify and 
remove constraints across the entire value chain.  Close collaboration with general contractors 
and other specialty trades helps keep the entire project on track. 

iii. Cost Management 

When thinking about cost, ASA is all about total cost of ownership.  Understanding client needs 
and wants helps to identify true value engineering opportunities so that no costs are incurred 
other than those truly needed for a successful outcome. 

iv. ASA General Warranty & Liability: 

Workmanship: 1 year (damage by nature and others excluded) 
LED’s, power supplies, and other 3rd party equipment: Per Manufacturer warranty, labor may 
be additional 
 
Arapahoe Sign Arts, hereby states, that it shall not be held responsible and assumes no liability 
for any incidents or injuries resulting from individuals climbing on the “J” sign. The sign will be 
engineered and designed specifically for sitting on the bottom portion of the “J” and any 
activities involving climbing on the top are strictly prohibited. Ineracting with the sign in any 
mannor other than sitting is done so at one’s own risk.  
 

v. Other Discussions and Considerations: 
 
Arapahoe Sign Arts is prepared to provide to the Owner additional qualifications including 
financial history, previous experience, commitments on the books, and other information if 
required. Additional examples and references are available upon request. 
 

142

Item #7.



We at ASA view our work as an opportunity to create value for our clients. Our job is to provide 
the added value and excellence you expect. 
 

vi. ASA Commitment 
 
We understand that a project like this requires an understanding of, and responsiveness to, the 
requirements of multiple goals, motives, priorities and timelines. It is work that, by nature, 
demands communication on all levels, respect for the process of many disciplines, and 
competence under pressure. We hope our ability to establish and maintain effective working 
relationships with multidisciplinary teams will benefit this process.  
ASA remains available to address questions and comments as they relate to this proposal at 
your convenience. We thank you kindly for the opportunity to participate in this important 
project and we look forward to working with you.  
 
Best Regards,  
 

 
 
Kevin Franke 
Art Director & Project Specialist  
Arapahoe Sign Arts 
C: 720-582-1157 

143

Item #7.



144

Item #7.



145

Item #7.



Town of Johnstown
johnstown.colorado.gov| 970-587-4664

Town of Johnstown

Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage: Phase 1

Ad Light Group Bid

Signage Options

146

Item #7.



Town of Johnstown
johnstown.colorado.gov| 970-587-4664

RFP Phase 1 Signs

147

Item #7.



Town of Johnstown
johnstown.colorado.gov| 970-587-4664

Option 1: Signage Types

Bid Price: $404,496.17

148

Item #7.



Town of Johnstown
johnstown.colorado.gov| 970-587-4664

Option 2: Signage Types

Bid Price: $296,896.20

149

Item #7.



Town of Johnstown
johnstown.colorado.gov| 970-587-4664

Option 3: Signage Types

Bid Price: $283,527.02

150

Item #7.



Town of Johnstown
johnstown.colorado.gov| 970-587-4664

Thank you

151

Item #7.



 

 

 

 

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 

AGENDA DATE:  July 3, 2023 

 

SUBJECT: Town of Johnstown YMCA Recreation Center Update - Natatorium 

 

ACTION PROPOSED:  Discussion Purposes Only    

 

PRESENTED BY:  Matt LeCerf, Town Manager  

 

    

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION: 

 

In January 2023, the Town was notified by representatives of the YMCA regarding operational issues in the 

natatorium. Specifically, the Pool Dehumidification Unit (PDU) was inoperable and had been since September 

2022. The purpose of the PDU is to help maintain a consistent relative humidity and temperature range inside the 

natatorium. The unit evidently was not operating properly or at all and was causing corrosion in various elements 

of the PDU and inside the natatorium.  

 

In an effort to identify how this occurred, the Town contacted its insurance carrier and also engaged with RD3, a 

forensic mechanical engineer. This occurred on February 10, 2023. Concurrently, replacement parts had been 

ordered through Trane, which were continually delayed. Council was notified via email on February 26, 2023 

regarding this issue, but at the time Staff did not have much information given the exact scope of the issue, 

damage caused, and what exactly needed to be fixed on the PDU to make it operational again. The unit was 

finally repaired on June 14, 2023. Unfortunately, on June 20, 2023 the exhaust fan failed and the unit was 

restarted and operational on June 21, 2023. At this time, the unit has been operational from this date.  

 

The Town also took additional steps necessary to remediate some of the damage that has been caused inside the 

natatorium by receiving professional bids for the service. The Town received two proposals from three contractors 

that attended a pre-bid meeting on April 11, 2023. The submittals that were ultimately received by the Town on 

April 30, 2023 are as shown below. They each provided the cost for services to be performed either while the 

facility was open or an alternative work schedule that would be conducted while the facility was closed for the 

evening: 

 

Contractor Performance of Work While 

Facility is Open 

Performance of Work After 

Hours 

All Dry Restoration $117,861.00 $176,800.00 

All Phase Restoration $299,767.00 $450,000.00 

 

152

Item #8.



 

The Community That Cares 
Johnstown.colorado.gov 

P: 970.587.4664 | 450 S. Parish Ave, Johnstown CO | F: 970.587.0141 

Below is a listing of the known costs that are going to be attributable to getting the facility back up and fully 

operational. There may be additional costs, but we do not know what or when those may be assessed.  

 

Contractor Estimated Cost 

RD3 Mechanical Engineers $18,130.00 

Century Environmental Hygiene, LLC $5,565.00 

Trane $30,022.00 

Vectra Mechanical $3,700.00 

Low Bid Proposal $117,861.00 - $176,800.00 

TOTAL ESTIMATE TO DATE $175,278.00 - $234,217.00 

 

The Town’s insurance carrier has denied our request for coverage. Currently, RD3 continues to try and identify 

the key component that caused the issue on the PDU which subsequently had a cascading effect on it and other 

portions of the natatorium. Some of the cascading effects include corrosion of the PDU, impact to the walls of the 

facility, and the existence of mold in areas of the walls of the facility. It is important to note that as part of testing 

the mold levels were normal, meaning not higher than outside levels. 

 

Currently, this is informational/discussion purposes only, but more importantly to keep Council abreast as to 

where we currently are on this issue. Furthermore, a budget amendment will need to be accommodated at the end 

of this fiscal year based on the costs incurred. These costs are the responsibility of the Town based on our current 

operations and maintenance agreement with the NoCo YMCA. 

 

Considering the PDU has been operational consistently at this time, it may be appropriate to push forward with 

the restoration/construction component of the facility. Staff would recommend at a minimum, closing the pool 

during this time period.  

 

I am happy to answer any additional questions or get information to questions you may have that I don’t have 

answers to currently. 

 

Reviewed and Approved for Presentation, 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Town Manager 

153

Item #8.

http://www.townofjohnstown.com/


154

Item #9.



155

Item #9.



156

Item #9.



157

Item #9.



158

Item #9.



159

Item #9.



160

Item #9.



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Building Permit Statistics 
MAY 2023 

 

Single Family Residential Commercial  
Current Month: 13      Issued ytd: 121 *New Building Issued ytd  9 

 
 Duplex   3-plex   4-plex   5-plex              Apartment Bldgs                      3 
                      1           7          3                                  

 
Other Residential    Other Commercial  
    (basements/alterations/additions)  * (tenant finish/alterations/additions) 

Issued ytd 93  Issued ytd 15 
 

Fees collected at permit issuance      Residential YTD              Commercial YTD 
Construction Valuation ($37,532,721) ($47,378,946) 
Building permit fees $329,834 $294,338 
F&F or F&F Credit $0 $0 
Paving $0 $0 
Water Upgrade $0 $0 
Water & Sewer Reimbursement $0 $0 
Raw Water Development Fee $479,187 $128,493 
Water Meter $55,950 $6,335 
Water Tap $700,116 $188,603 
Sewer Tap $633,003 $88,403 
Regional Sewer Development fees                $579,500                            $275,500 
Sewer Inspection Fee $12,700 $2,500 
Park $60,500 $4,000 
Use Tax $626,310 $692,632  
Larimer Use Tax $23,466 $28,582 
Open Space Impact Fee $144,365 $282,240 
Library Impact Fee $138,789 $271,404 
Public Facilities Impact Fee $192,128 $480,674 
Police Facilities Impact Fee $87,461 $250,917 
Transportation Facilities Impact Fee $333,767 $1,248,952 
402 Interchange Fee $7,924 $3,100 
High Plains Blvd Reimbursement Fee $23,805 $0 
School District Fee ($105,698) N/A 
 
TOTAL FEES (YTD) $4,465,918 $4,248,673

161

Item #9.



 

 

Building permits issued for individual dwelling units - 1991 to (date) 

        

Single family, duplex, 3-plex, 4-plex, 5-plex  

Year Issued Month  avg   Year 
 

Issued Month avg  

*1961 - 90 165 0.0   2016 132 11.00  

1991 2 0.17   2017 140 11.67  

1992 5 0.42   2018 126 10.50  

1993 7 0.75   2019 87 7.25  

1994 47 3.92   2020 108 9.75  

1995 106 8.83   2021 184 15.33  

1996 145 12.00  2022 446 37.16  

1997 143 11.92   2023 121 24.20  

1998 175 14..58       

1999 145 12.08   TOTAL 5676   

2000 134 11.92       

2001 152 12.67       

2002 262 21.92       

2003 284 24.17       

2004 331 27.67       

2005 375 31.33       

2006 180 15.75       

2007 160 133.42       

2008 97 8.00       

2009 89 7.42       

2010 124 10.33       

2011 184 15.34          

2012 310 25.84        

2013 378 31.50                 

2014 272 22.67       

2015 162 13.50      

        

        

            

        

        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

162

Item #9.


	Top
	Item #2.	June 19, 2023 Meeting Minutes
	6-19-2023 meeting minutes

	Item #3.	June 2023 List of Bills
	June 2023 LOB

	Item #4.	Fractional Water Share
	TAC - Fractional Water Sale - 1120 5th Street
	1120 5th Street

	Item #5.	Resolution 2023-28 Amending the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget
	TAC Budget Resolution 2022 Budget Amendment 2022-28 (1)MM
	Res 2023-28 2022 Budget Amendment MM

	Item #6.	Manager Report
	Town Report 07-03-2023 (1) MM

	Item #7.	Award RFP for Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage: Phase 1
	TAC 070323 V2
	Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Bidding Resources (RFP)
	Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage Designs (all phases)
	Contractor Services Agreement Ad Light Group DRAFT V3
	Ad Light Group RFP Submittal
	DaVince Sign RFP Submittal
	Arapahoe Signs Arts RFP Submittal
	Downtown Johnstown Wayfinding Signage Design - Phase 1 Options

	Item #8.	Town of Johnstown YMCA Recreation Center Update - Natatorium
	TAC Agenda Item - YMCA

	Item #9.	Informational Items
	Upstate Letter
	LFRA Ballot Measure
	Council YTD Bldg Report Stats - May 2023

	Bottom

